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Blackwell Science (Overseas Holdings) Limited

Strategic Report for the Year Ended 30 April 2021

The directors present their report for the year ende.d 30 April 2021.

Fair review of the business
The principal activity of the Company is that of a holding company.

The Company holds direct investments in one holding and 8 publishing companies all of which are
internationally based. The publishing companies trade in the provision of knowledge and knowledge-enabled
services in areas of research, professional practice and education, in the main providing digital and print books
and journals.

Results and KPls

The results for Blackwell Science (Overseas Holdings) Limited are set out on page 11. The Company made a
profit of £15.9m verses £9.5m in the prior year. The increase in profit resulted from higher dividends received
from group undertakings.

Dividends received throughout the year totalled £15.9m, £1.1m on the 27th October 2020 from Wiley
Publishing Japan, £1.1m on 27th October 2020 from John Wiley & Sons A/S, £5.4m on 29th October 2020 from
Wiley Publishing Australia and £8.3m on 26th April 2021 from Wiley Publishing Australia (2020: £8.7m).

Cash dividends were paid to the parent company totalling £15.9m; £7.6m on 29th October 2020 and £8.3m on
26th April 2021 (2020: £16.3m).

The year’s activity resulted in no significant movement in the net assets of the Company of £42.8m (FY20:
£42.8m).

Principal risks and uncertainties

Investments

The main risk facing the Company is that its investments do not perform well. This could subsequently impact
the investment value held with impairment becoming necessary. At this time, the investment companies are
performing to expectation and the directors believe there are no impairment indicators.
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Blackwell Science (Overseas Holdings) Limited

Strategic Report for the Year Ended 30 April 2021 (continued)

BREXIT implications for the Wiley group

On January 31, 2020, the UK exited the European Union (referred to as Brexit). There followed an
implementation period, during which EU law continued to apply in the UK and the UK maintained its EU single
market access rights and EU customs union membership. The implementation period expired December 31,
2020. Consequently, the UK has become a third country vis-a-vis the EU, without access to the single market or
membership of the E.U. customs union.

The UK and the EU have signed an EU-UK Trade and Cooperation Agreement, or TCA, which became
provisionally applicable on January 1, 2021 and will become formally applicable once ratified by both the UK
and the EU. The EU requested an extension and the UK agreed to postpone the provisional application to April
30, 2021. On April 28, 2021, Parliament formally approved the TCA. This agreement provides details on how
some aspects of the UK and EU’s relationship will operate going forward however there are still many
uncertainties and how the TCA will take effect in practice is still largely unknown. This lack of clarity on future
UK laws and regulations and their interaction with the EU laws and regulations may negatively impact foreign
direct investment in the UK, increase costs, depress economic activity and restrict access to capital.

The uncertainty concerning the UK’s legal, political and economic relationship with the EU after Brexit may be
a source of instability in the international markets, create significant currency fluctuations, and/or otherwise
adversely affect trading agreements or similar cross-border co-operation arrangements {(whether economic,
tax, fiscal, legal, regulatory, or otherwise) beyond the date of Brexit.

Additional Brexit-related impacts on our business could include potential inventory shortages in the UK,
increased regulatory burdens and costs to comply with UK-specific regulations and higher transportation costs
for our products coming into and out of the UK. Any of these effects, among others, could materially and
adversely affect our business and consolidated financial position and results of operations.
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Blackwell Science (Overseas Holdings) Limited

Strategic Report for the Year Ended 30 April 2021 (continued)

Going concern

Notwithstanding net current liabilities of £0.2m and a profit for the year of £15.9m, the directors have
undertaken a going concern review for the entity and have prepared the financial statements on a going
concern basis which the directors consider to be appropriate for the following reasons.

The Company is dependent on John Wiley & Sons Inc. (‘the Parent’) in providing ongoing financial support. The
Parent has indicated its intention to continue to make funds available as are needed by the Company for the
period of the 12 months from signing of the financial statements. The directors have therefore assessed the
parent’s, ability to provide support for a period of 12 months from the date of approval of these financial
statements and have assessed the cashflow forecasts of the Parent for the period which indicate that, taking
into account severe but plausible downsides including the impact of COVID-19, the Parent company will have
sufficient funds, through its cash in hand and undrawn revolving credit facilities to support Blackwell Science
(Overseas Holdings) Limited. Therefore, they are satisfied the parent has the ability, intent and economic
rationale to continue to support the Company.

Based on the above assessment the directors are confident that with this support the Company will be able to
meet its liabilities as they fall due. As with any company placing reliance on other group entities for financial
support, the directors acknowledge that there can be no certainty that this support will continue although, at
the date of approval of these financial statements, they have no reason to believe that it will not do so.

Consequently, the directors are confident that the Company will have sufficient funds to continue to meet its
liabilities as they fall due for at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements and
therefore have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.

Future

The publishing companies held as investments are transforming part of their business fram a traditional
publishing model to being providers of content-enabled solutions with a focus on digital products and services.
Opportunities to develop new business models and enhancements on efficiency within the organisational
structures are actively being implemented and will continue to be explored.

In light of the recent spread of novel coronavirus, Wiley’s Global Crisis Management Team continues to
monitor the situation closely for all group companies and has established plans worldwide to react as the
situation develops. To date the plans implemented have focused on colleague care and there has been no
immediate financial impact in relation to our business activities. The Company’s subsidiaries are successfully
working remotely and have seen no significant reduction in productivity. The management team continue to
monitor the situation closely.

Approved by the Board on 11 October 2021 and signed on its behalf by:

Rosamund Johnson
Director
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Blackwell Science (Overseas Holdings) Limited

Directors' Report for the Year Ended 30 April 2021

The directors present their report and the financial statements for the year ended 30 April 2021.

Directors' of the company
The directors, who held office during the year, were as follows:

Ursula D'Arcy
Rosamund Johnson
Philip Jeffrey Mac Kisray

John Anthony Kritzmacher

Principal activity
The principal activity of the Company is that of a holding company.

Dividends
Dividends of £15.9m were paid during the year (2020: £75.3m).

Political and charitable donations
There were no contributions made to charities or political parties during the year (2020: nil).

Important non adjusting events after the financial period
On 29 July 2021, the Company received a dividend of £5.3m from JWS Australia. These funds were paid by way
of a dividend from the Company to Wiley Heyden Limited totalling £5.3m on 30 July 2021.

On 29th September 2021, the Company received a dividend of £1.03m from John Wiley & Sons A/S, Denmark.

Disclosure of information to the auditors

Each director has taken steps in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to
establish that the Company's auditor is aware of that information. The directors confirm that there is no
relevant information that they know of and of which they know the auditor is unaware.

Reappointment of auditors

The auditors, James Cowper Kreston, replaced KPMG as auditors on 27 August 2021 and will be proposed for
reappointment in accordance with section 485 of the Companies Act 2006

Approved by the Board on 11 October 2021 and signed on its behalf by:

Rosamund Johnson
Director
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Blackwell Science (Overseas Holdings) Limited

Statement of Directors' Responsibilities

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Accounting
Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 101 'Reduced Disclosure
Framework' ('FRS 101'). Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless
they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or
loss of the Company for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

e select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently;
* make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

e state whether FRS 101 has been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in
the financial statements; and

s prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
Company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They
‘are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
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Blackwell Science (Overseas Holdings) Limited

Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of Blackwell Science (Overseas Holdings)
‘ Limited

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Blackwell Science (Overseas Holdings) Limited (the '‘Company') for
the year ended 30 April 2021, which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Balance Sheet,
the Statement of Changes in Equity and the related notes, including a summary of significant accounting
policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and
United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘The Financial Reporting
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’ (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice).

In our opinion the financial statements:

« give a true and fair view of the state of the Company's affairs as at 30 April 2021 and of its result for the year
then ended;

¢ have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice;
and

* Have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the
audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the United Kingdom,
including the Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfiled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as
a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for
issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect to going concern are described in the
relevant sections of this report.
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Blackwell Science (Overseas Holdings) Limited

Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of Blackwell Science (Overseas Holdings)
Limited (continued)

Other information

The Directors responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Annual Report, other than the financial statements and our Auditor’s Report thereon. Our opinion on
the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly
stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we
identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine
whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other
information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

* In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: the information given in the
Directors' Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the
financial statements; and

» The Directors' Report has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Company and its environment obtained in the course of
the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Directors' Report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

» adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

» the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

e certain disclosures of Directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or

* we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

» the Directors were not entitled to prepare the financial statements in accordance with the small companies’
regime and take advantage of the small companies' exemptions in preparing the Directors' Report and from
the requirement to prepare a strategic report.
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Blackwell Science (Overseas Holdings) Limited

Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of Blackwell Science (Overseas Holdings)
Limited (continued)

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the Directors' Responsibilities Statement on page 3, the Directors are responsible for
the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for
such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparat|on of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Company's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. '

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an Auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with 1SAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, there is a risk that we will not detect all irregularities, including
those leading to a material misstatement in the financial statements or non-compliance with regulation. This
risk increases the more that compliance with a law or regulation is removed from the events and transactions
reflected in the financial statements, as we will be less likely to become aware of instances of non-compliance.

The risk is also greater regarding irregularities occurring due to fraud rather than error, as fraud involves
intentional concealment, forgery, collusion, omission or misrepresentation.

. The specific procedures for this engagement that we designed and performed to detect material
misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud, were as follows:

e Enquiry of management and those charged with governance around actual and potential litigation and
claims;

* Enquiry of management and those charged with governance to identify any material instances of non
compliance with laws and regulations;

» Reviewing financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance
with applicable laws and regulations;

» Performing audit work to address the risk of irregularities due to management override of controls, including
testing of journal entries and other adjustments for appropriateness, evaluating the business rationale of
significant transactions outside the normal course of business and reviewing accounting estimates for evidence
of bias.
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Blackwell Science {Overseas Holdings) Limited

Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of Blackwell Science {Overseas Holdings)
Limited {continued)

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located aon the Financial
Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our
Auditors’ Report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of
the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's
members those matters we are required to state to them in an Auditor's Report and for no other purpose. To
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
Company and the Company's members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed.

~

A

Sue Staunton MA FCA CF (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of
James Cowper Kreston

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor

2 Chawley Park
Cumnor Hill

Oxford

0X2 9GG

Date: 13 October 2021
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Blackwell Science (Overseas Holdings) Limited

Profit and Loss Account for the Year Ended 30 April 2021

2021 2020

Note £ 000 £ 000

Turnover - -
Operating profit/(loss) - .
Dividend income 5 15,923 8,672
Interest receivable and similar income 6 - 1,100
Interest payable and similar expenses 7 (8) (40)
15,915 9,732

Profit before tax 15,915 9,732
Tax on profit 9 1 (197)
Profit for the year 15,916 9,535

The above results were derived from continuing operations.

A statement of other comprehensive income has not been included as part of these financial statements as the
Company made no gains or losses in the year (2020: £nil) other than those disclosed in the statement of profit
and loss.

The notes on pages 14 to 28 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Blackwell Science (Overseas Holdings) Limited

Balance Sheet as at 30 April 2021 - Registration number: 03162832

Fixed assets
Investments

Current assets
Tax asset

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year
Net current liabilities

Total assets less current liabilities

Provisions for liabilities

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Share premium reserve
Other reserves

Profit and loss account

Shareholders' funds

Approved by the Board on 11 October 2021 and signed on its behalf by:

Rosamund Johnson
Director

Note

10

11

12

13

30 April 30 April
2021 2020

£ 000 £000
42,963 42,963
31 30
(201) (201)
(170) (171)
42,793 42,792
(421) (413)
42,372 42,379
8,419 8,419
5,999 5,999
20,376 20,376
7,578 7,585
42,372 42,379

The notes on pages 14 to 28 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Blackwell Science (Overseas Holdings) Limited

Statement of Changes in Equity for the Year Ended 30 April 2021

At 1 May 2020
Profit for the year

Total comprehensive income
Dividends Paid

At 30 April 2021

At 1 May 2019
Profit for the year

Total comprehensive income
Dividends Paid

At 30 April 2020

Share Other Retained
Share capital premium reserves earnings Total
£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £000
8,419 5,999 20,376 7,585 42,379
- - - 15,916 15,916
- - - 15,916 15,916
- - - (15,923) (15,923)
8,419 5,999 20,376 7,578 42,372
Share Other Retained
Share capital premium reserves earnings Total
£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000
8,419 5,999 20,376 73,388 108,182
- - - 9,535 9,535
- - - 9,535 9,535
- - - (75,338) (75,338)
8,419 5,999 20,376 7,585 42,379

The notes on pages 14 to 28 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Blackwell Science (Overseas Holdings) Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 April 2021

1 General information

The Company is a private company limited by share capital, incorporated and domiciled in United Kingdom.

The address of its registered office is:
The Atrium

Southern Gate

Chichester

West Sussex

PO19 85Q

United Kingdom

These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board on 11 October 2021.

2 Accounting policies

Summary of significant accounting policies and key accounting estimates )
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation
These financial statements were produced in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework (“FRS 101”).

In preparing these financial statements, the Company applies the recognition, measurement and disclosure
requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU (“Adopted IFRSs”) but
makes amendments where necessary in order to comply with Companies Act 2006 and has set out below
where advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has been taken.

The Company’s (ultimate) parent undertaking, John Wiley & Sons Inc, includes the Company in its consolidated
financial statements. The consolidated financial statements of John Wiley & Sons Inc are prepared in
accordance with US GAAP and are available to the public and may be obtained from John Wiley & Sons, Inc.,
111 River Street, Hoboken, New Jersey 07030, USA.

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis. The preparation of financial statements
requires management to exercise judgement in applying the Company’s accounting policies. It also requires
the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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Blackwell Science (Overseas Holdings) Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 April 2021 (continued)

2 Accounting policies (continued)

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the Company’s functional currencies at the foreign
exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at the balance sheet date are retranslated to the functional currency at the foreign exchange rate
ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the income
statement. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

Summary of disclosure exemptions

The Company is exempt by virtue of s401 of the Companies Act 2006 from the requirement to prepare group
financial statements. These financial statements present information about the Company as an individual
undertaking and not about its group.

In these financial statements, the Company has applied the exemptions available under FRS 101 in respect of
the following disclosures:

1. IAS 7 Statement of cash flows and related notes;

2. Paragraph 38 of IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements’ comparative information in respect of:

¢ Paragraph 79(a) (iv) of IAS 1 share capital;

3. 1AS 24 Related party disclosures in respect of transactions with wholly owned subsidiaries;

4. IFRS 7 financial instruments: disclosures;

5. 1AS 1.134-136 Disclosures in respect of capital management;

6. Paragraph 30 and 31 of IAS 8 ‘Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors’;

7. Paragraphs 91 to 99 of IFRS 13 ‘fair value measurement’ (disclosure of valuation techniques and inputs used
for fair value measurement of assets and liabilities);

8. Paragraph 17 of IAS 24, ‘Related party transactions’ in respect of the compensation of Key Management
Personnel.
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Blackwell Science (Overseas Holdings) Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 April 2021 (continued)

2 Accounting policies (continued)

Going concern

Notwithstanding net current liabilities of £0.2m and a profit for the year of £15.9m, the directors have
undertaken a going concern review for the entity and have prepared the financial statements on a going
concern basis which the directors consider to be appropriate for the following reasons.

The Company is dependent on John Wiley & Sons Inc. (‘the Parent’} in providing ongoing financial support. The
Parent has indicated its intention to continue to make funds available as are needed by the Company for the
period of the 12 months from signing of the financial statements. The directors have therefore assessed the
parent’s, ability to provide support for a period of 12 months from the date of approval of these financial
statements and have assessed the cashflow forecasts of the Parent for the period which indicate that, taking
into account severe but plausible downsides including the impact of COVID-19, the Parent company will have
sufficient funds, through its cash in hand and undrawn revolving credit facilities to support Blackwell Science
(Overseas Holdings) Limited. Therefore, they are satisfied the parent has the ability, intent and economic
rationale to continue to support the Company.

Based on the above assessment the directors are confident that with this support the Company will be able to
meet its liabilities as they fall due. As with any company placing reliance on other group entities for financial
support, the directors acknowledge that there can be no certainty that this support will continue although, at
the date of approval of these financial statements, they have no reason to believe that it will not do so.

Consequently, the directors are confident that the 'Company will have sufficient funds to continue to meet its
liabilities as they fall due for at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements and

therefore have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
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Blackwell Science (Overseas Holdings) Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 April 2021 (continued)

2 Accounting policies (continued)

Changes in accounting policy
None of the standards, interpretations and amendments effective for the first time from 1 May 2020 have had -
a material effect on the financial statements.

Tax

The tax credit/expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except that a change attributable to an item of income or expense recognised as other comprehensive income
is also recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the reporting date in the countries where the Company operates and generates
taxable income.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the financial statements and on unused tax losses or tax credits in the Company.
Deferred tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
reporting date.

Investments
Investments in securities are classified on initial recognition as available-for-sale and are carried at fair value,
except where their fair value cannot be measured reliably, in which case they are carried at cost, less any
impairment.

Unrealised holding gains and losses other than impairments are recognised in other comprehensive income.
On maturity or disposal, net gains and losses previously deferred in accumulated other comprehensive income
are recognised in income.

Interest income on debt securities, where applicable, is recognised in income using the effective interest
method. Dividends on equity securities are recognised in.income when receivable.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and call deposits, and other short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.

Borrowings

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value less attributable fees. These fees are
then amortised through the income statement on an effective interest rate basis over the expected life of the
loan (or over the contractual term where there is no clear indication that a shorter life is appropriate). If the
Company subsequently determines that the expected life has changed, the resulting adjustment to the
effective interest rate calculation is recognised as a gain or loss on re-measurement and presented separately
in the income statement in accordance with IFRS 9.
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Blackwell Science (Overseas Holdings) Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 April 2021 (continued)

2 Accounting policies (continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of a past event, that can be reliably measured, and it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future
cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects risks specific to the liability.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Equity instruments are measured at the fair value of the cash or other
resources received or receivable, net of the direct costs of issuing the equity instruments. If payment is
deferred and the time value of money is material, the initial measurement is on a present value basis.

Dividends

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Company’s financial
statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders.

Financial instruments

Classification and measurement

Following the adoption of 1AS 32, financial instruments issued by the Company are treated as equity only to
the extent that they meet the following two conditions:

(a) they include no contractual obligations upon the Company to deliver cash or other financial assets or to
exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another party under conditions that are potentially
unfavourable to the Company; and

(b) where the instrument will or may be settled in the Company’s own equity instruments, it is either a
non-derivative that includes no obligation to deliver a variable number of the Company’s own equity
instruments or is a derivative that will be settled by the Company’s exchanging a fixed amount of cash or other
financial assets for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a financial liability. Where
the instrument so classified takes the legal form of the Company’s own shares, the amounts presented in these
financial statements for called up share capital and share premium account exclude amounts in relation to
those shares.

Derivative financial instruments
The Company does not hold any derivative financial instruments.

Page 18



Blackwell Science (Overseas Holdings) Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 April 2021 (continued)

2 Accounting policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to determine
whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence
indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a
negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference
between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the
asset’s original effective interest rate. For financial instruments measured at cost less impairment, an
impairment is calculated as the difference between its carrying amount and the best estimate of the amount
that the Company would receive for the asset if it were to be sold at the reporting date. Interest on the
impaired asset continues to be recognised through the unwinding of the discount. When a subsequent event
causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit
or loss.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amount of the Company’s investments is reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether
there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair values
less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually
are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that
are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-generating unit”).

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.
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Blackwell Science (Overseas Holdings) Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 April 2021 (continued)

2 Accounting policies (continued)

Classification and measurement
The following table shows the measurement categories of financial assets and liabilities under IFRS 9.

Financial assets Classification and measurement under IFRS 9
Cash and cash-equivalents Financial assets at amortised cost

Loans receivable Financial assets — Fair value through OCI
Equity investments Financial assets at amortised cost

Trade debtors Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial liabilities
Trade creditors Other financial liabilities — amortised cost

Loans payable Financial liabilities — Fair value through OCI

3 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the financial statements require management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported for assets and liabilities as at the balance sheet date.

Investments

The key area in this respect is the value of the Company’s investments in other group subsidiaries. These are
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether a significant change in the operating or macroeconomic
environment has occurred. In these circumstances, an evaluation of the projected undiscounted cash flows is
performed. Should the evaluation indicate impairment, the asset is written down to its estimated fair value
based on the discounted future cash flows.

At this time, all such investments are performing to expectation and therefore impairment reviews have not
been required.
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Blackwell Science (Overseas Holdings) Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 April 2021 (continued)

4 Auditors' remuneration

The auditor's remuneration disclosed below has been paid by John Wiley & Sons Limited and not recharged.

Amounts receivable by the Company’s auditor and its associates in respect of services to the Company and its
associates, other than the audit of the Company’s financial statements, have not been disclosed as the
information is required instead to be disclosed on a consolidated basis in the consolidated financial statements
of the Company’s ultimate parent, John Wiley & Sons Inc.

2021 2020

£ 000 £ 000
Audit of these financial statements 8 8
5 Dividend Income

2021 2020

£ 000 £ 000
Dividend income 15,923 8,672
6 Interest receivable and similar income

2021 2020

£ 000 £ 000
Other finance income - 1,100

Other finance income relates to interest income on amounts owed by group undertakings.

7 Interest payable and similar expenses

2021 2020

£000 £000

Interest expense from tax provisions 8 8
Foreign exchange (gains) / losses - 32
8 40

8 Directors' remuneration

The Directors received no remuneration from the Company during the year (2020: £Nil) and are paid by other
Group undertakings. The Directors did not receive remuneration for their services to the Company as the
services provided to the Company are incidental to their wider role in the Group.
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Blackwell Science (Overseas Holdings) Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 April 2021 (continued)

9 Income tax

Tax charged/(credited) in the profit and loss account

.

2021 2020
£000 £ 000
Current taxation
UK corporation tax - 201
Deferred taxation
Arising from origination and reversal of temporary differences - (1) (1)
Arising from changes in tax rates and laws - (3)
Total deferred taxation (1) (4)
Tax (receipt)/expense in the profit and loss account (1) 197
The standard rate for UK corporation tax used for the year was 19% (2020 - 19%).
The deferred tax for the year has been calculated at 19% (2020 - 19%).
The differences are reconciled below:
2021 2020
£ 000 £ 000
Profit before tax : 15,915 9,732
Corporation tax at standard rate ' 3,024 1,849
Decrease from effect of different UK tax rates on some earnings - (4)
Increase from effect of revenues exempt from taxation (3,025) -
Decrease from effect dividends from UK companies - (1,648)
197

Total tax (credit)/charge {1)
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Blackwell Science {(Overseas Holdings) Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 April 2021 (continued)

9 Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax movement during the year:

Other

Deferred tax movement during the prior year:

Other

Factors that may affect future tax charges

Recognised in

At 1 May 20 income At 30 April 21
£000 £ 000 £ 000
30 1 31
Recognised in
At 1 May 19 income At 30 April 20
£000 £ 000 £ 000
25 5 30

In the Spring Budget 2021, the Government announced that from 1 April 2023 the main corporation tax rate
will increase to 25%. As the proposal to increase the rate to 25% had not been substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date, its effects are not included in these financial statements. However, it is likely that the
overall effect of the change, had it been substantively enacted by the balance sheet date, would be to increase
the tax expense for the period and to reduce the deferred tax liability. The impact of these changes is not

expected to be material.

10 Investments
Subsidiaries

Cost or valuation
At 1 May 2020

At 30 April 2021
At 30 April 2021
Carrying amount

At 30 April 2021
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Blackwell Science (Overseas Holdings) Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 April 2021 (continued)

10 Investments (continued)

Details of the subsidiaries as at 30 April 2021 are as follows (*Interests held indirectly):

Proportion of
ownership interest

Name of and voting rights
subsidiary Principal activity Registered office Holding held
2021 2020

Blackwell Publishing 31/F, Gloucester Tower, The Ordinary 100% 100%
Publishing (Hong Landmark, 11 Pedder Street,
Kong) Limited Central

Hong Kong
Wiley Publishing Publishing 1-28-1 Koishikawa, Bunkyo-ku  Ordinary 100% 100%
Japan KK Tokyo 112-0002

Japan
Wiley-VCH GmbH Publishing RotherstraBe 21, 10245 Berlin  Ordinary 100% 100%

Germany
John Wiley & Publishing Rosenorns Alle 1, 1970 Ordinary 100% 100%
Sons A/S Frederiksberg, Copenhagen

Denmark
Wiley Publishing Publishing 42 McDougall Street Milton Ordinary 100% 100%
Australia Pty Ltd Qld 4064

Australia
John Wiley & Publishing 42 McDougall Street Milton Ordinary* 100% 100%
Sons Australia Qld 4064
Ltd Australia
Wiley VCHA AG Publishing Seefeldstrasse 69, Postfach, Ordinary 100% 0%

CH-8024 Ziirich

Switzerland
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Blackwell Science (Overseas Holdings) Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 April 2021 (continued)

10 Investments (continued)

Proportion of
ownership interest

Name of and voting rights
subsidiary Principal activity Registered office Holding held
2021 2020

Wiley Fachverlag Publishing Boschstr. 12, 69469, Ordinary 100% 0%
GmbH Weinheim,

Baden-Wirttemberg

Germany
Wilhelm Ernst & Publishing RotherstralRe 21, 10245 Berlin  Ordinary 100% 0%
Sohn Verlag fuer German
Architektur und Y
technische
Wissenschaften
GmbH & Co. KG

During the year, a subsidiary company, Blackwell Verlag GmbH changed its name to Wiley-VCH GmbH.

As part of a wider Wiley group organisation during the year, four German subsidiaries merged into one newly
formed entity Wiley-VCH GmbH, now a direct subsidiary of Blackwell Science {(Overseas Holdings) Limited.
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Blackwell Science (Overseas Holdings) Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 April 2021 {continued)

11 Trade and other creditors

30 April 30 April

2021 2020

£ 000 £ 000

Income tax liability 201 201

The Company's exposure to market and liquidity risks, including maturity analysis, related to trade and other
payables is disclosed in note 15 "Financial risk review".

12 Other provisions

Provision
£ 000
At 1 May 2020 413
Increase (decrease) in existing provisions 8
At 30 April 2021 421
Non-current liabilities 421

This provision relates to the historic treatment for UK corporate tax purposes of profits earned overseas and
distributed to the UK. At the balance sheet date BSOHL and HM Revenue and Customs {(HMRC) were awaiting
the latest Supreme Court judgement in relation to the ongoing Franked Investment Income Group Litigation
Order (FIl GLO).

13 Share capital

Allotted, called up and fully paid shares

30 April 30 April
2021 2020
No. 000 £000 No. 000 £ 000
Ordinary shares of £1 each 8,419 8,419 8,419 8,419

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company.
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Blackwell Science (Overseas Holdings) Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 April 2021 (continued)

14 Dividends
30 April 30 April
2021 2020
£ 000 £000
Final dividend of £1.89 (2020 - £8.95) per ordinary share ‘ 15,923 75,338

15 Financial risk review
This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to financial risks and the Company’s
management of capital.

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is estimated at its carrying amount.

Trade and other debtors are carried at recoverable amount, less provisions for any amounts where recovery is
doubtful. As the balances are expected to be short term, no discounting of value is appropriate.

Trade and other creditors are payable on demand and therefore their fair value is deemed to approximate
carrying value.

Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost, less provision for impairment

Credit risk

The Company is not exposed to credit risk as it currently does not hold any debtors.

Liquidity risk
The liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its obligations as they fall due. A letter of
support has also been provided by John Wiley & Sons Inc., the parent company, giving an undertaking that it

will continue to make available such funds as are needed by the Company for at least 12 months from the date
of approval of these financial statements.
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Blackwell Science (Overseas Holdings) Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 April 2021 (continued)

15 Financial risk review (continued)

Interest rate risk
The Company is not exposed to an interest rate risk as it does not currently hold any loan balances.

Market risk

The Company is not exposed to any foreign exchange risk as all balances are denominated in GBP.

16 Related party transactions

During the year and in the previous year, the Company only entered into transactions with wholly owned
subsidiaries, the Company has taken advantage of the exemption under para 8 (k) FRS 101 not to disclose
transactions with such wholly owned subsidiaries.

17 Parent and ultimate parent undertaking
The Company's immediate parent is Wiley Heyden Limited. its business address is The Atrium, Southern Gate,
Chichester, PO19 85Q.

The ultimate parent is John Wiley & Sons Inc.

The largest group in which the results of the Company are consolidated is that headed by John Wiley & Sons
Inc., incorporated in the State of New York, USA. The consolidated financial statements of this group are
available at the principal place of business of John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 111 River Street, Hoboken, New Jersey
07030, USA.

18 Non adjusting events after the financial period

On 29 July 2021, the Company received a dividend of £5.3m from JWS Australia. These funds were paid by way
of a dividend from the Company to Wiley Heyden Limited totalling £5.3m on 30 July 2021.

On 29th September 2021, the Company received a dividend of £1.03m from John Wiley & Sons A/S, Denmark.
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“autionary Notice Regarding Forward-Looking Statements “Safe Harbor” Statement under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995:

“his report ins “forward-looking " within the meamng of the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 ing our business, tidated financial condition and resulvs of operations. Tht
ities and Exch C ission (SEC) 8 to disclose forward-locking information so that i mvesturs can better und da pany’s prospects and make infi di decisi For kil an
ubject to risks and uncertainties, many of whlch are outside our contro!, which could cause actual results to differ ially from these Therefore, you should not rely on any of these forward-tooking statements. Forward -looking
tatements can be identified by such words as * " “beli ," “plan,” * " “could,” “should " “esnmates ” “expects " “intends,” “potential,” “seek,” “predict,” “may,” “will” and similar references to future periods. All statement
ther than statements of historical facts included in thls report regarding our d fi di perati costs, plans, and objectives are forward-looking Examples of forward-looking include, amony
thers, statements we make regarding our fiscal year 2022 outlook, lhe nnncxpated |mpac1 on the ablllty of our employees, and other busi partners to perform our and their respective responsibilities and obli
zlative to the conduct of our business in the future due to the irus (COVID-19) outbreak, pated restr ing charges and savings, operati rf and fu ial condition. Reliance shou.ld not be placed on forward-| lookmg
tatements, as actual results may differ materially from those described in any forward-looking Any such forward-looking are based upon many i and esti that are ly subject to i an¢
ontingencies, many of which are beyond our control, and are subject to change based on many important factors, Such factors include, but are not limited to (i) the level of i uweslment by Wiley in new technologies and products; (ii) subscribe
znewal rates for our journals; (iii) the financiat stability and liquidity of journal subscription agents; (lv) the lidation of book wholesalers and retail ; (v) the market position and financial stability of key retailers; (vi) the seasona
ature of our educational business and the impact of the used book market; (vii) 1dwid and political diti (viii) our ability to protect our copyrights and other inte!l | property worldwide; (ix) our ability to successfully
ategrate acquired operations and realize expected opportunities; (x) the ability to realize operating savings over time and in fiscal year 2022 in ion with our multiyear Busi Optimization Program; and (xi) other factors detailed from tim¢
3 time in our filings with the SEC. We undertake no obligation to update or revise any such forward-looking to reflect subseq; events or ci
Ylease refer to Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for important factors that we believe could cause actual results to differ materially from those in our forward-looking Any forward-looking

aade by us in this report is based only on information currently available to us and speaks only as of the date on which it is made. We undertake no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statement, whether written or oral, that may b
1ade from time to time, whether as a result of new information, future developments, or otherwise.

{on-GAAP Financial Measures:

Ve present fi ial infc ion that conft to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the United States of America (US GAAP). We also present financial information that does not conform to US GAAP, which we refer to as non-GAAP.

a this report, we may present the following non-GAAP perfi measures:

¢ . Adjusted Eamings Per Share (Adjusted EPS);

*  Free Cash Flow less Product Development Spending;
¢ Adjusted Contribution to Profit and margin;

¢ Adjusted Income Before Taxes;

¢ Adjusted Income Tax Provision;

¢  Adjusted Effective Tax Rate;

* EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and margin;

*  Organic revenue; and

¢ Results on a constant currency basis.

Aanagement uses these non-GAAP perft as 1 | indi of our operating pc- and fi ial position as well for internal reporting and f i when publicl iding our outlook, to evaluate ou
erfc and calcul incenﬁve p ion. We present these non-GAAP performance measures in addition to US GAAP ﬁnanc:a! results because we believe that these non-GAAP performance measures prowde useful information to certair
westors and fi ial for ional trends and compari over (lme The use of these non-GAAP performance measures may also provide a i basis to eval p g p bility and perf trends by excluding item:

1at we do not consider to be con(rollnble activities for this purpose.




‘he performance metric used by our chief op di maker to eval performance of our reportable is Adjusted Contribution to Profit. We present both Adjusted Contribution to Profit and Adjusted EBITDA for each of ou
sportable segments since we believe Adjusted EBITDA provides additional useful inft ion to certain i s and fi ial analysts for operational trends and comparisons over time as it removes the impact of depreciation and amortizatior
xpense, as well as a i basis to eval perating profitability and comparing our financial performance to that of our peer companies and competitors.
‘or example:
*  Adjusted EPS, Adjusted Contribution to Profit, Adjusted Income Before Taxes, Adjusted Income Tax Provision, Adjusted Effective Tax Rate, Adjusted EBITDA, and organic {excludi quisitions) provide a more comparable
basis to analyze operating results and ings and are ly used by shareholders to our perf
¢ Free Cash Flow less Product Development Spending helps assess our ability, over the long term, to create value for our shareholders as it rep cash available to repay debt, pay common stock dividends, and fund share repurchases anc
acquisitions.
¢ Results on a constant currency basis remove distortion from the effects of foreign currency movements to provide better comparability of our business trends from period to period. We our perf luding the impact o

foreign currency (or at constant currency), which means that we apply the same foreign currency exchange rates for the current and equivalent prior period.

n addition, we have historically provided these or similar non-GAAP performance and und d that some i and fi ial analysts find this inf ion heipful in analyzing our operating margins and net income, and it
omparing our financial performance to that of our peer panies and peti Based on i ions with i , we also believe that our non-GAAP perf are regarded as useful to our investors as supplemental to our U$
FAAP financial results, and that there is no confusion regarding the adj or our operating performance to our investors due to the prehensive nature of our discl . We have not provided our 2022 outlook for the most directly

ble US GAAP fi ial , as they are not available without ble effort due to the high variability, complexity, and low visibility with respect to certain items, including restructuring charges and credits, gains and losses ot
oreign currency, and other gains and losses. These items are uncertain, depend on various factors, and could be material to our fidated results puted in d with US GAAP.
{on-GAAP performance do not have dardized ings prescribed by US GAAP and therefore may not be parable to the calculation of similar used by other companies and should not be viewed as altematives
aeasures of financial results under US GAAP. The adjusted metrics have limitations as analytical tools, and should not be considered in isolation from, or as a substitute for, US GAAP information. It does not purport to represent any similarly titlec
JS GAAP information, and is not an indicator of our performance under US GAAP. Non-US GAAP financial metrics that we present may not be parable with similarly titled used by others. Investors are cautioned against placin;
ndue reliance on these non-US GAAP measures.
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'ART [

tem 1. Business

‘he Company, founded in 1807, was incorp d in the state of New York on January 15, 1904. Throughout this report, when we refer to “Wiley,” the “Company,” “we,” “our,” or “us,” we are referring to John Wiley & Sons, Inc. and all of ou
ubsidiaries, except where the context indicates otherwise,

‘lease refer to Part [I, item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data,” for financial information about the Company and its subsidiaries, which is incorp d herein by refe Also, when we cross reference to a “Note,” we are referring
> our “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,” in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” unless the context indicates otherwise.

Viley is a global leader in h and educati locking human p ial by enabling di y, powering education, and shaping workforces. For over 200 years, Wiley has fueled the world’s knowledge ecosystem. Today, our high-impac

ontent, platforms, and services help hers, leamners, instituti and corporations achieve their goals in an ever-changmg vmrlvi W:ley is a predominantly digital company with approxi ly 82% of in the year ended April 30, 2021

enerated by digital produc\s and semces Through the Research Publishing & Platfonns we provide p nical, and medical (STM) publishing, content platforms, and retated services to academic, corporate, anc

ies, and individual hers. The Acad Professional Leaming seg ides Education Publishing and Professional Leammg content and courseware, training and learning services, to students

{s, and i The Education Services seg provides online p (OPM) services for demic institutions and talent pl services for p Is and busi Our operations are primarily located ir

1¢ United States (US) United Kingdom (UK), Sri Lanka, Germany, India, Rlssna, Jordan, and Canada. In the year ended April 30, 2021, approximately 46% of our consolidated revenue was from outside the US.

Viley’s business strategies are tightly ahgned with accelerating growth trends, including open research, online education, and digital curriculum, Research strategies include driving publishing output to meet the i ing d d for p:

2search and expanding ptatform and service oﬁenngs for corporations and societies. Ed ies include ding online degree programs and driving online enrollment for university parmers, scaling digital content and courseware, an
xpanding information technol, (IT) talent p for corporate partners.

tnsiness Segments

Ve report fi ial infc ion for the following as well as a Corporate category, which includes certain costs that are not all d to the reportabl

+  Research Publishing & Platforms
«  Academic & Professional Leaming
«  Education Services

tesearch Publishing & Platforms:

h Publishi; Platf " mission is to suppon researchers, professionals and leamers in the d y and use of h k dedge to help them achieve their goals. R h provids ientifi hnical, medical, and scholarly journals

s well as related content and services, to acad P and gos lib learned societies, and individual hers and other professionals. Journa! publishing areas include the physical sci and engineering, health
ocial sci and h ities and life sci R h Publishing & Platfc also includes Atypon Sy , Inc. (Atypon), a publishing software and service provider that enables scholarly and professional societies and publishers to deliver
ost enhance market, and manage their content on the web through the L:lerulumm platform. Research Publishing & Plarfc ' include academic, corporate, g and public hbranes f\mders of research, researchers scientists
i a.nd hnol scholarly and profi I and students and profe R h Publishing & Platfc ducts are sold and distributed globally through multiple ch 1 Tudi h libraries and librany
ind d iption agents, direct sales to professional society bers, and olher Publishing centers include Austra.lm. China, Germany, India, the UK and the US. Research Publishing & Platforms’ revenue accounte:
ar appm)umately 52% of our consolidated revenue in the year ended April 30, 2021, with a 35.1% Adjusted EBITDA margin. Approximately 95% of Research Publishing & Platfc revenue is d by digital and online products, anc

ervices.
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tesearch Publishing & Platforms revenue by product type includes Research Publishing and Research Platforms. The graphs below present revenue by product type for the years ended April 30, 2021, and 2020:

Research
%

2021 2020

ey growth ies for the R h Publishing & Platf include evolving and developing new licensing models for our institutional customers (pay to read and publish), developmg new open access journals and revenue streams (pay
) publish), focusing resources on high-growth and § and developing new digital products, services, and workflow solutions to meet the needs of researchers, authors, soci and corp
tesearch Publishing
tesearch Publishing generates the majority of its from with its in the following streams:

*  Joumal Subscriptions (pay to read) and Open Access (pay to publish); and

« Licensing, Reprints, Backfiles, and Other.
ournal Subscripiions and Open Access
\s of April 30, 2021, we publish approxil ly 1,930 academi h j is. We sell joumal subscriptions directly to thousands of Research institutions worldwide through our sales rep ives, indirectly through independent subscriptior
gents, through promotional campaigns, and through berships in professional societies for those j Is that are sp d by societies. Journal subscriptions are primarily li d through for digital content available online througl
ur Wiley Online Library platfc Ci are iated by us directly with or their sub agents. Subscription periods typically cover calendar years. Print Is are g Ily mailed to subscribers directly from independen’
rinters. We do not own or manage printing facilities. Subscription is Ily collected in ad

\pproximately 50% of Joumal Subscription revenue is derived from publishing rights owned by Wiley. Publishing alliances also play a major role in Research Publishing’s success. Approximately 50% of Jounal Subscription revenue is derivec
rom publication rights that are owned by p | ies and published by us p to long-term contracts or owned jointly with professional societies. These society alliances bring mutual benefit: the societies gaining Wiley's publishing
aarketing, sales, and distribution expertise, while Wiley benefits from being affiliated with prestigi i and their b S that sponsor or own such joumnals generally receive a royalty and/or other financial consideraton. We
1ay procure editonial services from such societies on a prenegotiated fee basis. We also enter into agreements with outside independent editors ofjoumals that define their editorial duties and the fees and expenses for their services. Contributors o
tticles to our journal portfolie transfer publication rights to us or a professional soue(y, as apphcnble We publish the j Is of many p including the American Cancer Society, the American Heart Association, the Britis
ournal of Surgery Society, the Ei Molecular Biology Organization, the A iati dle American Geophysical Union, and the German Chemical Society.

Viley Online Library, which is delivered through our Literatum platform, provides the user with intuitive navigation, enhanced discoverability, expanded functionality, and a range of personalization options. Access to abstracts is free and full

ontent is ible through licensing ag; or as individual article purchases. Large portions of the content are provided free or at nominal cost to nations in the developing world through parnerships with certain nonprofit organizations. Ou
aline publishing platf provide growth opportunities through new applications and business models, online advertising, deeper market p ion, and individual sales and pay-per-view options.
Viley's performance in the 2019 release of Clarivate Analytics’ Journal Citation Reports (JCR) ins strong, maintaining its top 3 position in terms of the number of titles indexed, articles published, and citations received. Wiley has 10.5% o

Hes, 9.5% of articles, and 11.5% of citations.

\ total of 1,272 Wiley journals were included in the reports. Wiley journals ranked #1 in 21 categories across 17 titles and achieved 305 top-10 category rankings.
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‘he annual Journal Citation Reports (JCR) are one of the most widely-used sources of citation metrics used to analyze the perfc of p iewed j Is. The most famous of these metrics, the Impact Factor, is based on the frequency witt

vhich an average article is cited in the JCR report year. Alongside other metrics, this makes it an important tool for evaluating a journal’s impact on ongoing research.

Inder the Open Access busi model, pted h articles are published subject to pay of Article Publication Charges (APCs). After payment to Wiley, all open articles are immediately free to access online. Contributors of open acces:
rticles retain many rights and typically license their work under terms that permit reuse.

Jpen Access offers authors choices in how to share and disseminate their work, and it serves the needs of researchers who may be required by their research funder to make articles freely accessible without embargo. APCs are typically paid by ths
1dividual author or by the author’s funder, and payments are often mediated by the author's institution. We provide specific workflows and infrastructure to authors, funders, and institutions to support the requi of Open Access.

Ve offer two Open Access publishing models. The first of these is Hybrid Open Access where, upon payment of an APC, authors publishing in the majority of our paid subscription journals are offered, after article acceptance, the opportunity t
1ake their individual research article openly available online,

"he second offering of the Open Access medel is a growing portfolio of fully open access journals, atso known as Gold Open Access Journals, in which all accepted articles are published subject to receipt of an APC. All Open Access articles are
ubject to the same rigorous peer-review process applied to our subscription-based journals. As with our subscription portfolio, a number of the Gold Open Access Ji Is are published under for, or in partnership with, prestigiou:
ocieties, including the American Geophysical Union, the American Heart Association, the E Molecular Biology Organization and the British Ecologica! Society. The Open Access portfolio spans life, physical, medical, and social science:
nd includes a choice of high impact joumals and broad-scope titles that offer a responsive, nuthor-cemered service,

‘omprehensive agreements (read and publish), sometimes referred to as itional arethe i ive new model that blends joumal subscription and open access offerings. Essentially, for a single fee, a national or regional consortiun
f libraries pays for and receives full read access to our joumal pertfolio and the nbnluy to publish under an open access arrangement. Like subscriptions, comprehensive deals involve recurring under multiy Unlik
ubscriptions, they also allow for further upside depending on how much publishing volume we g Comprehensive models 1 the ition to open access while maintaining subscription access.

n March 2020, we agreed with Jisc, the UK's h and educati t-for-profit that iates licenses and digital content agreements on behalf of UK universities, on a four-year comprehensive “read and publish” agreement that, for an annua
ze, enables UK institutions to access our journal portfolio and researchers at UK universities the means to publish open access (OA) in all Wiley journals at no direct cost to them. As part of the new agreement, the proportion of OA article:

blished by UK hers will i from 27% to an estimated 85% in year one, with the potential to reach 100% by 2022. The agreement will also enable institutions and their users to access all of Wiley’s journals. Other comprehensivi
greements include consortia in Austria, Finland, Germany, Hungary, Netherlands, Norway, and Sweden. We are compensated through a publish and read fee.

a Janua:y 2019, we da | in support of Open Access, a countrywide partnership agreement with Projekt DEAL, a representative of nearly 700 academic institutions in G y. This three-y provide;
11 Projekt DEAL institutions with access to read Wiley's academuc;cumals back to the year 1997, and researchers at Projekt DEAL institutions can publish articles open access in Wiley's joumals. The partnership will better support institutions an«
2searchers in advancing open science, driving di: y. and developing and di i knowledge. We are p d through a fee per article published.

.icensing, Reprints, Backfiles, and Other

.dcensing, Reprints, Backfiles, and Other includes advertising, backfile sales, the licensing of publishing rights, joumal and article reprints, and individual article sales. We generate advertising revenue from print and online joumnal subscriptior
roducts, our online publishing platform, Literatum, online events such as webi and virtual fe ity interest websites such as speclm:copyNOW com, and other websites. A backfile license provides access to a historical
ollection of Wiley joumnals, generally for a one-time fee. We also engage with intemational publishers and receive | i from 1 and other digital uses of our content. Joumnai and article reprints are primarily
sed by pharmaceutical companies and other industries for marketing and promotional purposes. Through the Article Select and PayPerView programs we provide fee-based access to bscribed journal articles, content, book chapters, and
1ajor reference work articles. The Research Publishing busi is also a provider of content and services in evidence-based medicine (EBM). Through our alliance with The Cochrane Collaboration, we publish The Cochrane Library, a premie
ource of high-quality independ id to inform health decision-making. EBM facili the effective management of patients through clinical expertise informed by best practice evidence that is derived from medical literature.
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tesearch Platforms

tesearch Platforms is principally comprised of Atypon, a publishing software and service provider that enables schol and professional and publishers to deliver, host, enhance, market, and manage their content on the web through th
[teratum platform.
iteratum, our online publishing platform for societies and other h publish delivers i d access to over 9 miltion articles from approximately 2,700 journals, as well as 25,000 online books and hundreds of multivol fe
vorks, lab Y P Is and datat The Lii platform hosts over 45% of the world’s English language journals.
weademic & Professional Learning:
Jur Academic & Professional Leaming segr provides Education Publishi and:‘ fe 'Lenmmg,. d and services, including scientific, p I, and education print and digita! books, digital , and tesx,,
ervices, to libraries, corporati d professionals, and hers, as well as | d and services for busil and fessionals. C ities served include busi finance, i 1

teadership, technology, behavioral health, engi ing/ archi , science and medlcme and education. Products are developed for worldwide distribution through multiple channels, including chain and onlme booksellers, llbmnes
olleges and universities, corporati direct to bsites, distrit ks and other online applications. Publishing centers include Australia, Germany, India, the UK, and the US. Academic & Professional Leaming accounted fo
pp ly 33% of our lidated revenue in the year ended Apnl 30, 2021, with a 25.4% Adjusted EBITDA margin. Approximately 54% of revenue is from digital and online products, and services.

demic & Professional Leaming by product type includes Education Publishing and Professional Leaming. The graphs below present revenue by product type for the years ended Aprii 30, 2021 and 2020:
Education Edueation
Putlisking Publiching
5% o
Professional .
"y Professional
Leaming Leaming
“% /0/ 6%
2021 2000

ey gies for the Academic & Professional Learning busi include developing and iring prod andsemces(odnve d education, d ',,leadmgbmndsnnd' hit ing strategi isitions anc
artmerships, and innovating digital content and courseware formats while expanding their global di ability and distrib We inue to impl gies to manage declines in print revenue through cost improvement mmanves ant
>cusing our efforts on growing our digital lines of business. We are continuing to perform portfolio reviews and workforce reali restr ing, and ional 1l initiatives. In certain areas, we will explore new formats or promot
igital-only, and in other areas, we may lize our portfolio. Our approach is to inue to realign our cost structure to help mitigate the market changes that are contributing to revenue decline, and to sharpen our focus on high performin;
reas and digital opportunities, while improving operating efficiency.
look sales for Education Publishing and Professional Leaming are g lly made on a retumable basis with certain restrictions. We provide for estimated future returns on sales made during the year based on historical return experience anc
urrent market trends.
Aaterials for book publications are obtained from authors throughout most of the world, utilizing the efforts of an editorial staff, outside editorial advisors, and advisory boards. Most materials are originated by the authors themselves or as the resul

f suggestion or solicitations by editors and advisors. We enter into agreements with authors that state the terms and conditions under which the materials will be published, the name in which the copyright will be registered, the basis for any
oyalties, and other matters. Most of the authors are compensated with royalties, which vary depending on the nature of the product. We may make advance royalty payments against future royalties to authors of certain publications. Royalty
ds are reviewed for bility and a reserve for loss is maintained, if appropriate.

Ve continue to add new titles, revise existing titles, and discontinue the sale of others in the normal course of our business, and we also create adaptations of original content for specific markets based on customer demand. Our general practice is &
2vise our textbooks approximately every three years, if warranted, and to revise other titles as appropriate. Subscription-based products are updated on a more frequent basis.
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Ve g y with independent printers and binderies globally for their services. beli that ad printing and binding facilities and sources of paper and other required ials are available to it, and that it is no
ependent upon any single supplier.

a fiscal year 2016, we entered into an agreement to outsource our US based book distribution opemnons to Cengage Leaming, with the continued aim of improving efficiency in our distribution activities and moving to a more variable cos
10del. As of April 30, 2021, we had one global housing and distribution facility remaining, which is in the UK.

iducation Publishing

iducation Publishing generates the majority of its revenue from with its in the following streams:

¢ Educaton Publishing

* Digital Courseware

*  Test Preparation and Certification
* Licensing and Other

ducation Publishing

iducation textbooks and refated suppl ial and digital prod: are sold primarily to bookstores and online booksellers serving both for-profit and nonprofit educational instituti (pnmanly 11 and universiti and direct.
tudents. We employ sales representatives who call on faculty responsible for selecting books to be used in courses, and on the bookstores that serve such institutions and their studs The k busi is |, with the majority o
:xtbook sales occurring during the July-through-October and December-through-January periods. There are active used and rental print textbook L which ady ty affect the sale of new textbooks. We are exploring opportunities to expan
ato the print rental market.

‘TM books (Reference) are sold and distributed globally in digital and print formats through multiple ch Is, includil h libraries and library consortia, independent subscription agents, direct sales to professional society members
ookstores, online booksellers, and other

Ve develop content in a digital format that can be used for both digital and print prod Iting in productivity and efficiency savmgs, and ennbllng print-on-demand delivery. Book content is available online through Wiley Online Library
delivered through our Literatum platform), WilevPLUS, zyBooks®, alta™, and other proprietary platforms Digital books are delivered to diaries, including A Apple, Google and Ingram/Vital-Source®, for re-sale to individuals in
a.nous industry-standard formats, which are now the preferred deliverable for li of all types, including foreign I publishers. Digital books are also licensed to libraries through aggregators. Specialized formats for digital textbooks gc
3 distrit servicing the academic market, and digital book collections are sold by subscription through independent third-party aggregators servicing distinct communities. Custom deliverables are provided to corporations, institutions, anc
ssociations to educate their employees, generate leads for their products, and extend their brands. Content from digital books is also used to create online articles, mobile apps, 1 and p ional coll l. This i reuse of conten
nproves margins, speeds dehvery and helps satisfy a wide range of customer needs. Our onlme presence not only enables us to deliver content online, but also to sell more books. The growth ofonlme ksellers benefits us b they providi
nlimited virtual “shelf space” for our entire backlist. Publishing alliances and franch are to our strategy. Education and STM publishing (including Test Preparation) alliance partners include the AICPA, the CFA Institute
ACT (American College Test), [EEE, American Institute of Chemical Engineers, and many others. The ablluy to join Wiley’s product development, sales, marketing, distribution, and technology with a partner’s content, technology, and/or branc
ame has contributed to our success.

digital Courseware

Ve offer high-quality on]me leammg solutions, including WileyPLUS, a h-based, online envil for eﬁ'ecnve !eachmg and leaming that |s d with a pl digital book. WileyPLUS imp student learning through
1stant feedback ing plans, and self-evaluation tools, as well as a fu]l range of cour i , including online p p i study, h k, and testing. In selected courses, WilcyPLUS includes a
ersonnhzed ndnpnve learning component, Orion, which i is based on cognitive science. Orion helps to build student proficiency on topics whnle improving the effectiveness of their study time. It assists educators in identifying areas that neec
fi and student and profi 'y throughout the course.
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n July 1, 2019, Wiley acquired Zyame Inc,a leadmg provider of computer science and STEM education courseware. The highly-interactive zyBooks platform enables leamers to Ienm by doing while allowing professors to be more efficient anc
.evote more time to hing, The p izes feamer and ion through d ion and hand leaming experiences using ive sets, i tools, and embedded labs. The zyBooks platform wil:
ecome an essential component oleley s differentiated digital learning experience and, when combined with the acquisition of Knewton's alta and adaptive leaming technology in May 2019, will power lower-cost, higher-impact education acros:
Viley's education business.

‘est Preparation and Certification

‘he Test Preparation and Certification busi p leami luti &rnining activities, and print and digital formats that are delivered to customers directly through online digital delivery platforms, bookstores, online booksellers, and othe
ustomers. Products include CPAExcel®, a modular, digital platf d of online self-study, videos, mobile apps, and sophisticated planning tools to help professionals prepare for the CPA exam, and test preparation products for ths

‘FA®, CMA®, CIA®, CMT®, FRM®, FINRA®, Banking, and PMP® exa;ns

Jicensing and Other
Acensing and distribution services are made available to other publishers under agency arrangements. We also engage in blishing titles with i | publishers and receive licensing revenue from ph pi prod {
nd digital uses of our content and use of the Knewton® adaptive engine.
‘rofessional Learning
‘rofessional Learning the majority of its revenue from contracts with its customers in the following revenue streams:
¢ Professional Publishing
¢ Licensing and Other
s Corporate Training
¢  Corporate Leaming
‘rofessional Publishing
rofessional books, which include busi and finance, technology, and other professional categories, as well as the For Duminies® brand, are sold to book and online b llers serving the general public, wholesalers who supply such
ookstores, warehouse clubs, college bookstores, individual practiti industrial izations and government agencies. We employ sales representatives who call upon independent bookstores, national and regional chain bookstores, ant
‘holesalers. Sales of professional books also result from direct mail campaigns, telemarketing, online access, advertising, and reviews in periodicals.

feccional di : hlichi coccianal nubli

Ve also promote active and growing custom p and Our custom p are used by professional organizations for intemal p and include digital and prin
ooks written specifically for a and izations of existing pubhcanons to include custom cover ar, such as imprints, messages, and slogans, More specific are ized For D ies publicati which | ge the power of thit
vell-known brand to meet the specific information needs of a wide range of organizations around the world.

.censing and Other
Jicensing and distribution services are made available to other publishers under agency arrangements. We also engage in copublishing titles with i ional publishers and receive licensing revenue from ph pi prod |
nd digital uses of our content. Wiley also realizes advertising revenue from branded websites (e.g., D ies.com) and online applicati

Jorporate Training

Jur corporate training businesses include high-demand soft-skills training solutions that are delivered to organizational clients through online digital delivery platfomls either directly or through an authorized distributor network of independen
onsultants, trainers, and coaches. Wiley’s branded assessment solutions include Everything DiSC®, The Five Behaviors® based on Patrick Lencioni’s p l b 11 The Five Dyvsfunctions of a Team, and Leadership Practices Inventory@
rom Kouzes and Posner’s bestselling The Leadership Challenge®, as well as PXT Select™, a prehire selection tool. Our solutions help organizations hire nnd develop effe teaders, and teams.




lorporate Learning

‘he corporate leaming business offers online leaming and training solutions for global corporati iversities, and small and medium-sized enterprises, which are sold on a subscription or fee basis. Leaming experiences, formats and modules o
spics such as leadership development, value creation, client ori ion, change and corp stmtegy are deli d on a cloud-based CrossKnowledge Learning M: System (LMS) platform that hosts over 20,000 conten
ssets (videos, digital learning modules, written files, etc.) in 19 ] Its offering includes a cotlaborative blishing and p tion system. R growth is derived from legacy markets, such as France, Germany, UK, anc
ther European markets, and newer markets, such as the US and Brazil. In addition, leaming experiences, content and LMS offenngs a.re i ly refreshed and expanded to serve a wider variety of customer needs. These digital leaming

olutions are either sold directly to corporate customers or through our global partners’ network.

‘ducation Services:

Jur Education Services segment consists of OPM services for higher education institutions and mthree talent pl for professionals and busi Key growth ies include i ing student 11 in existing OPM programs
igning new university partners and degree programs, and bridging the IT skills gap through talent development for corporations around the world. Education Services d for approxi ly 15% of our consolidated revenue in the year endec
spril 30, 2021, with a 18.0% Adjusted EBITDA margin. Education Services generated 100% of its revenue from digital and online products, and services.

iducation Services revenue by product type includes Education Services OPM and mthree. The graphs below present revenue by product type for the years ended April 30, 2021 and 2020:

l?/« Tu
Sc\ua OPM Sm OPM

Nn%

ducation Services OPM
ur Education Services gages in the comprehensi of online degree programs for universities and has grown to include a broad array of tech enabled service offerings that address our parter specific pain points
ncreasingly, this includes delivering full stack career credentialing education that advances specific careers with in-demand skills,
1s student demand for online degree and certificate programs i to i ditional institutions are partnering with OPM providers to develop and support these programs. Education Services OPM includ markex h, 4
tudent recruitment, enrollment suppor(_ proactive retention suppon, academic servlces |o design courses, faculty support, and access to the Engage Leammg Manngemen( System, which facili the online educati . Grad degre

8 include Busi Ad Finance, A Ith Ci and others. Revenue is derived from p with institutions that provide for a share of l\unon generated from student:
/ho enroll in a program. As of April 30, 2021, the Education Services OPM busmess had 66 university parters under contract. We are also ex(endmg the core OPM business and delivering a broader array of essential university and caree
redentialing services that the market is demanding and that leverage our core Wiley skills and assets. This full stack education includes teacher professional devel and IT skills training, through which we develop and deliver professiona
redits and job pl through our corp partners. In addition, Education Services OPM derives revenue from unbundled service offerings.
three
n January 1, 2020, Wiley acquired mthree, a rapidly growing talent pl provider that add: the IT skills gap by finding, training and placing job-ready technology talent m roles with leading corporations worldwide. mthree sources
:ains, and prepares aspiring students and professnonals to meet the Skl" needs of today’s tech careers, and then places them with some of the world's largest fi | panies, and gov tes. mthree also work:
vith its clients to retrain and retain existing employees so they can inue to meet the changing di ds of today’s technology landscap




uman ital

\s of April 30, 2021, we employed approximately 7,400 persons on a full-time equivalent basis worldwide.

\t Wiley, our people are one of our most significant assets and investments towards achieving our mission of unlocking human p ial. The ful leration of our gies and the delivery of innovative impact in research and educatior
epend on our ability to attract, develop, reward and retain a diverse population of talented, qualified and highly-skilled colleagues at all levels of our organization and across our global workforce. Our human capital management framework
1cludes programs, policies and initiatives that promote diversity, equity and inclusion; talent acquisiti ing employee leaming and devel 1 petiti P ion and benefits; safety and health; and emphasis on employe:

atisfaction and engagement.

Jur human capital metrics summary as of April 30, 2021:

Asof

"ATEGORY METRIC April 30,2021
IMPLOYEES By Region Americas 46%

APAC 17%

EMEA 37y
MVERSITY AND INCLUSION Global Gender Representation % Female Colleagues 53%

% Female Senior Leaders

(Vice President and Above) 38%

US Minority Representation® % Minority 28%
% Minority Senior Leaders
(Vice President and Above) 17%

US Minarity includes employees swho self-identify ns Hispanic or Latino, Black o Afiican American, Asian, American Indizn or Alaskan Native, Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Istnder, or two or more fces,
{ealth, Safety & Well-Being

«afeguarding and promoting our colleague’s well-being is central to what we do, as it is critically important that we provide the tools and resources employees need to be healthy and to be their best. We support our colleagues in maintaining thei
hysical, ional, social and fi ial well-being through working practices, education and benefit programs.

‘his became even more critical during the COVID-19 pandemic, where we acted quickly and with purpose to support our colleagues.

Seamlessly Transitioned Our Workforce
For the majority of our coll we lessly moved to a remote work environment:
*  Provided increased flexible work options.

*  Provided work-from-h support, including home office all . additional technol pplies, training and support resources on transitioning to remote team management,
*  For those required to go into the office we provided p | p i ip (PPE), frequent cleaning services and al d work schedules to maintain safety p 1
S fully Activated Busi Continuity Plans
¢ Our functional global crisis team met frequently, and i to do so, to review the latest guidance, create detailed return to work plans, update company protocols, and keep up to date on issues facing ou
colleagues around the globe.
*  Provided timely information and ication to coll d | materials, and additional support resources.

Colleague Safety and Well-Being First
Key actions were taken to protect the health, safety and well-being of our colleagues this past year which include:
¢ Providing pay continuation for any COVID-19 related absences, whether due to personal sickness, sick family member or dependent-care issues.
*  Pivoting to a digital well-being approach to meet our coll needs, providing on-d d resources, including a subscription to a mindful meditation and sleep app at no cost to all colleagues globally.

Jont : 1 4 1th

*  Expanding our global Employee Assistance Program to all countries that we operate in and adding/ g ine and/or h ¢ ge to ensure ge for COVID-19 related needs.
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diversity, Equity & Inclusion (DE&I)

Jur DE&I strategy is embedded in everything we do and throughout the entire employ peri with four key focus areas: Data-Driven Insights, Tenm Develop Inclusive Talent Prc and Busi L ion. We stand for diversity
1 all forms, equity throughout our policies and processes, and an inclusive culture where people feel like d\ey can be th Ives. We ished Employee Resource Groups suppomng our diverse culture and leveraged a series of education anc
-ainings on fostering an inclusive mindset. We signed the CEO Action for Diversity and Inclusion, a o ined, action to ad diversity and inclusive thin ior, and busi practices in the workplace. We alsc

roudly received a 100% score from the Human Rights Foundation for LGBTQ workplace equality.

“ulture, Engagement & Learning

in our coll 's develop and growth for both their current role and future roles is central to our culture. Wlley P ides develop progr skill devel courses and self-paced multi-language resources to help provid:
onsistent leaming offerings for our global communities. Leveraging Wiley’s CrossKnowledge platfc we offer il i which allow coll to share lessons leamed, best practices and interactive opportunities witt

1eir peers. We also focused on higher-ed programs and certifications with our Wiley Beyond platform, which offers access to university programs as well as technical and industry-recognized certification programs.

n an annual basis, we conduct our Talent Review process with our executive team, focusing on our high performing talent, diversity, and succession for our most critical roles. We are itted to identifying, growing, and retaining top talent. Wt
blished key devel action planning opportunities for each identified colleague to build our bench of future leaders.

Jur culture diffe i us as an organization and our core values define our behaviors, We ask colleagues to embody our three values — Leaming Champion, Needle Movers, and Courageous Teammates. We live by these values and they defin:
/ho we are as a company and what we stand for. They enable us to build our culture i Ily—and show our p and i that what we believe in drives our business. Our values empower our colleagues to achieve ou
aission of unlocking human potential.

inancial Inf ion About Buginess S

"he information set forth in Part IT, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” in Note 3, “R R ition, Ci with C " and Note 20, “Segment Information,” of the Notes to Cq lidated Fi ial § an
tem 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” of this Form 10- K are incorporated herein by reference. .

ilable Inf .
Jur Internet address is wwi.wiley.com. We make available, free of charge, on or through our investors.wiley.com website, our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments tc

10se reports that we file or furnish pursuant to Sections 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act, as soon as bly practicable after we el ically file these ials with, or fumish them to, the SEC. Th
1formation contained on, or that may be accessed through, our website is not incorporated by reference into, and is not a part of, this Form 10-K.

tem LA, Risk Factors

atroduction

"he risks described below should be carefully oonsidered before making an i decision. You should carefully ider all the information set forth in this Form 10-K, including the following risk factors, before decndmg to mvest in any o
ur securities. This Form 10-K also ins or may incorporate by refe forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. See the “Cautionary Notice Regarding Forward-Looking S g Part [, o
1is Form 10-K. The risks betow are not the only risk factors we face. Additional risks not currently known to us or that we presently deem insignificant could impact our consolidated financial position and results of operauons Our busmesses
onsolidated financial position, and results of ions could be ially ad ty affected by any of these risks. The trading price of our securities could decline due to any of these risks, and investors may lose all or part of their investment,
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. ic Rish

he

igoing COVID-19 demic may inue to impact our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

he ing COVID-19 pandemic, as well as inui undertaken to contain the spread of COVID-19, could continue to cause disruptions and have a significant impact on our business, including, but not limited to:

e declines in print book sales due to closings of retail bookstores;

*  declines in businesses that rely on in-person engagement, primarily test prep and corporate training;

*  delays in signing annual joumnal subscription agreements in certain parts of Europe and Asia due to challenges of remote selling and university disruption;

«  declines in subscription revenue due to continued library and academic budget challenges;

* delays in customer payments due to widespread disruption and pervasive cash conservation behaviors in the face of uncertainty;

* lower demand for early career technology talent due to client constraints, including the inuing closure of corp offices, staffing uncertainty, intemal contractor hiring restrictions and financial constraints.

y and inuing to assist new and existing who are also tly working y.

‘he outbreak also 1 10 present chall as the majority of our workforce is inuing to work

‘he COVID-19 pandemic may have the effect of heightening other risks identified in this section of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended April 30, 2021, such as those related to technology disruption and the adoption by colleges an¢
niversities of online delivery of their educational offerings. Despite our efforts to manage these risks, it is not possible for us to predict the duration or magnitude of the adverse impacts of the outbreak and its effects on our business, results o

perations or financial condition at this ime, but such effects may be material. The extent to which our busil results of operations and fi ial dition may be i d by the COVID-19 pandemic in the future will depend largely ot

ontinued developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be ly predicted, including new infi ion which may emerge conceming the severity of the outbreak, including variants of the virus, and actions taken by governmen

uthorities to contain the outbreak or treat its impact, including the effectiveness and dlsmbuuan of vaccines.

Ve may not be able to realize the expected benefits of our growth gies, which are described in Item 1. Busi) including fully integrating acquisiti which could adh ly impact our lidated fii ial position and result

f operations.

Jur growth strategy includes busi| isith including K ledg: bled services, which | our existing busi; Acquisitions may have a substantial impact on our consolidated financial position and results of operations

\cqu:smonsmvolve nisks and uncertainties, including difficulties in i i quired operations and in realiz P d opportunities, cost synergies, diversions of T and loss of key employees, challenges with respect t

p g new busi and other d

The demand for digital and lower cost books could impact our sales volumes and pricing in an adverse way.

\ common trend facing each of our businesses is the digitization of content and proti ion of distribution ch Is through the intemet and other electronic means, which are replacing traditional print formats. This trend towards digital conten

as also created contraction in the print book retail market which increases the risk of bankruptcy for certain retail customers, potentially leading to the disruption of short-term product supply to as well as p ial bad debt write

ﬁ's New distribution channels, such as digital formats, the intemet, online retailers, and growing delivery platforms (e.g., tablets and ders), bined with the ion of retailer power, present both risks and opportunities to ou
| publishing models, p ially i ing both sales vol and pricing.

\s the market has shifted to digital prodi ions for lower-priced prod have i d due to of reductions in production costs and the availability of free or low-cost digital content and products. As ¢

2sult, there has been pressure to sell digital versions of producs at prices below their print versions. Increased customer demand for lower prices could reducc our revenue.

Ve publish educational content for undergraduate, grad and ad d pl d lifelong leamers, and in Australia, for dary school stud Due to growing student demand for less expensive textbooks, many collegt
ookstores, online retailers, and other entities offer used or rental textbooks to smdents at lower prices than new textbooks. The internet has made the used and rental textbook markets more efficient and has significantly increased student access t
sed and rental books. Further expansion of the used and rental book markets could further adversely affect our sales of print textbooks, subsequently affecting our consolidated financial position and results of operations.
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| reduction in i at colleges and universities could ad Iy affect the de d for our higher education products.

il in US colleges and universities can be ad ly affected by many factors, including ch in g and private student Joan and grant programs, uncertainty about current and future i diti i in tuition
eneral decreases in family income and net worth, and a perception of uncertain job prospects for grad In addit 1l levels at colleg and universities outside the US are influenced by global and local economic factors, local politica
onditions, and other factors dm make predicting foreign enmllmem levels difficult. Reductions in expected levels of enroll at colleges and universities both within and outside the US could adversely affect demand for our higher educatior
ferings, which could ad ly impact our lidated fi I position and results of operations.
fwe are unable to retain key employees and other p I, our lidated fi ial condition or results of operations may be ad ly affected.

‘he Company and industry are highly dependent on the loyal of key leaders and professional staff. Loss of staff due to0 inadequate skills and career path develop or maintaini petitive salaries and benefits coul¢

ave significant impact on Company performance.

Ve are highly dependent on the continued services of key employees who have in-depth market and business knowledge and/or key relationships with business parters. The loss of the services of key personne! for any reason and our inability t

splace them with suitable candidates quickly or at all, as well as any negative market perception resulting from such loss, could have a material adverse effect on our busi lidated fi ial position, and results of operation.

Ve have a signifi i in our employees around the world. We offer competitive salaries and benefits in order to attract and retain the highly skilled workforce needed to sustain and develop new products and services required for growth
imployment costs are affected by petitive market conditions for qualified individuals, and factors such as healthcare and retirement benefit costs.

“he competitive pressures we face in our business, as well as our ability to retain our business relationships with our authors and professional sociefies, could ad ly affect our lidated fi ial position and results of operations.

‘he contribution of authors and theic pmfessmnal societies is ane of the more impartant elemems of the highly petitive publishing busi Succzss and continued growth depend greatly on developing new produm and the means to delive
1em in an envi of rapid technological change. A ing new authors and profe ! societies while retaining our existing busi 1 hips is critical to our success. If we are unable to retain our existing 1 hips with
uthors and professional societies, this could have an adverse impact on our lidated f ial position and results of op

f ion Technology S 1Cyt ity Rish

Jur campnny is Iughly depzmlm: on information technology systems and rhm i and -facing capabilities critical for the long-term petiti inability of the busi; These capabilities include busines.
e g and f ion, product develop and delivery, keting and sales inf ion and 4, and system ity

Ve must continue to invest in technology and other i ions to adapt and add value to our products and services to remain petitive. This is particularty true in the current envi where i in new technology is ing an
1ere are rapid changes in the prod peti are eﬂ'enng, vhe products our customers are seeking, and our sales and distribution channels. In some cases, investments will take the form of intenal development; in others, they may take th
arm of an acquisition. There are uncertainties wh lop s or acquiring new prod and services, and it is often possible that such new products and services may not be launched, or, if launched, may not be profitable or as profitable a
xisting products and services. If we are unable to introduce new logies, prod and services, our ability to be profitable may be adversely affected.

Ve may be ible to infe i hnology risks that may ad ly impact our busi; lidated fi ial position and results of operations.

aformation technology is a key pan of our business strategy and operanons As a business strategy, Wlley s technology enables us to provide customers with new and enhunced pmducts and services, and is critical to our success in migrating fron
rint to digital busi models. L hnology is also a fund 1 of all our busi p , collecting and reporting busi data, and Ily and lly with liers, employees, anc
thers.




Jur business is dependent on information technology systems to support our businesses. We provide intemet-based products and services to our We also use plex information technology sy and products to support our busines:
ctivities, particularly in infrastructure, and as we move our products and services to an increasingly digital delivery platform.

Ve face technological risks iated with intemet-based product and service delivery in our businesses, including with respect to information technology capability, reliability and security, i lanning, system i ant
pgrades. Failures of our inft i hnol and products (including because of operational failure, natural disaster, computer virus, or hacker attacks) could interrupt the availability of our intemet-based products and services, result ir

gY SY
orruption or loss of data or breach in security, nnd result in liability or reputational damage to our brands and/or adversely impact our consolidated financial position and results of operations.

1. doci 4

has and impl d policies, p and Is to miti; risks of infi i hnology failure and to provide security from unauthorized access to our systems. In addition, we have disaster recovery plans in plac«
> maintain business continuity. The size and complexity of our information technology and information security systems, and those of our !hlrd-pany vendors with whom we make such sy ially vulnerable to cyb

ommon to most industries from inadvertent or intentional actions by employees, vendors, or malicious third parties. Such attacks are of i g levels of sophisti and are made by groups and mdmduals wnh a wide range of motives
Vhile we have taken steps to address these risks, there can be no assurance that a system failure, disruption, or data security breach would not adversely affect our business and could have an adverse impact on our consolidated financial position an

zsults of operations,

Ve are inually improving and upgrading our p and soft . We are in the process of implementing a new global Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) system as part of a multiyear plan to i and upgrade our op

nd fi ial sy and p We have pleted the impl ion of d-to-report, purchase-to-pay, and several other busi within all locations through fiscal year 2017. We pleted the impl ion of order-t 4
or certain businesses in May 2018 and may inue to roll out additional p and functionality of the ERP system in phases in the fi ble future. [mp! ion of a new ERP system involves risks and inties. Any disruptions
elays, or deficiencies in the design or implementation of a new system cauld result in increased costs, dlsmpuons in operations, or delays in the coltection of cash from our customers, as well as having an adverse effect on our ability to timel;
eport our financial results, all of which could 1ally ad: y affect our busi lidated fi position and results of operations.

yber risk and the failure to maintain tire integrity of our op. { or ity systems or infrasty e, or those of third parties with which we do busi) could have a ial adverse effect on our busi lidated fi
ondition, and results of operations.

‘yberattacks and hackers nre becoming more sophisticated and pervasive. Our busi is d dent on inft i hnology sy to support our businesses. We provide intemet-based pmducts and services to our customers. We also us
omplex information technology sy and products to support our business activities, pamcularly in infrastructure and as we move our products and services to an increasingly digital delivery platfc Across our busi we hold persona

ata, including that of employees and

ifforts to prevent cyberattacks and hackers from entering our systems are expensive to implement and may limit the fi of our Y . Individuals may try to gain horized access to our sy and data for , an

ur security measures may fail to prevent such unauthorized access. Cyberanacks and/or intentional hacking of our sy could ad ly affect the performance or availability of our products, result in loss of customer data, adversely affcc( ou

bility to conduct business, or result in theft of our funds or proprietary inf ion, the of which could have an adverse impact on our consolidated financial position and results of operations.

)perational Riskg

Ve may not realize the anticipated cost savings and benefits from, or our busis may be disrupted by, our busi) sformation and restructuring efforts.

Ve continue to u'ansfonn our busi from a traditional publishing model to a global provider of content-enabled solutions with a focus on digital products and services. We have made several acquisitions over the past few years that represen
ples of itiatives that were impl d as part of our busi ion. We will inue to explore opponunmes to develop new business models and enhance the efficiency of our organizational structure. The rapid pace anc

cope of change increases the risk that not all our strategic initiatives will deliver the expected benefits within the anti In addition, these efforts may disrupt our business activities, which could adversely affect our consolidatec

inancial position and results of operations.




Ve continue to restructure and realign our cost base with current and anticipated future market diti Signifi nisks iated with these actions that may impair our ability to achieve the anticipated cost savings or that may disrupt ou

usiness include delays in the implementation of anticipated workforce reductions in highty lated locations outside of the US, decreases in employee morale, the failure to meet operational targets due to the loss of key employees, an

isruptions of third parties to whom we have d busi functi In additi our ability to achieve the anticipated cost savings and other benefits from these actions within the expecled timeframe is subject to many estimates an:
pti These esti and ptions are subject to ignifi j petitive, and other uncenainties, some of which are beyond our control. If these esti and p are if we experi delays, or if othe

nforeseen events occur, our busi and lidated fi | position and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Ve may not realize the anticipated cost savings and p. ing efficienci iated with the ing of certain business processes.

Ve have d certain busi functi principally in technology, content printing, housing, fulfillment, distribution, returns processing and certain other ional p; ing functi to third-party service provider:

b m:hxeve cost savmgs and efficiencies. If these third-party service prowdels do not perform effectively. we may not be able to achieve the anticipated cost savings, and d ding on the function involved, we may experience business disruption o

ineffi ies, all with p ial adverse effects on our lidated financial position and results of operati

‘hallenges and inti iated with operating in developing markets has a higher risk due to political instability, economic volatility, crime, terrorism, corruption, social and ethnic unrest, and other factors, which may adversel)

mpact our lidated fi ial position and results of operations.

Ve sell our prod to in certain ioned and previously ioned developing markets where we do not have operating subsidiaries. We do not own any assets or liabilities in these markets except for trade receivables. In the yea

nded Apnil 30, 2021, we recorded an immaterial amount of revenue and net eamings refated to sales to Cuba, Iran, Sudan, and Syria. As of April 30, 2021, we discontinued sales with Iran. While sales in these markets are not material to ou

onsolidated financial position and results of operati adverse develop related to the risks associated with these markets may cause actual results to differ from historical and fi d future lidated operating results.

Ve have certain technol devel perati in Russia and Sr Lanka related to devel and archi digital content production, and system testing services. Due to the political instability within these regions, there is th

otential for future government embargos and sanctions, which could disrupt our operations in this area. While we have developed business continuity plans to address these issues, further adverse developments in the region could have a materia

npact on our lidated fi | p and results of op

pproxi fy 27% of R h journal articles are sourced from authors in China. Any restrictions on exporting intellectual property could adv ly affect our busi and lidated fi ial position and results of operations,

n our journal publishing business, we have a trade concentration and credit risk related to subscription agents, and in our book business the industry has a ion of in national, regional, and online bookstore chains

“hanges in the fu ial position and liquidity of our subscription agents and could adv ly impact our lidated fi ial position and results of operations.

« the jounal publishing business, subscriptions are primarily sourced through joumal subscription agents who acting as agems for llbrary customers, facilitate ordering by consolidating the subscription orders/billings of each subscriber witt
arious publishers. Cash is Ily collected in adh from subscribers by the subscription agents and is p- ipally to us the months of December and April. Although at fiscal year-end we had minimal credit risk exposure tc
1ese agents, future calendar-year subscription receipts from these agents are highly d dent on their fi | condition and li

q Y.

.ubscription agents account for approximately 20% of total annual consolidated revenue and no one agent accounts for more than 10% of total annual consolidated revenue.

Jur book business is not dependent upon a single customer; however, the industry is d in national, regional, and online book chains. Although no book customer accounts for more than 9% of total consolidated revenue and 13% o
ccounts receivable at Apri! 30, 2021, the top 10 book account for approxi ly 13% of total lidated revenue and approxi ly 22% of receivable at April 30, 2021,
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inancial

“hanges in global economic conditions could impact our ability to borrow funds and meet our future financing needs.

‘hanges in global financial markets have not had, nor do we anticipate they will have, a significant impact on our liquidity. Due to our signifi perating cash flow, financial assets, access to capital markets, and available lines of credit anc
-volvmg credit agreements, we continue to belleve that we have the ability to meet our financing needs for the foreseeable fumre As market conditions change we will continue to momtor our liquidity position. However, there can be no assuranc:
1at our liquidity or our lid position and results of operations will not be adv y affected by possible future ch in global fi ial markets and global diti Unprecedented market conditions includi

liquid credn markets, volatile equity markets, dramatic fluctuations in foreign currency rates, and economic recession could affect future results.

Tluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates could materially impact our lidated fi ial condition and results of operations.

J

lon-US revenues, as well as our substantial non-US net assets, expose our consolidated results to volatility from changes in foreign currency exchange rates. The percentage of consolidated revenue for the year ended April 30, 2021 recognized it
a¢ following currencies (on an equivalent US dollar basis) were approximately: 55% US dollar, 27% British pound sterling, 11% euro, and 7% other currencies. In addition, our interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subject to risk from change:
1 interest rates. These risks and the measures we have taken to help mitigate them are discussed in Part II, ltem 7A, “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk,” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We may, from time to time
se derivative instruments to hedge such risks. Notwnhstandmg our efforts to foresee and mmgate the effects of changes in external market or fiscal circumstances, we cannot predict with certainty changes in foreign currency exchange rates anc

1terest rates, inflation, or other related factors affecting our business, lidated fi position, and results of operations.

fiduted fi inl

Ve may not be able to mitigate the impact of inflation and cost increases, which could have an adverse impact on our i /

P and results of operations.
‘rom time to time, we experience cost increases reflecting, in part, general inflationary factors. There is no guarantee that we can increase selling prices or reduce costs to fully mitigate the effect of inflation on our costs, which may adversely impac
ur consolidated financial position and results of operations.

\s a result of acquisitions, we have and may record a significant amount of goodvill and other identifiable intangible assets and we may never realize the full carrying value of these assets.

\s a result of acquisitions, we recorded a significant amount of goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets. At April 30, 2021, we had $1,304.3 million of goodwill and $1,015.3 mxlhon of intangible assets, of which $130.0 rmllmn are

1definite-lived intangible assets, on our Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. The i ible assets are principall posed of content and publishing rights, lationships, brands and trad ks, and developed tech

‘ailure to achieve business objectives and financial pmjecnons could result i in an asset impairment, which would resuh in a noncash charge to our lid d results of operati Goodwill and i ible assets with indefinite lives are tested fo:

mpairment on an annual basis and when events or ch in di that impairment may have occurred. Intangible assets with definite lives, which were 5885 3 million at April 30, 2021, are lested for impairment only when event:

r changes in circumstances mdncate that an nmpamnem may have occurred. Determining whether an impairment exists can be difficult as a result of increased uncertainty and current market dy ics, and req to make significan
i and jud; A ible asset i charge could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position and results of operations. See Note 11, “Goodwill and Intangible Assets” for further information

slated to goodw:ll and intangible assets, and the impairment charges recorded in the year ended April 30, 2020.

“hanges in pension costs and related funding requirements may impact our lidated fi ial position and results of operations.
Ve provide defined benefit pension plans for cemun employees worldwide. Our Board of Di Pp! d d to the US, Canada and UK defined benefit plans that froze the future accumulation of benefits effective June 30, 2013
Yecember 31, 2015, and April 30, 2015, resp: ly. The funding requi and costs of these plans are dependent upon various factors, including the actual retum on plan assets, discount rates, plan participant population demographics, anc
hanges in global pension regulations. Changes in lhese factors affect our plan funding, fidated fi I position, and results of aperations.
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al. lat and Compliance Risks

The inty ding the impl ion and effect of Brexit may cause increased economic volatility, affecting our operations and business.
g P 1y

In January 31, 2020, the UK exited the European Union (referred to as Brexit). There followed an implementation period, during which EU law continued to apply in the UK and the UK maintained its EU single market access rights and EU
ustoms union bership. The impl ion period expired D ber 31, 2020. Ci ly, the UK has become a third country vis-a-vis the EU, without access to the single market or membership of the E.U. customs union.

he UK and the EU have signed an EU-UK Trade and Coopemnon Agreement, or TCA, which became provisionally applicable on January 1, 2021 and will become formally applicable once ratified by both the UK and the EU. The EU requestet
n extension and the UK agreed to postpone the pi pplication to April 30, 2021. On April 28, 2021, Parliament formally upproved the TCA. This agreement provides details on how some aspects of the UK and EU’s relationship wil
perate going forward however there are still many uncentainties and how the TCA will take effect in practice is still largely unknown. This lack of clarity on future UK laws and regulations and their interaction with the EU laws and regulations ma:
egatively impact foreign direct investment in the UK, increase costs, depress economic activity and restrict access to capital.

‘he uncertainty concerning the UK'’s legal i and ic relationship with the EU after Brexit may be a source of instability in the i ional k create signifi fl i and/or otherwise adversely affect tradiny
g or similar border co-op ar {whether ic, tax, fiscal, legal, regulatory, or otherwise) beyond the date of Brexit.

\dditional Brexit-related impacts on our business could include p i hortag m the UK, i d regulatory burdens and costs to comply with UK-specific lations and higher ion costs for our products coming intc
ad out of the UK. Any of these effects, among others, could matenally and adversely affect our busi and lidated fi ial position and results of operations.

“hanges in laws, tariffs, and regulati including regulations related to open access, could adv ly impact our lidated fi ial position and results of operations.

Ve maintain operations in Asia, Australia, Canada, Europe and the US. The conduct of our busi including the ing of content, distribution, sales, marketing, and advertising, is subject to various laws and regulations administered by
‘overnments around the world. Changes in laws, | or g policies, including tax regulations and ing dards, may ad ly affect our future consolidated financial position and results of operations.

‘he scientific h publishing industry much of its revenue from paid customer subscriptions to online and print journal content. There is debate within govement, academic, and library communities whether such joumnal conten
hould be made available for free i diately or following a period of embargo after publication, referred to as “open access,” For instance, certain governments and privately held funding bodies have implemented mandates that require jouna

rticles derived from govemment-funded research to be made available to the public at no cost after an embargo period. Open access can be achieved in two ways: Green, which enables authors to publish articles in suhscrip!ion-based journals anc
{f-archive the author pted version of the article for free public use aﬁer an embargo period, and Gold, which enables authors to publish their articles in journals thal provide immediate free access to the final version of the article on th:
ublisher’s Web site, and elsewhere under permissive li g terms, fi g pay of an APC. These mandates have the potential to put pressure on subscri based publicati If such lati are widely implemented, ou
onsolidated financial position and results of operations could be adversely affected.

"o date, the majority of govemnments that have taken a posmon on open access have favored the Green model and have generally specified embargo periods of twelve months, The publishi i Ity takes the view that this perioc
hould be sufficient to protect subscripti . P d that publish platforms offer sufficient added value to the article. Governments in Europe have been more suppomve of the Gold model, which thus far is generating incrementa
2venue for publishers with active open access progr Several Europ d are showing interest in a busi mode! which combines the purchasing of subscription content with the purchase of open access publishing for authors i

1eir respective countries. This development removes an element of risk by fixing revenues from that macket, provided that the terms, price, and rate of transition negotiated are acceptable.
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tidated fi .y

“hanges in tax laws could have a material impact on our and results of operations.

J P
Ve are subject to tax laws in the jurisdictions where we conduct business, including the US and many forelg'\ jurisdicti In addition to tax law changes in the US, ch in tax laws and interpretations in other jurisdictions where we do business
uch as the UK and Germany, as well as ch proposed by the Organization for E ic Co-op and Devel {OECD) and adopted by OECD member countries, could significantly impact the taxation of our earnings. On June 10
021, the UK increased its corporate tax rate from 19% to 25% effective Apnl 2023. During our year ended April 30, 2021, more than half of our consolidated pretax income was from the UK. See Note 22, “Subsequent Evems for further details
egarding the estimated impact. In addition, there are proposals to increase the rate and otherwise change US tax laws which could significantly increase our tax rate. We are also subject to } taxes and lations in j ions where wi
ave sales even though we do not have a physical presence. These taxes and potential taxes could have a material impact on our consolidated financial position and results of operations as most of our income is earned outside the US In addition, wt
re subject to audit by tax authorities and are regularly audited by various tax auvhonnes Although we believe our tax i are ble, the final determination of tax audits could be ially diffe from our historical income ta
rovisions and accruals, and could have a material impact on our lidated fi | position and results of op

Jur intellectual property rights may not be protected, which could adh ly affect our lidated fis ial position and results of operations.

\ substantial portion of our publications are protected by copyright, held either in our name, in the name of the author of the work, or in the name of a sponsoring professional society. Such copyrights protect our exclusive right to publish the worl
1many countries abmad for specnﬁed periods, in most cases, the author’ 's life plus 70 years, but in any event, a minimum of 50 years for works published after 1978. Our ablllty to continue to achieve our expected results depends in part, upon ou

bility to protect our intell property rights. Our lidated fi | position and results of operations may be adversely affected by lack of legal and/or technol p ions for its intell property in some jurisdictions and markets.

\ disruption or loss of data sources could limit vur collection and use of certain kinds of information, which could ady ly impact our ication with our

.evera! of our businesses rely extensively upon content and data from external sources. Data is obtained from public records, govemmentat authonnes customers and other information panies, includi peti Legal Jati such a
1e European Union’s General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), relating to intemet communications, privacy and data p 3 and use of publlc records, are becoming more prevalent worldwide. The
isruption or loss of data sources, either because of changes in the law or because data suppliers decide not to supply lhem may impose hmls on our collecuon and use of certain kinds of information about individuals and our ability tc
ommunicate such information effectively with our In addition, GDPR imp a strict data protection compliance regime with severe penalties of up to 4% of worldwide revenue or €20 million, whichever is greater.

f we fail to maintain proper and effective internal controls, our ability to prod.  fil ial on a timely basis could be impaired.

Ve are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Sart Oxley Act (Sarb. Oxley Act) and the rules and regulations of the New York Stock Exch The Sarb Oxley Act requires, among othe:
1ings, that we maintain effective discl Is and p: di and intemal control over financial reporting. We are required to perform system and process evaluations and testing of our intemal control over financial repcmng to nllov
1anagement to report on the effectiveness of our intemat comrol over financial reporting in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxiey Act. This may require us to incur sub ial additional p

2es and intemal costs to further expand our ing and finance functions and expend sigr efforts.

Ve may in the future discover material weaknesses in our system of internal fi ial and Is and proced that could result in a ial mi of our fi ial In addition, our internal control over financia
2porting will not prevent or detect all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well desngned and operated, can provide only ble, not absol that the control system’s objectives will be met. Because of the inheren

.mitations in all contro! systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absol that due to errors or fraud will not occur, or that all control issues and instances of fraud will be detected.

f we are not able to comply with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act in a timely manner, or if we are unable to maintain proper and effective intemal controls, we may not be able to produce timely and accurate financia
tatements. If that were to happen, the market price of our stack could decline and we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by the SEC, or other regulatory authorities.
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‘he trading price of the shares of our stock may fli ially, and i of our stock could incur substantial losses. '
Jur stock price may fluctuate materially. The stock market in general has experienced significant volatility that has often been lated to the operating perf of panies. As a result of this volatility, investors may not be able to sell thei
ommon stock at or above the price paid for the shares. The market price for our common stock may be influenced by many factors, including:

* actual or anticipated changes in our lidated operating results;

. i b actual lidated operating results and the exp ions of ities analysts, inve and the fi ial o

« changes in financial estimates by us or by any securities analysts who might cover our stock;
* conditions or trends in our industry, the stock market or the economy; .
» the level of demand for our stock, the stock market price and volume fluctuations of comparable companies;

. by us or our competitors of new product or service offerings, significant acqui gic p hips or di

. of investigations or latory scrutiny of our operations or lawsuits filed against us;

e capital commitments;

LI * general perception of the Company and our b

¢ recruitment or departure of key personnel; and

¢ salesof our stock, including sales by our di and officers or specific stockholders.
|dverse publicity could negatively impact our rep ion, which could adversely affect our lidated fi il position and results of operations.
Jur professional customers worldwide rely upon many of our publications to perform their jobs. It is imperative that we ly d our ability to maintain the integrity of the information included in our publicati Ad publicity
vhether valid or not, may reduce demand for our publications and ad: ty affect our fidated ial position and results of op

tem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

lone.

2t




tem 2. Properties

Ve occupy office, warehouse, and distribution facilities in various parts of the world, as listed below (excluding those locations with less than 10,000 square feet of floor area, none of which is considered material property). All of the buildings an¢
1e equipment owned or leased are believed to be in good operating condition and are suitable for the conduct of our business.

Location

Purpose

Owned or Leased

Approx. Sq. Ft.

Inited States:

iew Jersey Corporate Héadquarters 3
lorida Office
ilifois Office 1
lentucky Office
adiana_ Office - n}
Ainnesota Office
Aassach Office = : P p g B
‘alifornia Offices
oXAs (iffice ™ 0 ,;’Lm o P ~ !l,UUJ O i i }
sicrmntional -]
ingland Distribution Centers Le'aigd 298 000
. Utfices Leased 102,000 }
Offices Owned 70,000
iemany. = Qffige . = ) (\_EE-I' FR - 104,000 75 — ==y
Office Leased 18,000
adia ‘Distribution Cénters Leased i, 12,0007 1
Office Leased 25,000
‘rance Offices Leased J
\ingapore Office Leased
tomialia D il Uthccs Teased 1
i Lanka Office Leased
Qssta T fifice, ~ Leassd - ? ™
ordan Office
Aina’ i - Affica o~ = : T il |
jreece Office
:anady - (¥Rce ; i 066 ’ pua|
trazil Office 12,000
tem 3. Legal Proceedings
‘he information set forth in Part I, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” in Note 16, “C and C idated Financial S is incorp d herein by refe
Ve are involved in routine litigation in the ordinary course of our business. In the opinion of | of all pending litigation will not have a material effect upon our lidated fi ial position or results o:
perations.
tem 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
lot applicable.
22

NDEX




n tion Our E ive Officel

.et forth below are the current executive officers of the Company. Each of the officers listed will serve until the next organizational meetings of the Board of Directors of the Company, and until each of the respective successors are duly elected anc
ualified.

First Elected to
{ame, Current and Former Positions Age Current Position

SRIAN A NAPACK 59 December 2017
‘resident and Chief Executive Officer and Director
4arch 2012 - Senior Advisor, Providence Equity Partners LLC

60 July 2013
‘xecutive Vice President and Chief Financiat Officer
Yctober 2012 — Senior Vice President of Busi 0 i Organizational Planning & Structure at WebMD Health Corp
JEIRDRE SILVER 53 February 2020
xecutive Vice President, General Counsel
sugust 2015 - Associate General Counsel, Senior Vice President of Legal, Research

64 - October 2016

‘xecutive Vice President and General Manager, Research
)ctober 2011 - President - Global Enterprise and Education, Rosetta Stone Inc.
‘HRISTOPHER F. CARID{ 55 October 2020
enior Vice President, Global Corporate Controller, and Chief Accounting Officer
une 2020 - SVP, Chief Accounting Officer and Controller, Teladoc Health, Inc.
4arch 2017 - SVP, Chief A ing Officer and C ler, John Wiley & Sons
Aarch 2014 ~ Vice President, Finance, Thomson Reuters
eptember 2009 — Vice President, Controller/Global Head of Accounting Operations, Thomson Reuters
E MON 57 October 2018
enior Vice President, Treasurer and Tax
)ctober 2009 — SVP, Finance, Treasurer, and Investor Relations, Coty I[nc.
f 62 May 2018
‘xecutive Vice President, Chief Technology Officer
‘ebruary 2015 ~ Executive Vice President, Chief Technology Officer, Ascend Leamning
uly 2012 - Executive Vice President, Chief Technology Officer, Pearson Leaming Technologics & Pearson Higher Education
4ATTHEW LEAVY 53 September 2019
xecutive Vice President and General Manager, Educational Publishing
eptember 2018 ~ SVP, Business Development
enuary 2018 - Principal Leavy Consulting LLC
wgust 2013 - Managing Director Global Managed Services, Pearson plc
JANIELLE MCMAHAN 46 November 2019
xecutive Vice President, Chief People & Operations Officer
une 2017 - Chief Human Resaurces Officer, York Risk Services Group
uly 2014 - VP, Global Talent, American Express
‘ODD ZIPPER 44 June 2020
ixecutive Vice President and General Manager, Education Services
i ber 2018 — Co-President, Wiley Education Services

anuary 2015 — President and CEO, The Leaming House, Inc
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'ART II
tem S. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Jur Class A and Class B shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbols JW.A and JW B, respectively.

n a quarterly basis, the Board of Di iders the pay of cash dividends based upon its review of i our fi ial position, and other relevant factors. As of May 31, 2021, the approximate number of holders of our Class A anc
‘lass B Common Stock were 704 and 50, respectively, based on the holders of record.

Juring the year ended April 30, 2020, our Board of Di pproved an additional share repurchase program of $200 million of Class A or B Common Stock. This share repurchase program is in addition to the share repurchase program approve«
y our Board of Directors during the year ended April 30, 2017 of four million shares of Class A or B Common Stock. .

Juring the fourth quarter of 2021, we made the following purchases of Class A and Class B Common Stock under these publicly announced stock repurchase programs.

Maximum Dollar Value

Total Number Mazimum Number of Shares that May Yet
of Shares Purchased of Shares that Be Purchased Under
Total Number Average Price as Part of a Publicly May Be Purchased Additional Plans or Programs
of Shares Purchased Paid Per Share Annocunced Program Under the Program {Dollars in millions)
=3 - - 659,906 5. 200}
124,226 52.59 124,226 535,680 200
{pril 2021 38,483 5637 38,483 497197 200]
‘otal 162,709 $ 53.49 162,709 497,197 $ 200

tem 6. [Reserved)
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tem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

‘he i jon in our M: ’s Di ion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (MD&A) should be read together with our C fidated Financial S and related notes set forth in Part II, ltem 8, as well a:
1e discussion included in Part I, Item 1, “Business,” “Cautionary Notice Regarding Forward-Looking Statements “Safe Harbor” Statement under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995™ and “Non-GAAP Financial Measures,” alon;
7th Part [, Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. All and p are ap i due to ding and all dollars are in thousands, except per share amounts or where otherwise noted. When we cross-referenct
> a*“Note,” we are referring to our “Notes to C. lidated Financial § " in Part I, I(em 8, “Fmancml Stulemems and Supplememary Data” unless the context indicates otherwise.

Iverview

Viley is a global leader in h and educati locking human p ial by enabling di Yy, powering education, and shaping workforces. For over 200 years, Wiley has fueled the world’s knowledge ecosystem. Today, our high-impac

ontent, ptatforms, and services help
eenerated by digital products, and services.

, learners, institut and

porations achieve their goals in an ever-changing world. Wiley is a predominantly digital pany with imately 82% of in the year ended April 30, 2021

PP

Ve repont financial information for the following segments, as well as a Corporate category, which includes certain costs that are not allocated to the reportable segments:

*  Research Publishing & Platforms
+  Academic & Professional Leamning
«  Education Services

'hrough the Research Publishing & Platforms we prowde p iewed STM publishing, content platforms, and refated services to academi P and gove demi ieties, and individual r hers. The

P ional Leamning des Ed Publishing and Professional Leaming content and , training and leaming services, to stud: professionals, and corporati The Education Services p!
PM services for academic institutions and tnlem placement services for professionals and businesses.

Viley’s business strategies are tightly aligned with accelerating growth trends, including open research, online education, and digital curriculum. Research strategies include driving publishing output to meet the i ing d d for p

2search and expandmg platform and service offerings for corporations and societies. Ed ies include expanding online degree programs and driving online enrollment for university partners, scaling digital content and courseware, ant
panding IT talent p for corp partners.

Jur revenue results continued to be impacted by COVID-19. We also inued to g ignifi COVID-19 related cost savings due to the cancellation of travel and events and lower facility related exp which are di d in mon

etail by segment below. We are taking actions to sustain much of these savings in our post-pandemic operations. See “Fiscal Year 2022 Outlook” below for further details of our fiscal year 2022 Outlook.
onsolidated Results of Operations

‘ISCAL YEAR 2021 AS COMPARED TO FISCAL YEAR 2020 SUMMARY RESULTS

tevenue:

‘evenue for the year ended April 30, 2021 increased $110.0 million, or 6%, as compared with the prior year. This increase was mainly driven by the following factors:

* anincrease in Research Publishing & Platforms, which included the contributions from Hindawi, which was acquired on December 31, 2020; and
¢ anincrease in Education Services, due to the contributions from mthree, which was acquired in January 2020, and growth in online program management services,

‘hese increases were partially offset by a decline in Academic & Professional Learning.

)n a constant currency basis, revenue increased 4% as compared with the prior year. Excluding the i ic impact of isiti organic revenue on a constant currency basis increased 1%.

25
NDEX




«ee the “Segment Operating Results” below for additional details on each segment's revenue and Adjusted EBITDA performance.
“ost of Sales:

‘ost of sales for the year ended April 30, 2021 increased $34.3 million, or 6%, as compared with the prior year. Gross margin was consistent with the prior year at approximately 32.2%. On a constant currency basis, cost of sales increased 4% as
ompared with the prior year. This increase was primarily due to the impact from the acquisition of mthree and, to a lesser extent, higher royalty costs. These factors were partially offset by lower marketing costs for our Education Services business

Iperating and Administrative Expenses:

Y 4

and inistrative exp for the year ended April 30, 2021 increased $25.3 million, or 3%, as compared with the prior year. On a constant currency basis, operating and administrative expenses increased 1% as compared with the priot
ear primarily reflecting the impact of the acquisitions of Hmdnm and rnthree hxgher technology related costs and, to a lesser extent, higher annual incentive compensation. These factors were partially offset by lower facilities and occupancy
zlated costs due to the real estate actions taken as part of our Busi O program as described below, employee benefit and retirement related expenses, and to a lesser extent, COVID-19 related expense savings and other business
ptimization gains.

testructuring and Related Charges:

tusiness Optimization Program

‘or the years ended April 30, 2021 and 2020, we recorded pretax restructuring charges of $33.4 million and $32.8 million, respectively related to this program. We anticipate $9.0 million in run rate savings from these actions in fiscal 2022.

n November 2020, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic and the Company's | ition to a virtual work environment, we increased use of virtual work for p demi i As a result, we expanded the scope o:

1e Business Optimization Program to lnclude ﬂle exit of certain leased office space beginning in the third quarter of fiscal 2021, and the reduction of our occupancy at other facilities. We are reducmg our real estate square footage occupancy by
pproximately 12%. These actions lted in a pretax ing charge of $18.3 million in the three months ended January 31, 2021.

n addition, we also incurred ongoing facility-related costs associated with certain properties that resulted in additional restructuring charges of $3.7 million in the year ended April 30, 2021.
‘hese actions are anticipated to yield annualized cost savings estimated to be approximately $8.0 million. We anticipate ongoing facility-related costs associated with certain properties to result in additional restructuring charges in future periods.

"hese charges are reflected in Restructuring and related charges in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss). See Note 7, “Restructuring and Related Charges” for more details on these charges.

ing and Rei; Program

‘or the years ended April 30, 2021 and 2020, we recorded pretax restructuring credits of $0.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively, related to this program. These credits are reflected in Restructuring and related charges in the Consolidatet
‘tatements of Income (Loss). See Note 7, “Restructuring and Related Charges” for more details on these credits.

‘or the impact of our i on diluted ings per share, see the section below, “Diluted Eamings per Share (EPS).”

\mortization of Intangible Assets:

umortization of intangible assets was $74.7 million for the year ended April 30, 2021, an increase of $12.2 million, or 20%, as compared with the prior year. On a constant currency basis, amortization of i ible assets i d 18% as p
vith the prior year primarily due to the intangibles acquired as part of the Hindawi and mthree acquisiti pleted in fiscal year 2021 and 2020, respectively. See Note 4, “Acquisitions” for more details on our acquisitions.
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)perating Income (Loss), Adjusted Contribution to Profit (CTP) and Adjusted EBITDA:

Iperating income for the year ended April 30, 2021 was $185.5 million compared with the prior year operating loss of $54.3 million. The increase in operating income was pnmnnly due to the prior year impairment of goodwill and intangible:
ssets of $202.3 million as described below and, to a lesser extent, an increase in revenue. This was partially offset by an increase in cost of sales, and operating and ad: Xp and, to a lesser extent, an increase in amortization o
1tangible assets as described above,

\djusted CTP and Adjusted EBITDA on a constant currency basis and excludmg restructuring charges and the impairment of goodwill and intangible assets, u\creased 20% and 16% respecuvely, as compared with the prior year. The increase ir
rdjusted CTP and Adjusted EBITDA was primanly due to perft described above, partially offset by higher cost of sales and, to a lesser extent, an in op g and admini ve exp In addition, the i it
rdjusted CTP was partially offset by higher depreciation and amortization.

|djusted CTP
telow is a reconciliation of our lidated US GAAP Operating [ncome (Loss) to Non-GAAP Adjusted CTP:
Year Ended
April 30,
2021 2020

1S GAAP {nerafine Incame (1.ass) " 9 b = : TR T — P ) et RSN S L (54.787).
djustments: .
(= Restructmiring and retated chatges o : ot : - ™ — oot « P e 3N 32,607)

Impairment of goodwill — 110,000
{Z Impairment of Blackwell tradé name - s L P = e 89,507

Impai of developed technology 1 ibl — 2,841
(Gn-CAAK Adjudted CLP ™ 0T S A by g " o T T i T e L 218821 TG roemd e 160660 ]
\djusted EBITDA
telow is a reconciliation of our consolidated US GAAP Net Income (Loss) to Non-GAAP EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA:

Year Ended
April 30,
2021 2020

iet Income (Loss) - - $_ 148,256 " $ (74,287)
aterest expense ) 18,383 24, 9_§9_
Tovislon fut Invonte taxes " T — — 7 - ¥ v 21,830 T - 11, 1931
Jepreciation and amortization 200,189 175,127
10n-GAAP EBITDA . ; 394,484 7136994 ]
mpairment of goodmll and mumglble assets _ 202,348
Leotrartiining ond relotod vharase : L A e ST A M v i Tty T LAl ™ P S 331 - e 30.007]
orelgn exchange transaction losses (g:uns) 71977 (2,773)
Mies bicome g R I T — - T S (16,701 (18 381
{on-GAAP Adjusted EBITDA ) $ 419,010 $ 355,795

nterest Expense:

aterest expense for the year ended April 30, 2021 was $18.4 million compared with the prior year of $25.0 million. This decrease was due to a lower weighted average effective borrowing rate, partially offset by higher average debt balance:
utstanding, which included borrowings for the funding of acquisitions in fiscal years 2021 and 2020.

‘oreign Exchange Transaction (Losses) Gains:

‘oreign exchange transaction losses were $8.0 million for the year ended April 30, 2021 and were due to the unfavorable impact of the changes in exchange rates on US doliar cash balances held in the UK to fund the acquisition of Hindawi, and th
et impact of changes in average foreign exchange rates as compared to the US dollar on our third-party accounts receivable and payable balances.
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‘oreign exchange transaction gains were $2.8 million for the year ended April 30, 2020 and were primarily due to the net impact of changes in average foreign exchange rates as compared to the US dollar on our third-party accounts receivable anc
ayable balances.

'rovision for Income Taxes:

telow is a reconciliation of our US GAAP Income (Loss) Before Taxes to Non-GAAP Adjusted Income Before Taxes:

Year Ended
April 30,
2021 2020

JS GAAP Income (Loss) Before Taxes h : s 175012 § (A3,097)
‘retax Impact of Adjustments:

Restructuring and related charges ’ 33,310 32,607

Foreign exchange (gains) losses on intercompany transactions (1,457) 1,256

Impairmont of goodwill _ o . — 110,000

Impairment of Blackwell trade name _ 89,307

" Impairment of developed technology imfangible ™~ T T - 2.841
{on-GAAP Adjusted Income Before Taxes $ 207,765 $ 173,119
telow is a reconciliation of our US GAAP Income Tax Provision to Non-GAAP Adjusted Income Tax Provision, including our US GAAP Effective Tax Rate and our Non-GAAP Adjusted Effective Tax Rate:

Year Ended
April 30,
o 2021 2020

IS GAAP Income Tax Provision $ 27656 § 11,195
ncome Tax Impact of Adjustments | M.

Restructuring and related charges’ ) T 8,065 7,849 |

_ Foreign exchange (gamsf losses on intercompany transactions (363) 242

Impairment of Blackwel trade nante - . . 15,216

Impairment of developed technology intangibl — 686
ncome Tax Adjusiments: . _

Impact of increase in UK statutory rate on deferred tax balances @ (3.511) —_

Impact of US CARES Act @) 13,998 -

Impact ofchange in certain US state tax rates in 2021 and tax rates in France in 2020 (3.225) 1,887
ion-GAAP A Adjusted Income Tax Provision [ 12,620 3 1,178
15 GAAT Eifecilve Taa Raic A - o B 15 7% ' (17.7%
{on-GAAP Adjusted Effective Tax Rate 20.3% 21.5%

1) For the year ended April 30, 2021, except for the $8.4 million current tax impact from the US CARES Act noted below, substantially all of the tax impact was from deferred taxes. For the year ended April 30, 2020, the tax impact was $1.¢
million from current taxes and $22.6 million from deferred taxes.

2} These adjustments impacted deferred taxes in the year ended April 30, 2021 and 2020.

3) The tax impact was $8.4 million from current taxes and $5.6 million from deferred taxes in the year ended April 30, 2021.

he effective tax rate was 15.7% for the year ended April 30, 2021, compared to a tax expense rate of 17.7% on a pretax loss for the year ended April 30, 2020. Our rate for the year ended April 30, 2021 benefitted by $14.0 million from the
loronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the CARES Act) and certain regulations issued in late July 2020, which enabled us to carry back certain US net operating losses (NOLs), reducing our tax for the year ended April 30, 202(
ompared to prior estimates, This benefit was partially offset by (a) $3.5 million from an increase in the official UK statutory rate during our three months ended July 31, 2020 resulting in our taxes in nun-US income increasing our effective incomq
i rate and (b) a $3.2 million increase in our state tax expense due to increasing our deferred tax liabilities in ion with our ded p! in additional states g from COVID-19 and employees working in additionat locati Th
7.7% vax expense rate on a pretax loss for the year ended April 30, 2020 was primarily due to the $110.0 million non-deductible impairment of goodwill. Excluding the benefit fmm the CARES Act and expense from the UK rate change, the chang
1 our state tax expense and a lower tax benefit from our restructuring charges and foreign exchange gains, the Non-GAAP Adjusted Effective Tax Rate for the year ended April 30, 2021 was 20.5%. The Non-GAAP Adjusted Effective Tax Rate fo
1e year ended April 30, 2020, excluding the impact of the $110.0 million impairment of goodwill and other items included in the table above was 21.5%. The decrease in the Non-GAAP Adjusted Effective Tax Rate before these items was due to :
10re favorable mix of eamnings for the year ended April 30, 2021.
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a connection with the CARES Act and certain regulations, we carried back our April 30, 2020 US NOL to our year ended April 30, 2015 and claimed a $20.7 million refund. The refund plus interest was received in February 2021. The NOL wa:
arried back to fiscal year 2015 when the US corporate tax rate was 35%. The carryback to a year with a higher rate, plus certain additional net p deductions included in the carryback resuited in a $14.0 million tax benefit, The benefit wa:
artially offset by an increase in the UK statutory rate and an increase in our state tax expense. During the three months ended July 31, 2020, the UK officially enacted legislation that increased its statutory rate from 17% to 19%. This resulted in
3.5 million h deferred tax exp from the of our applicable UK net deferred tax liabitities. During the year ended April 30, 2021, as a result of COVID-19, we adjusted our policies to permit employees to work from home
2sulting in an increased presence in many states. This resulted in a $3.2 million noncash deferred tax exp from the of our applicable US net deferred tax liabilities.

disel

\s p d in our Q ly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on March $, 2021, on March 3, 2021, in the UK Budget, the Ch llor of the Excheq d a proposed i in the UK comorate tax rate from 19% tc

5%, effecnve April 2023. On June 10, 2021, the UK officially increased its corporate tax rate from 19% to 25% effective April 2023. We estimate that this statutory tax rate increase will result in a nonrecurring, noncash US GAAP deferred ta>
xpense of approximately $20 million in our three months ended July 31, 2021,

diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share (EPS):

diluted eamings per share for the year ended April 30, 202} was $2.63 per share compared with loss per share of $1.32 in the prior year. This increase was due to the higher operating income and, to a lesser extent, lower inte.resl expense. Thest
actors were partially offset by higher provision for income taxes and foreign exchange transaction losses for the year ended April 30, 2021 as compared to gains for the year ended April 30, 2020,

lelow is a reconciliation of our US GAAP Eamings (Loss) Per Share to Non-GAAP Adjusted EPS. The amount of the pretax, and the related income tax impact for the adjustments included in the table below, are presented in the section above
Provision for Income Taxes”.

Year Ended
April 30,
2021 2020
BT sl e i a Y o I AT R Y T e T fomL1.32)-
T Restructaring and relaterd tharges - s e T e, b TR gy T P Ty |
lluucnﬁilfm]'@]@ns Y losses on mtercompany n-ansncnons . 0.02) 0.02
. Income tax adjustment - - N ) g~ R o S (17) o (0.00)i
— 1.94
T I —— - r— et ————r—— - o i : — - 1]
bl - — 0.04
rﬁ’ﬁ impact of uring weighted avoraga dilutive sharea for edjusted EPS valoylativu ¢ <~ = » e =N it ST e N T 1
{on-GAAP Agjustea EPS $ $ 2.40

D Represents the impact of using diluted weighted-average number of common shares outstanding (56.7 million shares for the year ended April 30, 2020) included in the Non-US GAAP Adjusted EPS catculation in order to apply the ditutive
impact on adjusted net income due to the effect of unvested restricted stock units and other stock awards. This impact occurs when a US GAAP net loss is reported and the effect of using dilutive shares is antidilutive.

na basis, Adjusted EPS il d 27% primarily due to an § in Adjusted CTP and, to a lesser extent, a lower Non-GAAP Adjusted Effective Tax Rate and a decrease in interest expense. These factors were partially offse
y foreign exchange transaction losses for the year ended April 30, 2021 as compared with gains for the year ended April 30, 2020.

29
NDEX




‘EGMENT OPERATING RESULTS:
Constant Currency

Year Ended % Change % Change
April 30, Favorable Favorable

LESEARCH PUBLISHING & PLATFORMS: 2021 2020 (Unfavorable) (Unfavorable)
tevenue: .
lesearch Publishing $ 972,512  $ 908,952 % 5%
tesearch Platforms 42,837 39,887 7% 7%

Total Research Publishihg & Platforms Revenue 1,015,349 948,839 ™% 5%
‘ost of Sales 215,377 255,646 (8)% (o)
)periau‘qg Ei(penses . i . 429,916 398,514 . (8)% (93
umortization of Intangible Assets 37,033 29,276 (26)% Q4)%
mpairment of Intangible Assets (see Note 11) — 92,348 . 100% . 100%
lestructuring (Credits) Charges (see Note 7) . R (36) 3.886 # B #
Joatribution to Profit - - i 273,058 169.119 ) 61% - 60%
mpairment of Intangible Assets (see Note 11) L — 92,348
testructuring (Credits) Charges (see Note 7) (36) 3,886
djusted Contribution to Profit 273,023 265,353 3% 2%
Jepreciation and Amortization 83,866 69,495
wdjusted EBITDA $ 356,889 s 334,848 % 6%
\djusted EBITDA Margin R T o ’ ’ 351% 353%
: Not meaningful
tevenue:
tesearch Publishing & Platf for the year ended April 30, 2021 increased $66.5 million, or 7%, as compared with the prior year on a reported basis. On a constant currency basis, revenue increased 5% as compared with the prior year
ixcluding revenue from acquisitions, organic revenue increased 3% on a constant currency basis. This increase was primarily due to continued growth in Open Access in Research Publishing due to inued growth in prehensive “read anc
ublish” agreements. In fiscal year 2021, we experienced a 15% increase in article output, which resulted in a 38% increase in Open Access revenue as compared to prior year. This was partially offset by a decline in subscriptions revenue partially
ttributable to those “read and publish” agreements and, to a lesser extent, previously anticipated libraries and academic budget chall as a result of COVID-19.
wdjusted EBITDA:

)n a constant currency basis, Adjusted EBITDA increased 6% as compared with the prior year. This increase was primarily due to higher revenue, and COVID-19 related expense savings. These factors were partially offset by higher royalty costs

igher annual i p and employee related costs, and to a lesser extent, the impact of the acquisition of Hindawi.

‘ociety Partnerships

‘or the year ended April 30, 2021:

. 12 new society contracts were signed with a bined annual of app ly $15.2 million;
. 144 society were d with a combined annual of app ly $83.7 million;
. 12 society were not d with a combined annual of approxi 1y $3.0 million.
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Year Ended

Constant Currency

April 30, % Change Favorable
\CADEMIC & PROFESSIONAL LEARNING: 2021 2020 {Uanfavorable) (Unfavorable)
lcvenue-
T LN L Y o YT e e e Y I B g e gy ), BTN 8 - 157,188 e L e T
280,667 298,601 (6)% (8)%
onal Learning ; AT vt 611,537 r ey ittt ot 090,789 i st Y T )
ST OF SAIES oy s e v A b W T 179,10 o % s P L
)perating Expenses 370,363 3% 4%
ahozan O GREIDE ASErs i e ———— o T )y ks e St
testructunng Charges (see Note 7) 10,470 67% \ 67%
L~ PRS- Y et LI o i, ok e AT R N e il Wy Py, "
untnbunon to Profit N 74,176 19% 17%
lomnmnggxirsoi(sceNolu Tyem T o T e T Y & 10,470 7= AEEIE I T
rdjusted Contribution to Profit 84,646 8% 6%
)eprecnanﬁd Amortization ©# - == Twew o« U * ~ 69,807 — i * P _]
\djus!ed EBITDA $ 154,453 6% 4%
"-'l)g!—;-'(F[\rmAM;r_gm P IIY i £ b !‘L,;—&:Mawm‘\““'k—ﬂ - s ;377}"'... am < Tt N M';qr,:rTQ
: Not meaningful
tevenue:
cademic & Professional Learning revenue decreased $6.3 million, or 1%, as compared with the prior year on a reported basis. On a constant currency basis, d d 2% as d with the prior year. This decrease was primarily du¢
» the COVID-19 impact on Professional Leaming revenue due to the continued adverse impact on classroom dependent corporate training due to the inued office cl and ltati and the decline in trad:

rint book publishing, partially offset by growth in digital content. In Education Publishing, growth in digital content and courseware offerings, which connnued to benefit due to the COVID-19 driven shlﬁ to remote leamning, were partially offset by

eclines in print textbooks and test p ion product offeri

wdjusted EBITDA:

)n a constant currency basis, Adjusted EBITDA increased 4% as compared with the prior year. This i

igher annual incentive compensation.

in fiscal year 2021, digital content revenue increased 22% and digital

reflects b
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ptimization gains and COVID-19 related expense savings, partially offset by lower revenues and, to a lesser extent




Year Ended

Constant Currency

% Change % Change
April 30, Favorable Favorable
:DUCATION SERVICES: 2021 2020 (Unfavorable) {Unfavorable)
tevenue: -
iducation Services OPM (1) s 227,700 ___$ 210,882 8% _8%
athree o 53,915 20,973 # #
ve 281,615 231,855 7 21% 21%
173,420 156,197 T(10)%
6_5,8}9 62,991 %
ntangibié Assets 31,201 16,511 (28)%
mpmrmem of Goodwill (se_g_Nole 1) —_ 110,000 100%
Lestr 1 Charges (se¢ Note 7) _ 531 ~ 3671 86%
Sontribution t0. Profit (Lo5o) ¢ o et o wes Cvel L (117,515) # #
mpairment of Goodwill (see Note 11) 110,000
‘estructuring Charges (se _yote 7 - N 3671 . e J
\djusted Conmbunon“t.grl’rof( (Loss) 21,175 (3,844) # #
)epreclanon and Amortization 29,654 24,131 — _I
\djusted EBITDA $ 50,829 $ 20,287 # #
{djisted EBTTDA Margiris 13.0% 87% 1
: Not meaningful
1} In May 2020, we moved the IT bootcamp business acquired as part of The Leammg House acqwsmon from Educanon Services OPM to mthree. As a result, the prior period revenue related to the IT b b has been included it
. .

mthree. There were no changes to our total Education Services or our

tevenue:

from mthree in the year ended April 30, 2021 was $32.6 million.

iducation Services revenue increased $49.8 million, or 21%, as compared with the prior year on a reported and constant currency basis. Excluding revenue from our mthree acquisition, organic revenue increased 7% on a constant currency basis

aainly driven by an increase in enrollments and new student starts and, to a lesser extent, new university partnerships and programs in our OPM services. In fiscal year 2021, we

1 new student starts as compared to prior year.

djusted EBITDA:

)n a constant currency basis, Adjusted EB[TDA |ncreased $30.6 million as compared with the prior year. This was due to higher revenue, lower marketing costs, and b

ertain actions taken as part of our Busi 0O

‘ducation Services Partners and Programs:

\s of April 30, 2021, Wiley had 66 university partners under contract.

"ORPORATE EXPENSES:

and a 20% increast

"These factors were partially offset by the impact from the acquisition of mthree.

‘orporate Expenses for the year ended April 30, 2021 increased $16.3 million, or 9%, as compared with the prior year. On a basis and excluding restr

“his was primarily due to higher annual incentive compensation, partially offset by lower employee benefit and

£

related

p and p ional fees.
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'ISCAL YEAR 2020 AS COMPARED TO FISCAL YEAR 2019 SUMMARY RESULTS

tevenue:

tevenue for the year ended April 30, 2020 increased $31.4 million, or 2%, as compared with the prior year. On a constant currency basis, revenue increased 3% mainly driven by the following factors:

« anincrease of $74.9 million in the Education Services busi includi ibutions from Leaming House, which was acquired in November 2018, and mthree, which was acquired in January 2020; and
+ anincrease of $21.0 million in the Research Publishi Platfi b
‘hese increases were partially offset by a decline of $44.8 million in the Academic & Professional Leamning b

ixcluding the impact of

quisiti ona basis declined 1% as compared with the prior year.
-ee the “Segment Operating Results” befow for additional details on each segment’s revenue and Adjusted EBITDA performance.
Zost of Sales:

Sost of sales for the year ended April 30, 2020 increased $36.3 million, or 7%, as compared with the prior year. On a constant currency basis, cost of sales increased 8%. This increase was primarily due to higher employment related costs in the

iducation Services business, and, to a lesser extent, an i in ing costs, partially offset by lower inventory and royalty costs in Academic & Professional Leaming.

)perating and Administrative Expenses:

perating and administrative expenses for the year ended April 30, 2020 increased $33.8 million, or 4%, as compared with the prior year. On a constant currency basis, op and administrative i d 5%. The i wa:
rimarily due to increased investment in growth initiatives, including i | costs iated with the isitions in the year ended April 30, 2020 and, to a lesser extent, i in additional in editorial and content support, anc
igher technology related costs. .

mpairment of Goodwill and Intangible Assets:
joodwill Impairment

‘or the year ended April 30, 2020, we recorded a noncash impairment of goodwill of $110.0 million related to our Education Services reporting unit. This charge is reflected in Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets in the Consolidate:
tatements of Income (Loss). The impairment charge is not deductible for federal or state tax purposes and therefore there is no tax benefit related to the impairment charge.

Juring our annual goodwill impairment test initiated on February 1, 2020 we identified indicators that the goodwill of the Education Services business was impaired due to underperformance as pared with our isition case projections fo
avenue growth and operating cash flow. Subsequently, during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2020, we determined that our updated revenue and ing cash flow projections would be further imp d by anticipated near-term headwinds due
{OVID-19, including adverse impacts on new student starts and student reenrollment. Therefore, we updated the impairment test as of March 31, 2020 to reflect this change in circumstances. As a result, we concluded that the carrying value wa:

bove the fair value, resulting in a noncash goodwill impairment of $110.0 million.

atangible Asset Impairment

‘or the year ended April 30, 2020, we recorded a pretax h impai charge of $89.5 million for our Blackwell trad k, which was acquired in 2007 and carried as an indefinite-lived intangible asset primarily related to our Researct

blishing & Platf gr The impairment reflects our decision to simplify Wiley’s brand portfolio and unify our research journal content under one Wiley brand, which will sharply limit the use of the Blackwell trade name. This impairmen
2sulted in writing off substantially all of the carrying value of the intangible trademark asset. This charge is reflected in Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss). The resulting noncast
mpairment charge is entirely unrelated to COVID-19 or the expected future fi ial perfc of the Research Publishing & Platforms
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n addition, as a result of our decision to discontinue the use of certain technology offerings within the R h Publishing & Platfc we ded a pretax h impairment charge of $2.8 million related to a certain developec
schnology intangible. This charge is reflected in Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss).

.ee Note 11, “Goodwill and Intangible Assets” for further information related to goodwill and intangible assets.

testructuring and Related Charges:

lusiness Optimization Program

‘or the year ended April 30, 2020, we recorded pretax restructuring charges of $32.8 million. We originally anticipated approximately $15 million to $20 million of restructuring charges, of which approximately $10 million to $15 million wa:
xpected to be severance-related costs and the remainder to be other related costs. However, in the fourth quarter of 2020, we recorded $15.0 million of pretax restructuring charges due to additional actions to mitigate the impact of COVID-19
‘hese charges are reflected in Restructuring and related charges in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss). See Note 7, “Restructuring and Related Charges” for more details on these charges.

testructuring and Keinvestment Program

‘or the years ended April 30, 2020 and 2019, we recorded pretax restructuring credits of $0.2 million and charges of $3.1 million, respectively, related to this program. These credits and charges are reflected in Restructuring and related charges it
1e Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss). See Note 7, “Restructuring and Related Charges” for more details on these credits and charges.

‘or the impact of our restr ing programs on diluted ings per share, see the section below, “Diluted Eamings per Share (EPS).”

imortization of Intangible Assets:

\mortization of intangible assets was $62.4 million for the year ended April 30, 2020, an increase of $7.8 million, or 14% as compared with the prior year. On a constant currency basis, amortization of i ible assets i d 15% as p:
vith the prior year. The increase in amortization was due to the intangibles acquired as part of the acquisitions completed in fiscal year 2020 and, to a lesser extent, intangibles acquired as part of the acquisition of Leamning House in November 2018
artially offset by a di due to the pletion of ization of certain acquired intangible assets. See Note 4, “Acquisitions” for more details on these transactions.

)perating (Loss) Income and Adjusted EBITDA:

)perating loss was $54.3 million for the year ended April 30, 2020 compared with the prior year income of $224.0 million. On a y basis and excluding the impairment of goodwill and intangible assets and restructuring charges
\djusted EBITDA decreased 8% primarily due to i in growth initiatives and the impact of COVID-19.
\djusted Contribution to Profit
telow is a reconciliation of our lidated US GAAP Operating (Loss) [ncome to Non-GAAP Adjusted CTP:
Year Ended
April 30,
2020 2019

1S CAAP Opévitin'z (Loss) Incoms - I AT T O R A SO TS (At %, ., aapun]
idjustments: N
[ Restriicturing and relafed charges. i i i - i T RSN 33607 ue]

Impai of goodwill i 110,000 —_
Ch_gpainnem of Blackwell trade name 89,507 —J

Impairment of developed technology intangible 2,841 —
{on-GAAP Adjusted CTP 3 180,668 $ 227,107
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\djusted EBITDA

telow is a reconciliation of our consolidated US GAAP Net (Loss) Income to Non-GAAP EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA:

Year Ended
April 30,
2020 2019

fet (Losi) Income 77 e i - LY oot B e . : e e e 1 e B P R T I S I L) e Jhr S AT K 1 |
aterest expense 24,959 16,121
ivwisinn for income taxes__v= - o R ; = T T m— " " b4 e g S W L1 Jremripe e 41,688
Jepréciation and amoftization 175,127 161,155
{on-GAAP FRITNA ISR PR T Y o g A e O e ATt IR T, e oW "';;,“’,"’l\,’(r’»,DQtIJ‘W,‘&mmJ- vy
ipiiriméit ot goodwtl and intangibie asscts 202,348 —
‘estructunng and rolated charges: == Sy e IR - - : 33,607 3,118}
‘oreign exchange transaction (gains) losses . 2.773) 6,016
herincoma. | L et r Y N i e Y iy it e R g P AT L S e gt T o (AR R SO 1))
lon-GAAP Adjusted EBIPIDA $ 355,795 $ 388,262
aterest Expense:

nterest expense for the year ended April 30, 2020 was $25.0 million compared with the prior year of $16.1 million. This increase was due to higher average debt bal ding, which included borrowings for the funding of acquisitions and :

igher weighted average effective borrowing rate.
‘oreign Exchange Transaction Gains (Losses):

‘oreign exchange transaction gains were $2.8 million for the year ended Aprit 30, 2020 and were primarily due to the net impact of the change in average foreign exchange rates as compared to the US dollar on our third-party accounts receivable
nd payable balances.

‘oreign exchange transaction losses were $6.0 million for the year ended April 30, 2019 and were primarily due to the net impact of the change in average foreign exchange rates as compared to the US dollar on our intercompany account
sceivable and payable balances.

*rovision for Income Taxes:

‘he following table summarizes the effective tax rate for the years ended April 30, 2020 and 2019:

Year Ended
April 30,
2020 2019
IS GAAP Effective Tax Rate (17.7% 21.0%
mpairment of goodwili and intangible assets 42.3% -
‘ax effect from other unusual items . 3.1)% -
‘tate tax adjustment in 2019 —_ 1.3
Jeferred tax from the Tax Act Rate Change - (0.1)%
{on-GAAP Adjusted Effective Tax Rate 21.5% 22.2%

‘he effective tax rate for the year ended April 30, 2020 was less than the year ended April 30, 2019 due to the impairment of goodwill and intangible assets, with respect to which we obtained a relatively small tax benefit. Excluding the effect of the
npairment charges partially offset by the tax effect on other unusual items, the rate was 21.5% for the year ended April 30, 2020, compared to 22.2% for the year ended April 30, 2019, primarily due to lower taxes on income outside the US as wel
s increased tax credits and related benefits.
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dituted (Loss) Earnings Per Share (EPS):
diluted loss per share for the year ended April 30, 2020 was $1.32 per share compared with eamings per share of $2.91 in the prior year.

telow is a reconciliation of our US GAAP (loss) eamings per share to Non-GAAP Adjusted EPS:

Year Ended
April 30,
2020 2019
IS GAAP (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE o $ (132) $ 291
mpairment of goodwill . R 1.94 -
mpairment of Blackwell trade name R o 131 —_—
mpairment of developed technology i ibl - 0.04 —
;es(ructunng and related charges 0.43 ’ X 0.04
‘oreign exchange losses on intercompany tr i T o B 0.02 - 0.06
mpact of change in certain Intemational tax rates in 2020 and US state tax rates in 2019 (0.03) 0.05)
iPS impact of using weighted-average dilutive shares for adjusted EPS calculation ® ) N R 0.0l —
{on-GAAP Adjusted EPS $ 2.40 3 2.96
1) Represents the impact of using diluted weighted age number of shares ding (56.7 million shares for the year ended Apnl 30, 2020) included in the Non-US GAAP adjusted EPS calculation in order to apply the dilutivi

impact on adjusted net income due to the effect of unvested restricted stock units and other stock awards. This impact occurs when a US GAAP net loss is reported and the effect of using dilutive shares is antidilutive.

ixcluding the impact of the items included in the (able above Ad;us(ed EPS for the year ended Apnil 30, 2020 decreased 19% to $2.40 per share compared with $2.96 per share for the year April 30, 2019. On a constant currency basis, Adjusted EP¢

ecreased 21% due to i in growth i 3 i the impact of COVID-19, and higher interest expense. The inorganic ings impact of isitions was $0.33 per share of dilution for fiscal year 2020, including
1terest expense.

‘EGMENT OPERATING RESULTS:

Year Ended % Change Constant Currency
April 30, Favorable % Change Favorable

LESEARCH PUBLISHING & PLATFORMS: 2020 2019 {Unfavorable) (Unfavorable)
tevenue:
lesearch Publishing 5 908952 8 43,249 1% 2%
tesearch Platforms 39,887 35,968 11% 11%

Tatal Research Pnhlishing & Platfarms Revenne 948 839 LN 1% 2%
‘ast nf Sales 250.40% 254000 — (7314
Jperating Expenses 398,514 395,670 m%» )%
imartiratinn af Intancihla Amaatn a6 . FY AL M% . (A
mpairment of Intangible Assets (see Note 11) 92,348 — 100% 100%
lestructuning Charges (see Nﬂ(e 7 ) ) 3,886 1,131 # KR
Jontnibution to Protit . 189,119 219,7v (A% (%
mpairment of Intangible Assets (see Note 11) 92,348 —
(estRiURAL CHAPRED (S00 Dlote 7} 3,386 1,131
djusted Contribution to Profit 265,353 260,885 2% 2%
)epreciation and Amortization ’ 69,495 60,889
\djusted EBITDA $ 334,848 $ 321,774 4% 4%
wdjusted EBITDA Margin 3913% 14 1%
: Not meaningful
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tevenue:

tesearch Publishing & Platforms revenue for the year ended April 30, 2020 increased 1% to $948.8 million on a d basis and i d2%ona currency basis as compared with the prior year. The increase was primarily due t
ontinued growth in Open Access in Research Publishing primarily due to growth in comprehensive “read and publish™ agreements, which was partly offset by lower traditional subscription revenue. Also contributing to the decrease in subscriptior
avenue were delays in b due to COVID-19 isolation and university disruption.

8 p agr

wdjusted EBITDA:

na basis, Adjusted EBITDA i d 4% as p wnh the prior year. This i increase was due to higher revenues, and, to a lesser extent, lower inventory related costs. These factors were partially offset by an increase it

ayalty costs, higher operating costs, which reflected i in additi in editorial to support i d article publishing, and mark related costs, which was partially offset by lower incentive compensation costs.
‘ociety Partnerships
‘or the year ended April 30, 2020:

. 9 new society contracts were signed with a combined annual revenue of approximately $9.3 million;

. 99 society were dwitha bined annuat revenue of approximately $51.6 million;

. 16 society were not d with a bined annual revenue of approximately $5.7 million,

Year Ended % Change Constant Currency
April 30, Favorable % Change Favorable

\CADEMIC & PROFESSIONAL LEARNING: 2020 2019 (Unfavorable) (Unfavorable)
tevenue: A s cis ;
iducation PUBHSHIng © BT " $ ~352,188778 3726018 6% " (@)%

‘rofessional Leaming 298,601 331,285 (10)% (9)%
[ Total Academic & Professional Learning . 650,789 703,303 . [ 6%
BT T ey T ol ki S 0135 3 O O S, S T M o 1 ) I bl L) IV B L2 T Y. 3 SO W
)peratmg Expenses 370,363 343,859 8)%

of I L'.Auggw P S T 3 R s = 10,4 T e 16,709 T—————r s T ——
.estmctunng ng Charges (see Note 7) 10,470 1,139 #

“ontribution to Profit 74,176 146,265 (49)% (49)%
Lestructuring Charges (see Note 7 10,470 1139 - -
\djusted Conmbunon to Profit 84,646 147,404 (AE)° o (42)%
Jeoreciation on and Amomumnn . 4 ™ o = — s fA8O7. FRIK, o n e s |
\dju.sted EBITDA 154,453 $ 215,530 (28)% (28)%
idjasted EBITDA Margin , 23.7%" 30.6% -
+Not meaningful
tevenue:
rcademic & Professional Leaming revenue decreased 7% to $650.8 million on a reported basis, and 6% on a constant currency basis as compared with the prior year. Excluding revenue from organic declined 9% on a constan’

urrency basis. This decrease was primarily due to the continued decline in book p

hlichi

market

T

and, to a lesser extent, a decrease in test preparation and certification offerings. During the fourth quarter of April 30, 2020

ue to the impact of COVID-19, there was a further decrease in revenue for print books due to retail closures, reprioritization of online retailer shipments toward “essential goods” only, test preparation offerings due to cancelled exams, anc
lassroom-dependent corporate training due to office closures.




\djusted EBITDA:

)n a constant currency basis, Adjusted EBITDA decreased 28% as compared with the prior year. This decrease was primarily due to the decline in revenue. Also contributing to lower Adjusted EBITDA, but to a lesser extent, was increase
1vestment in growth initiatives including the acquisitions of Zyante and Knewton, and an increase in reserves for accounts receivable primarily due to the impact of COVID-19. These factors were partially offset by lower inventory and royalty

osts as a result of lower revenue.

Year Ended % Change Constant Currency
April 30, Favorable % Change Favorable

:DUCATION SERVICES: 2020 2019 (Unfavorable) (Unfavorable)
levenue:_ o . _ L R .
iducation Services OPM (1) s, $ 155.819 35% 35%
athree (D 7 O LT30 4 [

Total Education Services Revenue 231,855 157,549 AT% 48%
lost of Yales, 156.197 : 104.631 M @)
)perating Expenses _ 62,991 . 55,754 . (13)% (13)%
mortization of Intangible Assets 16,511 9,847 (68)% (68)%
mpairment of Goodwill (see Note 11) ~ 110,000 _ 100% 100%
’:éstrgxcmﬁﬁgYCharges (see Note 7) 3,671 389 # #
Sontribution to (Loss) Profit Q l7,5!55 13272) # 4
mpairment of Goodwill (see Note 11) 110,000 —
testructuring Charges (see Note 7) 3,671 389
\djusted ng'tribu_nip_rl_lo (Loss) !’rgﬁ_! (3,844) (12,883) 0% 70%
Yepreciation and Amortization 24,131 18,117
\djusted EBITDA 3 20,287 $ 5,234 # #
rdjusted EBITDA Margins . 8.7% 3.3%
:Not meaningful
1) In May 2020, we moved the IT bootcamp business acquired as part of The Learning House acquisition from Education Services OPM to mthree. As a result, the prior period revenue related to the IT b p busi has been included ir

mthree. There were no changes to our total Education Services or our consolidated financial results, The inorganic revenue from mthree in the year ended April 30, 2020 was $17.5 million.

tevenue:
iducation Services revenue increased 47% to $231.9 million on a reported basis and 48% on a constant currency basis as compared with the prior year. Excluding revenue from acquisitions, organic revenue i dli%ona

asis. The increase was mainly driven by an increase in fee-based online program management revenue.
\djusted EBITDA:

)n a constant currency basis, Adjusted EBITDA increased by $15.1 million as compared with the prior year. This was due to higher revenue, partially offset by higher costs of sales from employment related costs and, to a lesser extent, highe)
1arketing costs.

‘ducation Services Partners and Programs:

\s of April 30, 2020, Wiley had 69 university partners under contract.

"ORPORATE EXPENSES:

‘orporate Expenses for the year ended April 30, 2020 increased 7% to $180.1 million as compared with the prior year. On a constant currency basis and excluding restructuring charges, these expenses decreased 1%. This was primarily due to a
ecrease in employment and technology related costs, and a life insurance recovery of $2.0 million. These factors were partially offset by additional legal related
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ISC EAR 2022

jiven positive market trends and Wiley's f: bl the Comp icipates revenue growth to continue to accelerate in fiscal year 2022, with organic growth anticipated for all segments.

Revenue Outlook: Wiley expects consolidated revenue to exceed $2 billion for the first ime in Wiley’s history, with mid-to-high single digit growth anticipated for Research Publishing & Platfc ! ingle digit growth for Academic &
Professional Leaming, and low-teens growth for Education Services.

Adjusted Earnings Qutlook: Wiley expects profit gains from revenue growth to be tempered by i to 1 growth initiatives, as well as higher travel and event exp due to the ption of in-p busi ivities.
Adjusted EPS perf is expected to be mod d by higher depreciation and d iated with acquisitions and i and a higher effective tax rate in the range of 22% - 23%, from 20.5% in fiscal year 2021.
Free Cash Flow Outlook: Wiley expects strong cash from operations to be partialty offset by hlgher capital expendi We anticipate capital expenditures in fiscal year 2022 to be in the range of $120 million - $130 million as compared witt
$103 million in fiscal year 2021, the non-recurrence of a $21 million US tax refund received in fiscal year 2021, and higher annual i ) P ion pay related to fiscal year 2021 performance.
amounts in millions, except Adjusted EPS)
Fiscal Year 2028 Fiscal Year 2022
Aetric ‘ Actual Outlook
fevenue , e - et A 82070052100 o ]
\djusted EBITDA $415 to $435

llljll‘ilﬂl EPS & .. o f i
‘ree Cash Flow

JOUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES:
‘rincipal Sources of Liquidity

Ve believe that our operating cash flow, together with our revolving credit facilities and other available debt financing, will be adequate to meet our operating, investing, and financing needs in the foreseeable future. There can be no assurance tha
ontinued or increased volatility in the glubal capital and credit markets will not impair our ability to access these markets on terms commercxa.lly acceptable in the future. In addition, our liquidity could be adversely impacted by COVID-19 due tt
1¢ continued impact on our {uding cash cotlecti We do not have any off-balance-sheet debt. We will continue to pursue attractive opportunities to add scale and provide enhanced tech-enabled services in research and onlint
ducation.

\s of April 30, 2021, we had cash and cash equivalents of $93.8 million, of which approximately $90.3 million, or 96% was located outside the US. Maintenance of these cash and cash equivalent balances outside the US does not have a materia
npact on the liquidity or capital of our operati Notwithstanding the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the Tnx Act), which generally eliminated federal i income tax an future cash repatriation to the US, cash repatriation may be subject tc
tate and local taxes or withholding or similar taxes. In addition, as a result of Brexit, certain tax benefi licable to distributions from subsidiaries of our UK p were eli d or reduced effective January 1, 2021. Since April 30, 2018
ve no longer intend to permanently reinvest eamings outside the US. We have recorded a $2.5 million llablllty related to the estimated taxes that would be incurred upon repatriating certain non-US eamings.

n May 30, 2019, we entered into a credit agreement that amended and restated the existing agreement (Amended and Restated RCA). The Amended and Resmed RCA provides for senior unsecured credit facilities compnsed ofa (l) five-yea
2volving credit facility in an aggregate principal amount up to $1.25 billion, and (ii) a five-year term loan A facility consisting of $250 million. The agr y affi ive and negative i afi
1 the form of a lidated net leverage ratio and lidated interest ge ratio.

\s of April 30, 2021, we had approximately $821.6 million of debt outstanding, net of unamortized issuance costs of $0.5 million, and approximately $664.8 million of unused borrowing capacity under our Amended and Restated RCA and othe
acilities. Our Amended and Restated RCA contains certain restrictive covenants related to our consolidated leverage ratio and interest coverage ratio, which we were in compliance with as of April 30, 2021.
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“ontractual Obligations and C cial C

\ y of { obligations and ial ¢ itments, excludi ized tax benefits further described in Note 13, “Income Taxes,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial St as of April 30, 2021 is as follows:

Payments Due by Period

Within - 2-3 45 After 5
Total Year 1 Years Years Years
— " — e —
{otal Debi(D — y ) $ 821§ 125_ s 2234 S 5862 S —1
aterest on Debt(?) 396 14.7 219 3.0 -
lon-Cancellable Leases o212 30.7 %) ” 4338 -' 95.0]
i Obligations 430.3 108.5 172.9 1063 92.6
Yther Operating Commutments - S T v 400 ~ Y] R ol — =
‘otal $ 16360 8 2064 $ s0t4 S 7406 $ 187.6

(1) Total debt is exclusive of unamortized issuance costs of $0.5 million.
(2) Interest on Debt includes the effect of our interest rate swap agreements and the estimated future interest payments on our unhedged varnable rate debt, assuming that the interest rates as of April 30, 2021 remain constant until the maturity o:

the debt.
\nalysis of Historical Cash Flow
"he following table shows the changes in our C: lidated S of Cash Flows.
Years Ended April 30,
2021 2020 2019

iet.Cash Provided by Operating Activities $ T 3599237"s 288435y : 250,851}
{et Cash Used in Investing Activities . (433,154) (346,670) (301,502)
{et Cash (Used In) Provided by Financing Activities (47,086) 172,677 "~ (17,595)]
iffect of Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Changes on Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash $ 11,629 $ 4943) § (8,443)

:ash flow from operations is seasonally a use of cash in the first half of Wiley's fiscal year principally due to the timing of collections for annual journal subscriptions, which typically occurs in the second half of our fiscal year.

‘ree Cash Flow less Product Development Spending helps assess our ability, over the long term, to create value for our shareholders, as it rep cash available to repay debt, pay common dividends, and fund share repurchases, and acquisitions
telow are the details of Free Cash Flow less Product Development Spending.

‘ree Cash Flow less Product Development Spending:
. Years Ended April 30,

2021 2020 2019
Tet Uash Pravided h | inerating Achvines B A X b L F o - 939923 % v - 20045759 250,831
£ss: Additions to Technology, Property and Equipment (77,407) (88,593) (77,167)
* 735 Product Uevelopment Spending T - — " T i GRE o (26,608) Tn s (24.426))
‘ree Cash Flow less Product Development Spending $ 256,562  $ 173,234 § 149,238
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let Cash Provided By Operating Activities

The following is a summary of the $71.5 million change in Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities for the year ended April 30, 2021 as compared with the year ended April 30, 2020 (amounts in millions).

Jet Cash Provided By Operating Activities - Year Ended Aprit 30, 2020

$ 28847
ligher net income adjusted for items to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operati ivities, including the following h items: d and amortization, impairment of goodwill and intangible
assets in 2020 and the change in deferred taxes 88.9
Vorking Capil Changes : ' C S R
rccounts payable and royalties payable (45.7)
T - ) - - ~ B - - - s 494
i _ 106
\ccounts receivable, net and contract liabilities i . e i R na
rher working capital items “@L7n
{et Cush Provided By Operating Acrivities — Vear Ended Apil 30; 2021 $ 359 Y

"he changes in accounts payable and royalties payable and accounts receivable, net of contract liabilities were primarily due to timing. Change in inventories was primarily due to lower purchases and the lower cost of inventory. The change in othe

ccrued liabilities noted in the table above was p ily due to an i in annual i p ion and, to a lesser extent, an increase in employee related costs, including the deferral of employer tax withholding payments in connectior.
vith the CARES Act in the year ended April 30, 2021.
"he change in other working capital items noted in the table above was primarnly due to an increase in cash used for prepayments, employee benefit and retirement related costs, including reti plan contrib , certain tax related payments

nd restructuring payments in the year ended April 30, 2021.

Jur negative working capital (current assets less current liabilities) was $462.7 million and $312.3 million as of April 30, 2021 and April 30, 2020, respectively. The primary driver of the negative working capital is the benefit realized from
nearned contract liabilities related to subscriptions for which cash has been collected in advance. The contract liabilities will be recognized as income when the products are shipped or made available online to the customers over the term of the

ubscription. Current liabilities as of April 30, 2021 and as of April 30, 2020 include contract liabilities of $545.4 million and $520.2 million, respectively, primarily related to deferred subscription revenue for which cash was collected in advance.

‘ash collected in adh for subscriptions is used by us for a number of purp including funding: operati capital expendi 3 isiti debt repay , dividend payments, and share repurchases. Due to the adverse impact of COVID
9 on the global y, we esti that approxi ly $30 million of customer payments were delayed into fiscal year 2021. Our ivable collections were in line with our expectations. Although, in certain situations, the timing o
ollections may be extended, we do not

icipate any 1al issues with {lecti Many of our have been ad ly impacted by COVID-19, and we expect some continued delays in payments due to widespread disruptior
nd pervasive cash conservation behaviors in the face of uncertainty. We have recorded provisions for bad debt where appropriate.

‘020 compared to 2019

he following is a summary of the $37.6 million change in Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities for the year ended April 30, 2020 as compared with the year ended April 30, 2019 (amounts in millions).

let Cash Provided Ry Operating Agtivitics - Yoai Duded Awil 20,2012 - $ 250.8

Vorking Capital Changes: R

\ceounts receivable, net and contract liabilities - due to the tming of collections, including collections from the delayed calendar year 2019 journal subscription billing into fiscal year 2020 : : s

rcerued income taxes primarily due to the umlng of certain intemational tax payments’ . (15.8)
Jower contnbutions to the employment refirement plans due to a prior year $10.0 million discretionary contribution to the U.S. Employees’ Retirement Plan of John Wiley & Sons, Inc. 6.7

Yiher working capital items, including the timing of payments of accounts payable 222

OWEE NG OIS udJust_u.! fut 1 iteas reconcile el loss v net cash p}'uvldgd l;y ypeLang detivides (7.3)
{et Cash Provided By Operating Activities - Year Ended April 30,2020 $ 288.4
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Jur neganve working capital was $312.3 million and $379.8 million as of April 30, 2020 and April 30, 2019, respecuvely The primary driver of the neganve working caplml is uneamed contract liabilities related to subscriptions for which cash ha:
een d in ad Cash llected in adv for subscriptions is used by us for a number of purp i g funding; operations, capital exp , it debt repay , dividend payments, and share repurchases. Due to tht
ic d , we that approxi ly $30 million of customer payments were delayed into fiscal year 2021

“he $67.5 million change in negative working capital was primarily due to the increase in cash and cash equivalents, partially offset by an increase in current liabilities of $21.8 mitlion due to the recognition of the short-term portion of operatin;
zase liabilities due to the adoption of ASU 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842)," on May 1, 2019, and an increase in accrued employment costs of $11.2 million, primarily due to an increase in the restructuring liability related to severance related costs
«ee Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Recently Issued, and Recently Adopted Accounting Standards”, for further details on the adoption of Topic 842.

he liabilities will be ized as income when the products are shipped or made available online to the customers over the term of the subscription. Current liabilities as of April 30, 2020 and as of April 30, 2019 includes contrac
.abilities of $520.2 million and $519.1 million, respectively, primarily related to deferred subscription revenue for which cash was collected in advance.

/et Cash Used In Investing Activities
021 compared to 2020
let Cash Used In Investing Activities in the year ended April 30, 2021 was $433.2 million compared to $346.7 million in the prior year. The increase in cash used in investing activities was due to an increase of $70.3 million in cash used to acquire

usinesses and, to a lesser extent, an increase of $28.0 million for the acquisition of publication rights and other activities. This was partially offset by a decrease of $11.2 million for additions of technology, property, and equi See Note 4
Acquisitions,” for further details of the acquisition activity in fiscal year 2021 and 2020.

‘020 compared to 2019

let Cash Used In Investing Activities in the year ended April 30, 2020 was $346.7 million compared to $301.5 million in the prior year. The increase was due to additional net cash used in the year ended April 30, 2020 to acquire businesses and, t
lesser extent, additions for technology, property, and equipment of $11.4 million for i in prod and platfi See Note 4, “Acquisitions,” for more information related to the acquisitions in fiscal year 2020.

Vet Cash (Used In) Provided By Financing Activities

‘021 compared to 2020

{et Cash Used In Financing Activities was $47.1 million in the year ended April 30, 2021 compared to Net Cash Provided By Financing Activities of $172.7 million in the year ended April 30, 2020. This change was due to lower net borrowings of
273.1 million, which was primarily due to lower borrowings in the year ended April 30, 2021 and, to a lesser extent, a reduction of $30.8 million for the purchase of treasury shares and an increase in cash provided by book overdrafts of $18.¢
aillion compared to the prior year.

‘020 compared to 2019

let Cash Provided By Financing Activities was $172.7 million in the year ended April 30, 2020 compared to Net Cash Used In Financing Activities of $17.6 million in the year ended April 30, 2019. This § in cash provided by fi

ctivities was due to an increase in net borrowings of $183.7 million for the year ended April 30, 2020 compared to the prior year, which was primarily due to the funding of acquisitions described above and, to a lesser extent, a decrease in casl
sed for the purchase of treasury shares in the year ended April 30, 2020 compared to the prior year.

Yividernd: 2

and Share Rep
a the year ended April 30, 2021, we increased our quarterly dividend to shareholders to $1.37 per share annualized versus $1.36 per share annualized in the prior year.

a the year ended April 30, 2020, we increased our quarterly dividend to shareholders to $1.36 per share annualized versus $1.32 per share annualized in the prior year.
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Juring the year ended April 30, 2020, our Board of Di app d an additional share repurchase program of $200 million of Class A or B Common Stock. As of April 30, 2021, we had authorization from our Board of Directors to purchase uy
3 $200 million that was ining under this p No share repurch were made under this program during the years ended April 30, 2021 and 2020.

14

s

‘he share repurchase program described above is in to the share repurct gram approved by our Board of Directors during the year ended April 30, 2017 of four million shares of Class A or B Common Stock. As of April 30, 2021, wt
ad authorization from our Board of Directors to purchase up to 497,197 additional shnres that were remaining under this program.

“he following table izes the shares repurchased of Class A and B Common Stock (shares in thousands):
Years Ended April 30,
2021 2020 2019

‘hares repurchased — Class A 1,080 1,191
‘hares repurchased - Class B R o o . o 2 s
' ; E IR SRR - o L AR0E TR T 038
tECENTLY ISSUED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS, ACCOUNTING GUIDANCE, AND DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
Ve are subject to numerous recently issued of fi ial ] dard: ing guid and discl qui The information set forth in Part II, Item 8, “Financial S and Suppl y Data” in Note 2

y of Signifi A ing Policies, Recently Issued and Recently Adopted Accounting Standards,” of the Notes to C: tidated Financial Si of this Form 10-K is incorporated by reference and describes these new accounting
tandards.
"RITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES:
‘he preparation of our Consolidated Financial § and related disclosures in conformity with US GAAP requires our to make esti and ions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure o:
ontingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements, and Tevenue and expenses during the reporting period. These estimates include, among other items, sales return reserves, llocation of isi purchase price to asset:
cquired and liabilities assumed, goodwill and indefinite-lived i ible assets, ible assets with definite lives and other long-lived assets, and retirement plans, We review these and i iodically using historica
xperience and other factors and reflect the effects of any revisions on the C lidated F ial S in the period we di ine any revisions to be y. Actual results could differ from those esnmmes whlch could affect the reportec
esults. In Part I, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data™ in Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Recently Issued and Recently Adopted Accounting Standards” of the Notes to Consolidated Fi ial §
1cludes a summary of the significant accounting policies and methods used in preparation of our C lidated Financial Set forth below is a discussion of our more critical ing policies and method:
levenite Recognition:
a Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”, see Note 3, “Revenue R ition, C with C " of the Notes to C lidated Financial S for details of our revenue recognition policy.
‘ales Return Reserves:
o Part 1, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”, see Note 2, “S y of Signifi A ing Policies, R ly Issued, and Recently Adopted Accounting Standards” in the section * y of Signifi A 5
‘olicies” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial $ for details of our sales retum reserves.

1 one percent change in the estimated sales retun rate could affect net income by approximately $2.0 million. A change in the pattem or trends in retumns could also affect the estimated allowance,
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!llocation of Acquisition Purchase Price to Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed:

a ion with acquisitions, we all the cost of the acquisition to the assets acqulred and the liabilities assumed based on the estimates of fair value for such items, including intangible assets. The excess of the purchase consideration over the

air value of assets acquired and liabiliti dis ded as goodwill. The d ion of the acquisition date fair value of the assets acqmred and liabilities assumed requires us to make signif and pti such as, it

pplicable, forecasted revenue growth rates and operating cash flows, royalty rates, customer attrition rates, 1 rates of developed technology, and di rates. We may use a third-party valuation consultant to assist in the determinatior

f such estimates.

n Part I, Item 8, “Fi ial S and y Data”, see Note 4, “Acquisitions,” of the Notes to Ci lidated Fi ial for details of our acquisitions.

joodwill and indefinite-lived Intangible Assets:

joodwill is reviewed for possible impai at least Ily on a reporting unit level during the fourth quarter of each year. Our annual impairment assessment date is February 1. A review of goodwill may be initiated before or after conducting

1e annual analysis if events or ch inci indicate the carrying value of goodwill may no longer be recoverable.

\ reporting unit is the operati unless, at busi one level below that operating the “ " level, discrete financial information is prepared and regularly reviewed by and the p has

haracteristics that are different from the ic characteristics of the other comp of the operating in which case the component is the reporting unit.

\s part of the annual mpmrmem test, we may elect to first assess qualitative factors to d ine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. In a qualnzmve assessmem we would conside

e di luding any deterioration of general conditions and industry and market conditions, including any deterioration in the environment where the repomng unit operates, h in the
ducts/services and regulatory and political devel cast of doing business, overall financial performance, including any declmmg cash flows and performance in relation to p and ings in past periods, other relevan

2porting unit specific facts, such as changes in or key p | or pending litigation, and events affecting the reporting unit, including ch in the carrying value of net assets,

£ the results of our qualitative assessment indicate it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, we are required to perform a quantitati tod the fair value of the reporting unit.

\ternatively, if an optional qualitative goodwill impairment assessment is not performed, we may perform a itative Under the quantitati we pare the fair value of each reporting unit to its carrying value

1cluding the goodwill atlocated to the reporting unit. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeded its carrying value, there would be no indication of impairment. If the fair value of the reporting unit were less than the carrying value, ar
mpairment charge would be recognized for the difference.

Ve derive an estimate of fair values for each of our reporting units using a combination of an income approach and a market approach, each based on an applicable weighting. We assess the apphcable weighting based on such factors as curren
aarket conditions and the quality and reliability of the data. Absent an indication of fair value from a potential buyer or similar specific transactions, we believe that the use of these hods provides a bl of a reporting unit’s fai
-alue.

‘air value computed by these methods is arrived at using a number of key ptions including fc d and related growth rates, forecasted operating cash flows, the discount rate, and the selection of relevant market multiples o:
ble publicl ded panies with similar characteristics to the reporting unit. There are inherent uncertainties, however, related to these factors and to our judgment in applying them to this analysis. We believe that the combination o:
hod S H

lese p! a approach to esti the fair value of our reporting units. Assumptions for sales, net eamings, and cash flows for each reporting unit were consistent among these methods.

021 Annual Goodwill Impairment Test

\s of February 1, 2021, we completed our annual goodwill impairment test for our reporting units. We concluded that the fair values of our reporting units were above their carrying values and, therefore, there was no indication of impairment.
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ncome Approach Used to Determine Fair Values

‘he income approach is based upon the present value of expected cash flows. Expected cash flows are converted to present value using factors that consider the nmmg and risk of the future cash flows. The estimate of cash flows used is prepared ot

n unleveraged debt-free basis. We use a discount rate that reflects a market-derived weighted average cost of capital. We believe that this ap h is app b it provides a fair value osnmme based upon the repomng unit’s expectes
ng-term operating and cash flow performance. The projections are based upon our best esti of fe d ic and market conditi over the related period including growth rates, expected in fi perating cash flows
nd cash expendit . Other esti and ptions include inal value long-term growth rates, provisions for income taxes, future capitat expendi , and ch in future cashless, debt-free working capital.

‘hanges in any of these assumptions could materially impact the estimated fair value of our repomng units. Our forecas(s take into account the near and long-term expected business performance, considering the long-term market conditions anc
usiness trends within the reporting units. For example, each reporting unit includes an ding any inued impact of COVID-19 from both a current and long. perspective. However, ch in this nption may impact ou
bility to recover the allocated goodwill in the future. For further discussion of the factors that cou.ld result in a change in our assumptions, see “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

farket Approach Used 1o Determine Fair Values

“he market approach estimates the fair value of the reporting uml by applymg multiples of operating performance measures to the reporting unit’s operati rfc (the Guideline Public Company Method). These multiples are derived fron
omparable publicly-traded companies with 5|m|lz\r istic: Ad the reporting unit, and such comparable data are reviewed and updated as needed annually. We believe that this approach is appropriate b it provides a fair valu
stimate using multiples from entities with op and ic ch p bl to our reporting units and Wiley.

‘he key estimates and assumptions that are used to determine fair value under this market approach include current and forward 12-month revenue and EBITDA results, as applicable, and the selection of the rel Itiples to be applied. Unde

1e Guideline Public Company Method, a contro! premium, or an amount that a buyer is usually willing to pay over the current market price of a publicly traded
:ading value upward for a 100% ownership interest, where applicable.

pany, is idered and applied, to the calculated equity values to adjust the public

n order to assess the bl of the calculated fair values of our reporting units, we also compare the sum of the reporting units’ fair values to our market capitalization and calculate an implied control premium (the excess of the sum of th
zporting units” fair values over the market capitalization). We evaluate the contro) premium by ing it to control premi of recent comparable market transactions. If the implied control premium is not reasonable in light of these recen
:ansactions, we will reevaluate our fair value estimates of the reporting units by adjusting the discount rates and/or other assumptions.

€ our assumptions and related estimates change in the future, or if we change our reporting unit structure or other events and cucumsmnces change (such as a sustained decrease in the price of our common stock, a decline in current marke
wiltiples, a significant adverse change in legal factors or business climates, an adverse action or bya ) heigh d decisions made in resp to ic or petitive conditi or a more-likely-than-
ot expectation that a reporting unit or a significant pomon ofa reporting unit will be sold or disposed of), we may be required to record i lmpalrment chargec in future periods. Any impairment charges that we may take in the future could be materia
) our lidated results of operations and fi ial

020 Annual Goodwill Impairment Test

1s of February 1, 2020, we completed our nnnunl goodwill lmp:urmenl test for our reporting units. We concluded that the fair values of our Research Publishing & Platforms and Academic & Professional Leaming reporting units were above thei
arrying values and, therefore, there was no indication of i

Juring our annual goodwill impairment test initiated on February 1, 2020, we identified indicators that the goodwill of the Education Services busi was impaired due to underperformance as compared with our acquisition case projections fo:
svenue growth and ing cash flow. Sub ly, during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2020, we d ined that our updated and operating cash flow projections would be further impacted by anticipated near-term headwinds due t
‘OVID-19, including adverse impacts on new student starts and student reenrollment. Therefore, we updated the impairment test as of March 31, 2020 to reflect this change in circumstances. As a result, we concluded that the carrying value wa:
bove the fair value, resulting in a noncash goodwill impairment of $110.0 million. This charge is reflected in Impairment of goodwill and i ible assets in the C fidated S: of Income (Loss).
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*he material assumptions underlying the estimate of the fair value of the Education Services reporting unit included the following:

Future cash flow assumptions — The projections for future cash flows utilized in the model was derived from historical experience and assumptions regarding future growth and profitability of the reporting unit. These proj are

with our operating budget and strategic plan. We applied a compounded annual growth rate of approxi ly 6.8% for f d sales in our projected cash flows through fiscal year 2028. Beyond the forecasted period, a terminal value wa:
determined using a perpetuity growth rate of 3.0% to reflect our estimate of stable and perpetual growth.

Weighted average cost of capital (WACC) — The WACC is the rate used to discount the reporting unit’s estimated future cash ﬂows The WACC is calculated based on a pmpomonaxe weighting of the cost of debt and equity. The cost of equity
is based on a capital asset pricing model and includes a p ific risk premium to capture the perceived risks and iated with the reporting unit’s projected cash flows. The cost of debt component is calculated based o
the after-tax cost of debt of Moody's Baa-rated corporate bonds. The cost of debt and equity is weighted based on the debt to market capitalization ratio of publicly traded companies with similarities to the Education Services reporting unit. Th
WACC applied to the Education Services reporting unit was 11.0%.

Valuation Multiples — For the Guideline Public Company Method, we applied relevant current and forward 12-month revenue multiples based on an evaluation of multiples of publicly traded panies with similarities to the Ed
Services reporting unit. The multiples applied ranged from 1.3 to 1.4x revenue.

Equal weighting was applied to the income and market approach when determining the overall fair value calculation for the Education Services reporting unit.

“he following hypothetical changes in the valuation of the Education Services rep: g unit would have impacted the goodwill impairment as follows:
A hypothetical 1% i to growth and EBITDA margins would have reduced the impairment charge by approximately $16.0 million.
A hypothetical 1% d\ to growth and EBITDA margins would have increased the impairment charge by approximately $19.0 million.
A hypothetical change to the weightings by applying a weighting of 25% to the income approach and 75% to the market approach would have i d the impairment charge by approximately $2.0 million.

‘rior to performing the goodwill impairment test for Education Services, we also evaluated the recoverability of long-lived assets of the reporting unit. The carrying value of the tong-lived assets that were tested for impairment was $434.0 million
Vhen indicators of impairment are present, we test definite lived and long-lived assets for recoverability by comparing the carrying value of an asset group to an estimate of the future undi d cash flows expected to result from the use an¢
ventual disposition of the asset group. We considered the lower than expected revenue and operating cashflows over a sustained period of time, and downward revisions to our cash flow forecasts for this reporting unit to be indicators of impairmen

ar their long-lived assets. Based on the results of the recoverability test, we d ined that the undi d cash flows of the asset group of the Education Services reporting unit ded the carrying value. Therefore, there was no impairment.
021 Annual Indefinite-lived Imangible Impai; Test

Ve also review our indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment annually, which consists of brands and trad: ks and certain acquired publishing rights. As of February 1, 2021, we completed our annual impairment test related to the
definite-lived i ible assets. We luded that the fair values of these indefinite-lived intangible assets were above their carrying values und, herefore, there was no indi of impairment.

Ve estimate the fair value of these assets using a relief from royalty method under an income approach. The key ptions for this method are revenue projections, a royalty rate as d ined by in Itation with val

xperts, and a discount rate.

020 Annual Indefinite-lived Intangible Impai, Test

Ve ded a pretax h impai charge of $89.5 million for our Blackwell tradi k, which was acquired in 2007 and carried as an indefinite-lived intangible asset primarily related to our Research Publishing & Platforms segment. The

npairment reflects our decision to simplify Wiley's brand portfolio and unify our research joumnal content under one Wiley brand, which will sharply limit the use of the Blackwell trade name. This impairment resulted in writing off substantiaily al
f the carrying value of the intangible trademark asset. This charge is reflected in Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss). The resulting noncash impairment charge is entirely unrelated tc
*OVID-19 or the expected future financial performance of the Research Publishing & Platf
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.ee Note 11, “Goodwill and Intangible Assets,” of the Notes to C lidated Financial $ for details of our goodwill and indefinite-lived i ible bal and the review performed in the year ended April 30, 2021 and other relatec
formation.

ntangible Assets with Definite Lives and Other Long-Lived Assets:

.ee Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Recently Issued, and Recently Adopted Accounting Standards” in the section “S y of Signifi A ing Policies” of the Notes to Consolidated Fi ial S for details o:
efinite lived intangible assets and other long-lived assets.

tetirement Plans:

Ve provide defined benefit pension plans for cenmn employees worldwide. Our Board of Di pproved d to the US, Canada and UK defined benefit plans that froze the future accumulation of benefits effective June 30, 2013

Yecember 31, 2015, and April 30, 2015, resp y. Under the d no new employees will be permitted to enter these plans and no additional benefits for current participants for future services will be accrued after the effective dates o
1e amendments.

"he accounting for benefit plans is highly d dent on i ing the of future events and cir including di: rates, long-term retum rates on pension plan assets, healthcare cost trends,
ad other factors. In determining such assumptions, we consult with outside actuaries and other advisors.

P

"he discount rates for the US, Canada and UK pension plans are based on the derivation of a single-equivalent di rate using a standard spot rate curve and the timing of expected benefit payments as of the balance sheet date. The spot rat
urves are based upon portfolios of corporate bonds rated at Aa or above by a respected rating agency. The discount rate for Germany is based on the expected benefit payments for the sample mixed population plan. The expected long-term rates o:
=turn on pension plan assets are esnmaled usmg forecasted returns for equities and bonds applied to each plan’s target asset atlocation. The expected long-term rates are then compared to the historic i investment performance of the plan assets anc
stablished by asset class, includi d inflation rate. The exp d long rates are then compared to the historic investment performance of the plan assets as well as future exp and esti d through Itation witt

dvi and i Salary growth and health cost trend ptions are based on our historical experience and future outlook. While we believe tha( the assumptions used in these calculations are reasonable, differences in actua
xperience or could ly affect the exp and liabilities related to our defined benefit pension plans. A hypothetical one percent i in the di rate would i net income and decrease the accruec
ension liability by appmxlmn:ely $0.6 million and 5157 4 million, respectively. A one percent decrease in the discount rate would increase net income and il the accrued pension liability by approxi ly $0.7 million and $194.4 million
aspectively. A one percent change in the expected long-term rate of retum would affect net income by approximately $5.4 million.

h
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tem 7A. Q itative and Qualitative Discl es about Market Risk

Ve are exposed to market risk primarily related to interest rates, foreign exchange. and credit risk. It is our policy to monitor these exp and to use derivati ial in andfor i contracts from time to time to reducs
luctuations in eamings and cash flows when it is deemed appropriate to do so. We do not use derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

oterest Rates:

‘rom time to time, we may use interest rate swaps, collars, or options to manage our exposure to fluctuations in interest rates. Itis ’s il ion that the notional amount of interest rate swaps be less than the variable rate loans outstanding
uring the life of the derivatives.

‘he information set forth in Note 15, “Derivative Instruments and Activities,” of the Notes to Consolidated Fi ial S under the caption “Interest Rate Contracts,” is incorporated herein by reference.
)n an annual basis, a hypothetical one percent change in interest rates for the $422.1 million of unhedged variable rate debt as of April 30, 2021 would affect net income and cash flow by approximately $3.4 million.

‘oreign Exchange Rates:

‘luctuations in the currencies of countries where we operate outside the US may have a significant impact on financial results. We are p: ily d to in British pound sterling, euros, Canadian and Australian dollars, and certait
urrencies in Asia. The statements of financial position of non-US. business units are translated into US dollars using period-end exchange rates for assets and liabilities and the Statements of Income are translated into US dollars using weighted
verage exch rates for and exp The p ge of lidated revenue for the year ended April 30, 2021 recognized in the following currencies (on an equivalent US dollar basis) were approximately: 55% US dollar, 27%
iritish pound sterling, 11% euro, and 7% other currencies.

Jur significant investments in non-US businesses are exposed to foreign currency risk. Adjustments resulting from translating assets and liabilities are reported as a sep p of Total A lated Other Comprehensive Loss, Net of Ta:
vithin Shareholders’ Equity under the caption Foreign currency translation adjustment. During the year ended April 30, 2021, we recorded foreign currency translation gains in Total lated other prehensive loss, net of tax o
pproximately $82.8 million primarily as a result of the fluctuations of the US dollar relative to the British pound sterling and, to a lesser extent the euro. During the year ended April 30, 2020, we ded foreign y lation losses ir

lated other prehensive loss, net of tax of approximately $28.6 million, primarily as a result of the fluctuations of the US dollar relative to the British pound sterling and, to a lesser extent the euro.
ixchange rate gains or losses related to foreign currency ions are ized as i gmns or Iosses on the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) as incurred. Under certain circumstances, we may enter into derivative financia
1struments in the form of foreign currency forward contracts to hedge against specific i ludi p purch and loans.
‘he information set forth in Note 15, “Derivative Instruments and Activities,” of the Notes to Consolidated Fil ial S under the caption “Foreign Currency C " is incorp d herein by
‘ustomer Credit Risk:
a the joumnal p hing busil b are primarily sourced through journa! subscription agents who achng as agents for llbmry facilitate ordering by lidating the subscription orders/biltings of each subscriber witt
arious publishers. Cash is generally collected in advance from subscribers by the subscription agents and is principally dtousb the months of December and April. Although at fiscal year-end we had minimal credit risk exposure tc
1ese agents, future calendar-year subscription receipts from these agents are highly dependent on their fi ial dition and liquidity. Subscription agents account for approximately 20% of total annual consolidated revenue, and no one agen
ccounts for more than 10% of total annual consolidated revenue.
Jur book business is not dependent upon a single customer; however, the industry is d in national ional, and online bookstore chains. Although no book customer accounts for more than 9% of total consolidated revenue and 13% o
ccounts receivable at April 30, 2021, the top 10 book account for i ty 13% of total consolidated revenue and approxi ly 22% of ivable at April 30, 2021.

48

NDEX




Aany of our customers have been adversely impacted by COVID-19, and we expect some continued delays in payments due to widespread disruption and pervasive cash conservation behaviors in the face of uncertainty.

disclosure of Certain Activities Relating to Iran:

‘he European Union, Canada and the US have imposed ions on busi lationships with Iran, inctudi ictions on fi ial ions and prohibitions on direct and indirect trading with listed “designated persons.” In the year endec
vpril 30, 2021, we ded an i ial amount of and net eamings related to the sale of scientific and medical content to certain publicly funded universities, hospitals and institutions that meet the definition of the “Government of Iran’
s defined under section 560.304 of title 31, Code of Federal Regulati We d our busi) lationship and ions with Iran and believe we are in 1i with the lations g ing the i As of April 30, 2021, wi
iscontinued sales with Iran.
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tem 8. Fi ial § and Suppl y Data

T Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) for the years ended April 30, 2021, 2020, and 2019
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years ended April 30, 2021, 2020, and 2019

‘he following C: lidated Fi ial S and Notes are filed as part of this report.
John Wiley & Sons, Inc. and Subsidiaries
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AANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

‘o our Shareholders
ohn Wiley & Sons, Inc.:

‘he management of John Wiley & Sons, Inc. and subsidiaries is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f).
Inder the supervision and with the parti icipation of our we conducted an evaluation of the effecti of our intemal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issuec
y the C itree of Sp ing Or ions of the Treadway C ission (COSO). Based on our evaluation under the fi k in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by COSO, our management concluded that our intemal contro

ver financial reporting was effective as of April 30, 2021,
“hanges in Internal Control over Financial Reporting:
‘he Company acquired Hindawi lened (Hmdaw:) during fiscal year 2021, which represented less than 1% of total assets, excluding goodwill and intangible assets which are included within the scope of the assessment, and less than 1% of tota

svenue included in the lidated of the C as of and for the year ended April 30, 2021. Hindawi was excluded from the Company’s of the effecti of the Company’s intenal control over financia
zsporting as of April 30, 2021.

Ve inue to impl dditional functionality and enh to our previously disclosed g!obal ERP implementation. As with any new information system we lmplement. this application, along with the intemal controls over ﬁnancm
eporting included in thls process, will require testing for effectiveness. In :onnecnon with this ERP impk ion, we are updating our internal ts over fi ial rep as Yy, to date modificati to our b
and g procedures, We do not believe that the ERP implementation will have an adverse effect on our intemal control ovcr financial reporting.

ixcept as described above, there were no changes in our intemal control over financial reporting that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting during fiscal year 2021.

“he effectiveness of our intemal control over financial reporting as of April 30, 2021 has been audited by KPMG LLP, an independ gi d public ing firm, as stated in their report which is included herein,

Principl

‘he Company’s Corp Gor ples, Committee Charters, Business Conduct and Ethics Policy and the Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers are published on our web site at www.wiley.com under the “About Wiley—Corporat:
sovemance” captions. Copies are also available free of charge to shareholders on request to the Corporate Secretary, John Wiley & Seons, Inc., 111 River Street, Hoboken, NJ 07030-5774.

3/ Brian A. Napack
trian A. Napack
‘resident and Chief Executive Officer

i/ John A. Kritzmacher
ohn A. Kritzmacher
ixecutive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

3/ Christopher F. Caridi

“hristopher F. Canidi

«enior Vice President, Global Corp C fler, and
‘hief Accounting Officer

uly 6, 2021

st
NDEN




Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

‘o the Shareholders and Board of Directors
ohn Wiley & Sons, Inc.:

Jpinion on the C lidated Fij TR

Ve have audited the panying lidated of fi ial position of John Wiley & Sons, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of April 30, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of i lncome (Ioss) comprehensive

1come (loss), cash flows, and shm’eholdcrs equity for each of the years in the three-year period ended April 30, 2021, and the related notes and financial statement schedule in Item 15(2) (collectively, the tidated ). In ou

pinion, the lidated fi ! present fairly, in all ial resp the ial position of the Company as of April 30, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-yea

eriod ended April 30, 2021, in ity with U.S. Ily pted ing 1

Ve also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company A ing Oversight Board (United Sla\es) (PCAOB) the Company’s intemal control over financial reporting as of April 30, 2021, based on criteria established it

aternal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Cq ittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway ion, and our report dated July 6, 2021 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's

tternal control over financial reporting.

lasis for Opinion

hese lidated fi ial are the ibility of the Company's Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these lidated £i ial based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered witl

1e PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and lations of the Securities and Exch C ission and the PCAOB,

Ve conducted our audits in d with the dards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perfonn the audit to obtain remnnble assurance about whether the lidated fi ial are free of materia

aisstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing proced to assess the risks of ial of the lidated fu | whether due to error or fmud and performing procedures that respond tc

10se risks. Such proced luded on a test buls‘ id garding the and discl in the tidated fi ial Our audits also included eval the g principles used and significant estimate:

1ade by as well as evaluating the overall p of the lidated financial We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

‘he critical audit matters communicated below are matters ansing from the current period audit of the lidated fi ial that were icated or required to be icated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to account.

r disclosures that are material to the lidated financial and (2) involved our especially challengi bjective, or | d The ication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the
fidated fi ial taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, prowdmg separate opmlons on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Evaluation of the sufficiency of audit evidence over certain subscriber and publishing revenue

As discussed in Note 3 to the lidated fi ial the C d revenue of $972.5 million from Research Publishing Products, including Journal Subscriptions, $363.9 million from Education Pubhshmg Pmducv.s
including Education (print and digital) Publishing, and $280.7 million from Professional Learning Products, including Professional Publishing, for the year ended April 30, 2021. The Company’s uses multiple inft hnology (IT
systems to record revenue.
We identified the evaluation of the sufficiency of audit evidence over revenue from Joumal Subscriptions, Education (print and digita!) Publishing, and Professional Publishing as a critical audit matter. Evaluating the sufficiency of audi
evidence obtained involved IT professionals with specialized skills and knowledge and required especially subjective auditor jud b of the multiple revenue gnition p IT applicati and data interfaces.
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The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this cnucal audit matter. We perfonned risk assessment procedures and applied auditor judgment to determine the nature and extent of procedures to be performed ove
Journal Subscriptions, Education (print and digital) Publishing, and Prof | Publishing revenue, including the determination of the IT systems whcrc those procedures were to be performed based on the nature of the informatios
processed by those systems. We evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of certain intemal controls over the related revenue We involved IT professionals with specialized skills and knowledge
who assisted in testing 1) certain general IT controls, and 2) certain application controls within !hose revenue recognition process, including the interface of relevant revenue data belween different IT systems used therein. On a samplt
basis, we also tested certain Journal Subscriptions, Education (print and digital) Publishing, and Pr ional Publishing revenue by tracing the ded for specific ions back to underlying documentation. We evaluated the
sufficiency of audit evidence obtained over revenue by assessing the results of procedures performed.

Assessment of the initial fair value of acquired journals

As discussed in Note 4 to the lidated fi ial the Comp for ired busil using the acquisition method of ing by ding assets and liabilities acquired at their respective fair values. During th

year ended April 30, 2021, the Comp pleted the isition of Hindawi Limited for a total purchase price of $300.1 million (“zhe quisition”). The Comp ded i ible assets of $188.5 million during the year related t
Is. The d ination of the isition date fair value of this i ible asset required the Company to develop including key pti -garding fi d revenue growth rates and operating cash flows

'he royalty rate, and the discount rate.

We identified the assessment of the initial fair value of acquired journals as a critical audit matter. There was a high degree of subjectivity involved in evaluating the key ptions developed by the Company used to determine the fai

value of this intangible asset. The estimated fair value of this intangible asset was also sensitive to changes in these key assumptions.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address thns cnncal audit matter. We tested the design and operating effectiveness of cemnn internal Is over the Company’s isition-date valuation process, i §

controls related to the devel of the kzy p for acquired j Is. We eval d the growth rates used by the C. y to d d and operating cash flows by companng them to 1) current industry

market, and economic trends and 2) historical results of the acquired entity and the Company. We performed sensitivity analyses to assess the impact of possible ch to the key ptions on the acq date fair value of acquirec

journals. We lved a fessional with specialized skills and knowledge, who assisted in:

. { g the di: rate by paring it to an independently devetop: mnge of di rates using publicly available market data for comparable entities

. evaluanng the royalty rate by comparing it to royalty rates for similar companies

e developing an estimated range of fair values of the acquired Is using the Company’s cash flow ft and an independendy developed range of di rates and royalty rates, and comparing it to the Company's fair valus

estimate.
3/ KPMG LLP

Ve have served as the Company’s auditor since 2002.

lew York, New York
uly 6, 2021
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Report of Independent Regi d Public A ing Firm

‘o the Shareholders and Board of Directors
ohn Wiley & Sons, Inc.:

Jpinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Ve have audited John Wiley & Sons, Inc. and subsidiaries’ (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of April 30, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of

-ponsoring Organizations of the Tread C ission. In our opxmon the Comp ined, in all ial resp effective internal control over financial reporting as of April 30, 2021, based on criteria established in /nternal Control -
ntegrated Framework (2013) issued by the C ittee of Sp ing Organizations of the Tread C issi

Ve also have audited, in d with the standards of the Public Company A g Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the lidated of fi ial position of the Company as of April 30, 2021 and 2020, and the relate:
onsolidated statements of income (loss) comprehensive income (loss), cash flows, and shareholders’ equity for each of the years in the 'hree-year penod ended April 30, 202[ and the related notes and financial statement schedule in Item 15(2
<ollectively, the lidated fi ), and our report dated July 6, 2021 expressed an unqualified opinion on those lid:

‘he Company acquired Hindawi during the year ended April 30, 2021, and luded from its of the effectiveness of the Company’s intemal control over financial repomng as of April 30, 2021, Hindawi’s lmemal contro
ver financial reporting associated with less than 1% of total assets, excluding goodwill and intangible assets which are included within the scope of the assessment, and less than 1% of total revenue included in the lidated fi |

£ the Company as of and for the year ended April 30, 2021. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of the Company also excluded an evaluation of the intemal control over financial reporting of Hindawi.

lasis for Opinion

he Company's is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of lmemal control over fi ial reporting, included in the panying M; o]

teport On Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsﬂxllty is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and an
2quired to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and lations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

Ve conducted our audit in d with the dards of the PCAOB. Those s(andards requn'e that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective intemnal control over fi ial reporting was maintained i
11 material respects. Our audit of intemal control over fi ial reporting included ob an und; ding of intemnal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design an¢
perating effectiveness of intemnal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other proced as we idered y in the ci We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

definition and Limitations of Imternal Control Over Financial Reporting

\ company’s mtema} control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide bl garding the reliability of financial reporting and the p ion of fi ial for external purp in d. with 1)
ccepted g principles. A pany’s internal control over financial reporting lncludes those pulltles and procedures that (1) perum to the mamtenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions ant
ispositions of the assets of the pany; (2) provide ble assurance that are d as y to permit p of fi | in d with gi il d i pnncnples and that recupts anc
xpenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of and di of the pany; and (3) provide bl garding pi ion or nmely ion of ized acq use, o

isposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
tecause of its inherent limitations, intemal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect mi Also, projections of any eval

ecause of changes in conditions, or that the degree of pli with the poli orp d may deteriorate.

of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequati

3 KPMGLLP
few York, New York
uly 6, 2021
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issets:
Swienl asa 1d

John Wiley & Sons, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
In thousands

April 30,
2021 2020

{Cdsh'and cashequivaténts S : = — D} LA AT 03,785 T8 T T % annana]
Accounts seveivable, uel 311,571 309,384
Inventories, net i - o . e T 42538 - 43,614}
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 78,393 59,465

T Total current assets i o - : 7 A B SO T e 614.927)

Yoduct developrment assets, net T AT S LR LT v — 495177 = 53.643]

loynlty advancos, net 39,582 36,710

echnology, property and T‘, net . N - . T 202,270 T 208 005]

mnnrhln amain. nek . 1,015, 302 807,405

joadwill -t ) R S L T A, A Py S S 1 A 7 R TS e AL 11 % T e AL 790]

)pnmnno leass right-of-use pssers _ 121,430 142716

Jther non-current assets Bl o o - s 2T R L T - .. N7 P 9%..‘\_9_%]

Total assets $ 3,446,439 $ 3,168,794
—r 7 Z ; T P ]
ities and sharebolders’ equity:

surrent liabilitiés - it u Lo o
Arconnts navahlc $ 95,791 $ 93,691

[ Accrued royalties e e v v dn 78,987 _ T 87408
Sliwst-term portion of long-term debt lZ 500 9,375

[Contract liabilities o * - - - = - PR 348425 520,214
Arccmed emn|nvment costs 144,744 108,448

rAccmed income taxes il ol e e N . - 8,500 . - 13 "sz]
Shuit-lcrin portion ufopamnng loase liabilities 22,440 21,810

[Otheraccrued liabiliti oo * = = 80,9007 72,508 ]

Tomb currand liadulities 988,972 927,269

I P—— e e " ; T ; = - s

AE ¢ dcbt 809,088 765,650

\cenued pension liability i = - P A - 146,247, 5 187,269

Jeferred income tax liabilities 172,903 119,127

)perating léase liabilitiés r : : . - 145.832 159,782}

2her lnng-term liabilities 92,106 75,373

{ Total iabilitiés il - Lo.oem 335543 « 2235170 )

. " equity —ap- - Il =1
Ficlensyd slwk SI par ¥ valuc' Authorized - 2 million, Issued =0 — iy

[Clnss A common Stock, $1 par par value: Authorized = Ziso million, lssued = = 70,208 and U, 16 166 85 of Apl'll 50,2021 @il 2020, Ttespetively T - - - = _Th208 ,_:70,166]
Clace B comman stark, S1 par value: Amhnnzed 72 xmlllqn Issued lz 974 and 13,016 as of April 30, 2021 and 2020, respecnvely 12,974 13,016

{'Additional paid-in capital bl — - T444,358 . _41,8n)
Remmed eammgs 1,850,058 1,780,129

d Sther comprehensive loss: i - - : . - A N . |
Fureign Luiicicy translation ndjuntmam (257,941) (340,703)
I Unamortized retifement costs, nét of tax R b . - (228,146) v 7 (227.920)
Unrealized (lvss) Yon interest rate swaps, net of tax (4,703) . 874)
| Towt’ lated other hensive [0S, net of fax i . o i . - (ano,780) . (§75.497)
Leas: mmury nhmg at cost {Clase & = 23,419 and 23,405 as of April 30. 2021 and 2020, respectively, Class B — 3,922 and 3,920 of April 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively) (795,517) (785,870)
[ Total shareholders " equity - - 1,091,298 ™ - . 993624
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity S 3,446,439 $ 3,168,794
See panying Notes to C: lidated Financial §
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John Wiley & Sons, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS)
Dollars in thousands, except per share information

For the Years Ended April 30,

} 2021 2020 2019
{evenus, net - - . T - 5 1,941,501 8 1831483 S 1,800,069
‘osts qndrr pen . ]
Costofsales 625335 591,024 554,722
[Operating and administative expense: - ~ 1,022,660 R Y AT 963,582
Impairment _gf goodwill and intangible assets —_ 202,348 —_
{ Restructuniag and reldted charges . * s B T 333107 32,807 18]
Amonizmion of intangibie assets 74 688 § 51,658
{Gud cusis und expensss 1,755,990 77 1,576,080 }
Yperadiig Licome \10sSY haa il = GEM ™ (34.287) 323,989}
iterest expens (18,383) (24959) (1s,121)
'orii_gp exchange transaction (losses):gains (1.977) 2773 (6,016)
Yther income_ - - 16,761 13381 11,1001
e (103s) UGUTE taxes - il il s : 175,912 : 212,952]
‘rovision for income taxes 27,656 44,689
let income (loss) $ 148,256 $ (74.287) § 168,263
lamings (loss) per share: . )
Basic” "7 ” . - T8 P N 32y 28094
Diluted $ 263§ 32 s 291
1 " . . i " - B T e 1
Veighied average number of common shares outstanding: _
{Dasic - " T ; 733,930 56,209 57,192}
Diluted 56,461 56,209 57,840

4

ying Notes to C

d Financial §
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John Wiley & Sons, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Dollars in thousands

For the Years Ended April 30,

. 2021 2020 2019
Tefingome (g5s) L TT e = i — - - NS Ll =i S T A RN R T g, (428 Y e, § i st 63,260
fther comprehensive income (l0ss):" ol - " DA e T A A S S N S R T O ) T |

Foreign currency translation adjustment 82,762 (28,596)
{Unamortized retirement costs. net of fax (expense) benetit of $(2,103), S[U.137, and 51,937, respecuvely o e b T M M [ N RI—— (3163 i (3.031)

Unrealized gain (loss) on interest rate swaps, net of tax (expense) beneﬁtof 8(657) $2,114, and $1,161, respecnvely 2,171 (6,300) (3,593)
iotal other comprehensive income (loss) il i i P R e T e 94,707 ™ . (66,759) e oo (69,1 ss)}
‘omprehensive income (loss) - 3 YR e A T T i R 99,105-§

See ing Notes to C lidated Financial Statements.
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Iperating activities
fet income (loss)

\djustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:

I dwill o

of goc and i assets
Amortization of intangible assets
A ization of product devel assels "
Depreciation and ion of technology, property and equipment

Restructuring and reated charges ‘
Stock-based compensation expense
Employee retirement plan expense

Foreign exchange transaction losses (gains)

., Other noncash charges (credits)

‘hanges in operating assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories, net
Accounts payable
Accrued royalties
Contract liabilities
Accrued income toxes
Restructuring payments
Other accrued liabilities
Employ plan
Operating lease liabilities
Royalty advances, net
Other

Net cash provided by operating activities
avesting activities
Product developmant spending _
Additions to technology, property and equipment
Busi 5 acquired in purch ions, net of cash
Acquisitions of publication rights and other
. ﬁg cash used n wvesting activities

‘inancing activities

" Renavments of Inngsterm drhs’
Borrowings of long-term debt
Payment of debt issuance costs
Purchases of treasury shares
Change in book overdrafts
Cash dividends
Net (payments) procecds irom stock-based compensation and other

Net cash {used in) provided by financing activities

‘ffects of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash

‘ash reconciliation:

Sash and oash cquivatents .

westricted cash i in Prepaid and other current assets

Ralance ot heginning of yaar
(Decrease)fincrease for year
‘ash ond cach equivaleato .
‘estricted cash ¢ in Prepaid and other current assets

Tuded

Ralance at end of year
‘ash paid during the year for:

Baboesel -

Income taxes, net of refunds
{ohcash ltbad: .
Toncash items associated with the acquisition of Leaming House:

John Wiley & Sons, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Dollars in thousands

Warrants to purchase 0.4 million shares of Wiley Class A Common Stock issued in connection with the Leaming House scquisition

For the Years Ended April 30,

ying Notes to Consolidated Financial S
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2021 2020 2019
$ 148,256 S 74287 168,263 °
- 202348 -

74685 62436 54.658
34,68 35975 37,079

i B 91,139 76,716 69,418
33310 32,607 3,08

21,982 20,009 18327
R 12,975 10832 5.3,

7977 ,773) 6,016

35,138 7.115 (11,136)

T (7.263) - (2,962) (64,734)
7,842 2,714) 3.820

(20,110) 1,163 7369

(1,011 13425 6,169

14,164 (118) 29,901

(13,446) (5,962) 9,613

(19.667) (12,563) (15,219)

41,588 7817 @2.713)

(40.676) (33,120 (40.470)

(32,344) (28,243) -

3342 (2.09 (824)

(22,323) (924) (3,060)

359,923 288,435 250,831

(24,954) (26,608) (24,426

(77.407) (88.593) (77,167

(299,942) (229,629) (190,41%)

(29,851) (1.840) (9.494)

(433,154 (346.670) (301.502)

(£92,752) 3041y 1LaaL)

593,405 934323 596,320

- (8,006) -

(15,765) (46,589) (59,994

18,398 “8) (5,674)

(76,938) (76,658) (75,752)

(3.434) (3 794) 3751

(47,086) 172,677 (17,595)

10629 (4949 (R 443)

T 202464 azgon 16114

583 658 434

201,17 2,510 190,957

(108,688) 109,499 (76,709)

91791 00,404 9,200

564 583658

I 7415 % R Y e S T
b 17,171 3 23,622 3 14,887
s 41064 S 4,537 5 48,264
s — s — s 565




John Wiley & Sons, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Dollars in thousands

Accumulated
Additional other Total
Common stock Common stock paid-in Retained comprehensive Treasury shareholder’s
Class A Class B capital earnings loss equity
falanoe ot Aprl 20, 3018 S 5 0TS, R 407,170 8 VRWMNSTI TS s (439588 o s (694222Y7 S e 1,190 557}
Tésincied shares 1ssued under stocks x * R ko R i P O L
"hased ion plans = - 5 (8,544) - 3, - 8,826 : ZSSJ
{et proceeds from stock-based o
 and other — — 4,837 — (1,086) 3,751
gy e Dunes o 0 I - mw T7 :meﬁmﬁ ey P P AN R A D DR 1,421}
‘urchase of uensury shares — — —_ e —_ (59,994) (59.994)
'IH“ d A rnmninenn Sk Hividends o et . M Iy AR, B ey s o v 't :":'H
(JI Wpershae), ) 2 - T e hd : - IR T R pa. (63,684} Sy e (€3;684)
‘lass B common stock dividends
($1.32 per share) — - — (12,068) — — (12,068)
nmman Finck 1055 CANVATEIONS we-wsod moorted et 16 g o ilb) PRl = ke Pl —. T ~ ptgroe i
ssuance of warrants related to
acquisition of a business — — 565 — — — 565
\d}usmdmduphunufnew“ W A - o IR AT LN : - 3 - ]
“revenue standard = = b= 4,503 ] —. 4,503 J
‘omprehensive income, net of tax — _ — 168,263 (69,158) — 99,105
talance at Aig‘ll),'zow $ 7012778 13055~ s~ 422,305 : $ 1931074 'S (503.733) " $ (746476)_$ 1,181,347}
iesticted shares issued under stock? -
based ion plans — — (10,992) - — 11,347 355]
let payments from stock-based B
compensation and other — — 358 — — (4,152) (3,794)
Tock-bied comp o eRpanTe e — = kTN 1) — = — = 200093
‘urchase of treasury shares — — — — -— (46,589) (46,589)
1855 Acommon sidek diidénds b TR ” ; _—
(S1.36pershare) o i - DN o = e, el 164,254] - — = (64,264)
‘lass B common stock dividends
($l 36 per share) —_ — — (12,394) — — (12,394)
‘ammon stark elass canversions - “39 39) . — i . - = =
omprehensnve toss, net of tax — — — (74,287) (66.759) — (l4l 046)
talance & Apgllo, 2020 8- 0,166 : 8w ., A6 5.~ 431 6RO : g X 1,780,129 : s - (575.497):_5 . o (735.870): 3 f 933,634 !
‘umulative effect of change in
*accounting principle, net of tax - = — . — (1.390) . — —_ {1,390)
testricted shares issued under stock-
based compensanon plans — — (10,206) 1 — 10,454 249
Iet payments S from stock-based -
ion and other — — 902 — = (4,336) (3,434)
tock-based compensanon expense — — 21,982 — — — 21,982
“irchase of treasury shares _ e = = = = (15,765) (15,765)
‘lass A common stock dividends
(81.37 per share) — — — (67,619) — — (67,614)
lass B common stock dividends —
"(§1.37 per share) . — — — 9,329) — — (9,324)
‘ommon stock class conversions N 42 i (42) -—_ — — — —
umpldmmv: wowe, nelol tax, .+ =+ y 4 4~y sp = s BT L n A PR - v 1 ]48,256’_.__r .~ e w8707 e . e ECT 331965]
talance at April 30, 2021 s 70,208 $ 12974 S 444358 § 1,850,058 § (490,790)  § (795,517) _ § 1,091,291
See p g Notes to Consolidated Financial §
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John Wiley & Sons, Inc. and Subsxdlnnes
Notes to Consolidated Fi

{ote 1 - Description of Business

‘he Company, founded in 1807, was incorp d in the state of New York on January 15, 1904, Throughout this report, when we refer to “Wiley,” the “Company,” “we,” “our,” or “us,” we are referring to John Wiley & Sons, Inc. and all of ou
ubsidiaries, except where the context indicates otherwise,

Viley is a global leader in h and educati locking human p ial by enabling di y, powering education, and shaping workforces 'l'hmugh the Reseaxch Publishing & Platfc we provide p iewed scientific,
hnical, and medical (STM) publishing, content platforms, and related services to academic, corporate, and g ies, and individual hers. The Academi Professional Leaming id|
iducation Publishing and Professional Leaming content and 3 (rammg and leaming services, to de fe Is, and corporati The Education Services ides online progi (OPM) servnces fo

demic institutions and talent pl. services for p Is and b We have ions primarily locmed in the United States (US), United Kingdom (UK), Sri Lanka, Germany India, Russia, Jordan, and Canada.
{ote 2 — Summary of Significant A ing Policies, R ly Issued, and R ly Adopted A ing Standards
‘ummary of Significant Accounting Policies
tasis of Presentation:
ur C lidated Financial S include all of the of the Company and our subsidiaries. We have elimi d all i p i and bal in lidation. All are in th ds, except per share amounts, anc
pproximate due to rounding.
a the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2021, a UK entity acquired in ton with the acquisition of mthree (See Note 4, “Acquisitions™ for further details of this acquisition) was erroneously dissolved by the Company in accordance with UK
‘ompanies Act regulations while still holding assets. This entity, along with its subsidiaries, (the entity) had various net intercompany receivables owed to them from other Wiley companies of approximately $188.8 million, which upon :
issolution technically revert to the British Crown (Crown). Wiley has petitioned to Companies House to rei the entity without prejudice. The C beli the likelihood that reinstatement will not occur is remote as it entails a

dministrative exercise to remedy, not a negotiation.

\s a result of these events, the Company evaluated whether it was appropriate to consolidate the assets, liabilities, and operations of the entity as part of its lidated fi ial as of April 30, 2021 and for the period from the entity
eing dissolved through April 30, 2021, and also whether there was a liability to the Crown and a related loss associated with the dissolution of the entity under US GAAP in the fiscal year 2021.

'he Company evaluated lhe critenia in Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) A ing Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 810, “C lidations” to d ine if lidating the entity was appmpnale under US GAAP. Based on tha
and the ad ive nature of the process to restore, the C. y luded that although the entity was dissolved, we maintained control of the assets of the entity and, therefore, app! lidated the assets, liabilities anc
perations of the entity it in our lidated fi i as of Apnl 30,2021. In ion with that lusion, the Company also {uded that it does not have conditions to require a loss or liability to the Crown to be recorded in fisca

ear 2021, other than immaterial fees associated with the restoration process. The Company anticipates the restoration of the entity, with the entirety of its net assets, to be completed by the second quarter of fiscal year 2022.

teclassifications:

‘ertain prior year have been ified to conform to the current year’s presentation.
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Ise of Estimates:

‘he prep of our C. lidated Financial and related disc!! in conformity with US GAAP requires our to make esti and ptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure o:

ontingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the fi ial and and exp during the reporting period. These estimates include, among other items, sales retum reserves, llocation of isition purchase price to asset

cquired and liabilities assumed, goodwill and indefinite-lived i ible assets, i ible assets with definite lives and o\hef long-hved assets, and renrement plans. We review these and i jodicatly using historica

xperience and other factors and reflect the effects of any revisions on the C lidated Financial S in the period we d any ions to be y. Actual results could differ from those esnmam whxch could affect the reportec

2sults.

look Overdrafis:

Inder our cash management system, a book overdraft balance exists for our primary d This draft leared checks in excess of cash balances in individual bank accounts. Our funds are transferred from othe

xlsung bank account balances or from lines of credit as needed to fund checks presemed for payment. As of April 30, 2021 and 2020, book overdrafts of $25.8 million and $7.4 million, respectively, were included in Accounts payable on the
d S of Fi ial Position.

‘evenue Recognition:

‘evenue from contracts with customers is recognized using a five-step model consisting of the following: (1) identify the contract with a customer, (2) identify the performance obligations in the 3)d ine the tr ion price, (4

llocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract, and (5) recognize revenue when (or as) we satisfy a performance obligation. Performance obligations are satisfied when we transfer control of a good or service to :
ustomer, which can occur over time or at a point in time. The amount of revenue recognized is based on the consideration to which we expect to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services, including the expected value of variabk

onsideration. The customer’s ability and intent to pay the jon price is d in d ining whether a contract exists with the If collectability of sut ially all the ideration in a contract is not probable, consideratior
zceived is not recognized as revenue unless the consideration is nonrefundable, and we no longer have an obligation to transfer additional goods or services to the or collectability b probabl
.ee Note 3, “Revenue R ition, C with Ci " for further details of our revenue recognition policy.

‘ash and Cash Equivalents:

:ash and cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less at the time of purchase and are stated at cost, which approximates market value, because of the short-term maturity of the instruments.
‘llowance for Credit Losses:

.ee the section below, “Recently Adopted - Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments” for further details of our policy for credit losses.

‘ales Return Reserves:

‘he process that we use to determine our sales retumns and the related reserve provision charged against revenue is based on applying an estimated return rate to current year returnable print book sales. This rate is based upon an analysis of actua

istorical retum experience in the various markets and geographic regions in which we do business, We collect, maintain, and analyze significant amounts of sales returns data for large vol of h i This allows us to make
2asonable estimates of the amount of future retums. All available data is utilized to identify the retumns by market and to which fiscal year the sales returns apply. This enables management to track the retums in detail and |dennfy and react to trend
ing in the marketplace, with the objective of being able to make the most informed judgments possible in setting reserve rates. Associated with the estimated sales retum reserves, we also include a related i toi y and a red:

> accrued royalties as a result of the expected retumns. Print book sales return reserves amounted to a net liability balance of $22.2 million and $19.6 million as of April 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
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‘he reserves are refl d in the following of the C lidated Si of Financial Position as of April 30:

) 2021 L 2020
ficrease in \nventones, net e AT — o TR Iy S e 10,8067 8 v e C 35367
Jecrease in Accrued royalties s (4,949) ¢ (4,441)
acrease in Contract liabilities $ 38,034 __ S 32,769}
rint book sales return reserve net liability balance $ (22,199) § (19,642)

nventories:

aventories are carried at the lower of cost or net realizable value. US book inventories aggregating $20.4 million and $24.3 million at April 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, are valued using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method. All other inventorie.
re valued using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. Finished goods not recorded at LIFO have been recorded at the lower of cost or net realizable value.

*roduct Development Assets:

‘roduct development assets consist of book composition costs and other product devel costs. Costs iated with developing a book publication are exp: d unti! the product is d ined to be i ", viable. Book ccmposin’ox
osts represent the costs incurred to bring an edited ipt to publi which include typesetting, proofreading, design, illustration costs, and digital formatting. Book position costs are capitalized and are ly amortize
n a double-declining basis over their estimated useful llves, ranging from 1to 3 years. Other product devel costs rep the costs i d in developing software, platfc and digital content to be sold and licensed to third pnm&c Othe
roduct develop costs are capitalized and ized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. As of April 30, 2021, the weighted average estimated useful life of other product devel costs was approxi ly 6 years.
loyalty Advances:
‘oyalty ad are capitalized and, upon publication, are exp d as royalties eamed based on sales of the published works. Royalty ady are reviewed for bility and a reserve for loss is maintained, if appropriate.
‘hipping and Handling Costs:
‘osts incurred for third party shipping and handling are primarily reflected in Operating and administrative exp on the C lidated S of Income (Loss). We incurred $27.8 million, $28.8 million, and $32.7 million in shipping an¢
andling costs in the years ended April 30, 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively.
\dvertising and Marketing Costs:
\dvertising and marketing costs are expensed as incurred. These costs are reflected in the C: fidated S of Income (Loss) as follows:
For the Years Ended April 30,
2021 2020 2019
{dvertising and marketing costs $ 9368 10317 $9:5]
Cost of sales () 57.0  RSR 53.7
{Cperating and adminiztrative expenses .o, e s s R e e P 366 373 o 338]
1) This includes certain advertising and 4 costs i d by our Education Services busi to fulfill perfc bligations from with educational i
‘echnology, Property, and Equipment:
‘echnology, property, and equipment is recorded at cost. Major Is and imp are capitalized, while mai and repairs are expensed as incurred.’
‘echnology, property and equip is depreciated using the straight-line method based upon the following estimated useful lives: Computer Software - 3 to 10 years, Computer Hardware - 3 to 5 years; Buildings and Leasehold Improvements -

ae lesser of the estimated useful life of the asset up to 40 years or the duration of the lease; Fumiture, Fixtures, and Warehouse Equipment - § to 10 years.
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losts i d for computer software i ty developed or obtained for internal use are capitalized during the ap ion develop stage and exp d as incurred during the preliminary project and po 1 ion stages. Costs incurrec
uring the application development stage |nclude costs of materials, services and payroll and payroli-related coss for employees who are directly associated with the software project. Such costs are amomzed over the expected useful life of the
zlated software, which i is gcnemlly 3t05 years Costs related to the investment in our Enterprise Resource Planning and related systems are amortized over an expected useful life of 10 years. Maintenance, training, and upgrade costs that do no
zsult in additional fi are d as incurred.

tllocation of Acquisition Purchase Price to Asseis Acquired and Liabilities Assumed:

a connection with acquisitions, we allocate the cost of the acquisition to the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed based on the estimates of fair value for such items, including intangible assets and technology acquired. The excess of the
urchase consideration over the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recorded as goodwill. The d ination of the acquisition date fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed requires us to make significant estimate:
nd d such as fc d revenue growth rates and operating cash flows, royalty rates, customer attrition rates, obsolescence rates of developed technology, and discount rates. We may use a third-party valuation consultant to assist in the
etermination of such estimates.

toodwill and Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets:
joodwill represents the excess of the aggregate of the following: (1) cons:demnon transferred, (2) the fair value of any nancontmllmg interest in the acquiree, and (3) if the busi bination is achieved in stages, the acquisition-date fair valut
f our previously held equity interest in the acquiree aver the net of the acqui dat of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.

adefinite-lived intangible assets primarily consist of brands and trademarks, and publishing rights and are typically characterized by intellectuat property with a long and well-established revenue stream resulting from strong and well-establishec
nprintbrand recognition in the market,

Ve use the isition method of ing for afl busi binations and do not amortize gcodwnll or intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. Goodwill and i gible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for possible impairmen

nnually during the fourth quarter of each fi scal year, or more frequently if events or changes in ci indi that the asset might be impaired.

ntangible Assets with Definite Lives and Other Long-Lived Assets:

)eﬁmte-llved intangible assets principally consist of content and publishing rights, lationships, developed technology, brands and trad k and and are ized over their estimated useful lives. The mos
ifi factors in d the esti d lives of these intangibles are the history and longevity of the brands tradzmarks and content and p ion rights and developed technol quired bined with the gth and pattern o

rojected cash flows.

atangible assets with definite lives as of April 30, 2021, are amortized on a straight line basis over the following weighted average esti d useful lives: content and publishing rights ~ 28 years, customer relationships — 17 years, developec

:chnology — 7 years, brands and trademarks — 13 years, and noncompete agreements — 5 years,

\ssets with definite lives are evaluated for impairment upon a significant change in the operating or i i In these ci if an evaluation of the projected undi d cash flows indi impai the asset i

vritten down to its estimated fair value based on the discounted future cash flows.

Jerivative Financial Instruments:

‘rom time to time, we enter into foreign exchange forward and interest rate swap contracts as a hedge against foreign currency asset and liability commitments, changes in interest rates, and anticipated i P , includi pan;

urchases. All derivatives are recognized as assets or liabilities and measured at fair value. Derivatives that are not determined to be effective hedges are adjusted to fair value with a ponding adj to i We do not use financia

1struments for trading or speculative purposes.
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‘oreign Currency Gains/Losses:

Ve maintain operations in many non-US locnnons Assets and liabilities are translated into US dollm's using end-of-period exch rates and and exp are lated into US dollars using weighted average rates. Our significan
&

in non-US busi are exposed to foreign currency risk. Foreign ] are reported as a sep p of A lated Other Comprehensive Loss within Shareholders’ Equity. Foreign currency
:ansaction gains or losses are recognized on the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) as incurred.

‘tock-Based Compensation:

Ve ize stock-based p i p based on the fair value of the stock-based awards on the grant date, reduced by an estimate for future forfeited awards. As such, k-based p i p IS nnly ized for thost
wards that are expected to ultimately vest. The fair value of stock-based awards is recognized in net income generally on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, Stock-based p i P d with perft -b:
tock awards is based on actual financial results for targets established up to three years in advance, or less. The cumulative effect on current and prior penods of a change in the esti d number of perf share awards, or estimated forfeituri
ate, is gnized as an adj to ings in the period of the revision. If actual results differ significantly from estimates, our stock-based comp p and C lidated S of Income (Loss) could be impacted. The gran
ate fair vatue for stock options is esti d using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The d ination of the ions used in the Black-Scholes mode! include the expected life of an option, the expected volatility of our common stocl
ver the estimated life of the option, a risk-free interest rate, and the expected dividend yield. Jud was also required in estimating the amount of stock-based awards that may be forfeited.

¢ Iy Adopted A ing Standard:

‘hanges to the Disclosure Requirements for Defined Benefit Plans

n August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-14, “Compensation-Retirement Benefits-Defined Benefit Plans-General (Subtopi 7]5 20): Discl F k-Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Defined Benefit Plans.” ASU 2018-14
2moves certain disclosures that are not considered cost beneficial, clarifies certain required discl and added additional di . The dard is effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2020. We have adopted the new standarc
or the year ended April 30, 2021 retrospectively for all periods presented. See Note 17, “Retirement Plans” for all periods p d with the new d discl

Aeasurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments

n June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, “Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326), Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments.” Subsequently, in May 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-05 - “Financial Instruments—
‘redit Losses (Topic 326): Targeted Transition Retief”; in April 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-04, “Codification Impi to Topic 326, Fi ial Instruments—Credit Losses, Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging, and Topic 825, Financia
astruments,” in November 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-19, “Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses,” in November 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-11, “Codification Improvements to Topic 326,
‘inancial Instruments—Credit Losses,” and in February 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-02, “Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326) and Leases (Topic 842)—A d to SEC P; phs Pursuant to SEC Staff Accounting
tulletin No. 119 and Update to SEC Section on Effective Date Related to Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (SEC Update)”.

\SU 2016-13 requires entities to all expected credit fosses for most financial assets held ai the reporting date based on an expected loss model which includes historical experi current diti and ble and supportable

arecasts. Entities will now use forward-looking information to better form their credit loss estimates. ASU 2016-13 also requi d di to help fi users better und d signifi i and jud used ir
stimating credit losses. ASU 2016-13, ASU 2019-05, ASU 2019-04, ASU 2018-19, ASU 2019-11, and ASU 2020-02 were effective for us on May 1, 2020, including interim periods within those fiscal periods, with early adopnon permitted.

Ve adopted the new standard on May 1, 2020, with a lative effect adj to ined ings as of the beginning of the year of adoption. Based on fi ial i ly held by us, the adoption of ASU 2016-13 primarily
pacted our trade ivables, specifically our all for doubtful The adoption of the dard did not have an impact on our Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss), or our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, See the tabl
elow for further details on the immaterial impact to our C lidated S of Fi ial Position and C lidated S of Shareholders’ Equity.
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Ve are exposed to cred.n losses through our accounts receivable with customers. Accounts recelvuble net is stated at amortized cost net of provision for credit losses. Our methodol to the provision for credit losses requires an estimatios

f loss rates based upon historical loss experi djusted for factors that are relevant to d the expected collectability of ivable such as the impact of COVID-19, delinquency trends, aging behavior of receivables, credit anc
.quidity indicators for industry groups, customer classes or individual and ble and supportable fi of the i ditions that may exist through the contractual life of the asset. Our provision for credit losses i:
sviewed and revised periodically. Our ivable is evaluated on a pool basis that is based on customer groups with similar risk ch istics. This includ ideration of the following factors to develop these pools: size of th:
ustomer, industry, phical location, historical risk, and types of services or products sold.

Jur customers’ ability to pay is assessed through our internal credit review processes. Based on the doilar value of credit extended, we assess our * credit by reviewing the total expected receivable exp , expected timing of pay

nd the customers’ established credit rating. In determining customer creditworthiness, we assess our customers’ credit uﬁlizing different including third-party validations and/or our own assessment through analysis of the customers’
inancial statements and review of trade/bank refe We also id tract terms and conditi country and ical risk, and the * mix of prod purchased in our evaluation. A credit limit is established for each custome
ased on the outcome of this review. Credit limits are periodicall iewed for existing and wh an increase in the credit limit is being idered. When y, we utilize collecti gencies and legal counsel to pursue recoven

f defaulted receivables. We write off receivables only when deemed no longer collectible.

‘he following table presents the change in provision for credit losses, which is presented net in Accounts receivable on our Consolidated Statements of Financial Position for the period indicated:
Provision for

Credit Losses
falance as of April 30, 2020 S 18,335
\d)ustment due to adoption of new credit losses standard ded as an adj to retained earnin
Turrent period provision rerr——ar e v Ry AL A et ey T T T T g b))
umounts written off, less recoveries ] (4,463)
‘oreign exch ion adj ts and other N - R CEY
talance as of April 30, 2021 S 21,474
atangibles-Goodwill and Other-Internal-Use Software: C: 's A ing for Imp) ion Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That is a Service Contract
a August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15, “Intangibles-Goodwill and Other-Intemal-Use Softv (Subtopic 350-40): C 's A ing for Impl i Coss [ncurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That is a Service
‘ontract.” ASU 2018-15 aligns the requirements for capitalizing impl costs i d in a hosting that is a service contract with the requi for i pl ion costs incurred to develop or obtain intemal-us:
oftware, We adopted ASU 2018-15 on May 1, 2020 on a prospective basis. There was no impact to our lidated fi ial at the date of adop

‘hanges to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement

a August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, “Fair Value \Aeasu.remenl (Topic 820) Disclosure Framework-Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measuremem ” ASU 2018-13 X difies, and adds discl es. We
dopted ASU 2018-13 on May 1, 2020, There was no impact to our lidated fi or disc! as a result of adoption.
ALases

a February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases (Toplc 842)" and lssued subsequent amendments to the initial guudance thereaher ASU 2016-02 requires an entity to recognize a right-of-use asset (ROU) and lease liability for all lease:

vith terms of more than 12 months and provide es. and p of exp P on cl jon as a finance or operating lease. Similar modifications have been made to lessor accounting in-
ne with revenue recognition guidance.

‘he new standard provides a number of optional ical di in ition. We elected the practical expedi to forgo ar of (1) whether any expired or existing contracts are or contain leases, (2) the lease classification for an;
xpired or existing leases, and (3) initial direct costs. We d:d not elect the practical expedi llowi g the f-hindsight which would have required us to reassess the lease term of our leases based on all facts and circumstances through the
ffective date. In addition, we did not elect the ical expedient pertaining to land
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I

a the new standard provides as a practical expedient, certain policy elections for ongoing lease ing which we elected at the date of adoption and included the following, (i} to not sep | p from the

2ase p if certain conditions are met, and (ii) to not recognize ROU assets and lease liabilities for leases that qualify as short-term.

\ modified pect ition approach was required, applying the standard to all leases existing at the date of initial application. A company could choose to use either (1) its eﬁ'ecnve date or (2) the beginning of the earhest parative perioc
d in the fi ial as of its date of initial application. We adopted the new standard on May 1, 2019 and used the effective date as the date of initial ap gly, previously reported fi ial infc ion was no

pdated, and the disclosures required under the new standard will not be provided for dates and periods before May 1, 2019.

\t adoption, we recognized operating lease liabilities of $178 million based on the present value of the ini ini rental pay for existing operaung leases and ROU assets of $142 million on our Consolidated Statement of Financia

‘osition. The difference between the ROU assets and operating lease liabili the existing deferred rent liabilities, prepaid rent bal and app ing liabilities, which were reclassified upon adoption to reduce th

1easurement of the ROU assets. The adoption of the standard did not have an xmpa:t on our Ci lidated § of Shareholders’ Equity, C lidated S of lncome (Loss) or Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow. See Note 12

Operating Leases”, for further details on our operating leases.

" .
L ly Issued A g Standards

“onvertible Debt Instruments, Derivatives and EPS

a August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, “Debt — Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging — Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40)". This ASU reduces the number of

ccou.nung models for convertible debt instruments and convenible preferred stock. As well as amend the guidance for the derivatives scope exception for contracts in an entity’s own equity to reduce form:. b
| In addition, this ASU imp and amends the related EPS guidance. This standard is effective for us on May 1, 2022 including interim periods within those fiscal years. Adoption is either a modified retrospective method or a full)
pective method of ition. We are currently assessing the impact the new guidance will have on our lidated fi

leference Rate Reform

a March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, “Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848), Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting.” In January 2021, the FASB clarified the scope of that guidance with the issuance
f ASU 2021-01, “Reference Rate Reform: Scope.” This ASU provides optional guidance for a limited period of time to ease the burden in accounting for (or re:ognizing the effects of) reference rale reform on financial reporting. This would apply
> companies meeting certain criteria that have hedgi lationships and other Iransacnons that reference LIBOR or another rate expected to be di inued b of r rate reform. This standard is effective for u
nmediately zmd may be applied prospectively to dificati made and hedging hips entered into or evaluated on or before December 31, 2022. We are currently assessing the impact the new guidance will have on ow

1
1id

implifying the Accounting for Income Taxes

a December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Acoounnng for Income Taxes.” This ASU is intended to simplify various aspects retated to accounting for income taxes, eliminates certain exception:

vithin Topic 740, “Income Taxes” and clarifies certain aspects of the current guid: top lication. The dard is effective for us on May 1, 2021, and early adopuon is permitted in any interim period for which financial
tatements have not yet been issued. We will adopt the new standard on May |, 2021. We do not expect the adoption of ASU 2019-12 to have a material impact on our lidated fi at the time of adoption. The impact in the
uture would depend on any changes in tax laws and the applicabl dates. In d with ASU 2019-12, the enactment date is when any effects are ized in the lidated fi ial
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{ote3—R R ition, C with C
lisaggregation of Revenue
"he following tables present our revenue from contracts with customers disaggregated by segment and product type.

For the Years Ended April 30,

2021 2020 2019
tesearch Pub inhin“ & Platfarme-

{ Research [T 77 R TV S 908,958 5 M= "903,219]
Research Platforms 42,837 39,887 35,968
*otal Résearch Publishing & Platforms - Hnd W = 013,349 "m0 048,839 eh o s 939,217 4
(cademic & Professional Learning: haal —— * T o T )}
Education Publlshmg 363,870 352,188 372 018
[Professmnal Leammg T - - < 280,667 P 298,601 - _ 331,285

“otal Academic & Professional Learning 644,537 650,789 703,303
-y - m C E ra— £ n i o R T P T P i
‘Qucailvu 3o vives.

{Education Services OrM (D = - : : e N 227,700 : 210,882, : TT155819])
mthree ¥ 53,915 20,973 1,730
“otal Ediication Sérvices i : - i ST 015 YT e LSS e o . 1575490
“otal Revenue ) $ 1,941,501 $ 1,831,483 - $ 1,800,069

1) In May 2020, we moved the IT bootcamp business acquired as part of The Leaming House acquisition from Education Services Online Program Management (OPM) to mthree. As a result, the prior period revenue related to the IT bootcamp
business has been included in mthree. The revenue for the IT bootcamp business was $1.6 million, $3.5 million and $1.7 million for the years ended April 30, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. There were no changes to our total Educatior
Services or our consolidated financial results.

‘he following information describes our disaggregation of revenue by and product type, Overall, the majority of our revenue is recognized over time.

tesearch Publishing & Platforms

tesearch Publishi Pl ! include academic, corporate, gov , and public llbranes funders of h, ' ienti: linici i and technologists, scholarly and professional societies, and stud, anc
rofessors. Research Publishing & Platforms products are sold and distributed globally through ftipt includi h hbmn&s and library consortia, lndependent subscription agents, direct sales to professional society members, anc
ther customers. Publishing centers include Australia, China, Germany, India, the UK, and the US. The majority of revenue generated from Research Publishing and Pl prod is gnized over time. Total Research Publishing &

"latforms revenue was $1,015.3 million in the year ended April 30, 2021,

Ve disaggregated revenue by Research Publishing and Research Platforms to reflect the different type of products and services provided. R h Publishi d provide scientifi hnical, medical, and scholarly joumals, as well as relatec
ontent and services, to academic, corporate, and govemment libraries, leamed societies, and individual researchers and other profess:onals Research Publlshlng revenue was $972.5 million in the year ended April 30, 2021 and the majority i
zcognized over time. b

. h Platf : Bl

isap hing software and service provider that enables scholarly and professional societies and publishers to deliver, host, enhance, market, and manage their content on the web through the Literatum platform. Researcl
‘|atforms revenue was $42.8 million in the year ended April 30, 2021 and the majority is recognized over time.

tesearch Publishing Products

tesearch Publishi d pproxi ty 77% of its revenue from contracts with its customers from Joumnal Subscriptions {pay to read), Open Access (pay to publish) and Comprehensive Agreements (read and publish) and the
2mainder from Llcensmg, Reprints, Backfiles, and Other.
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ournal Subscriptions and Open Access

Quh

oumnal subscription contracts are negotiated by us directly with customers or their subscription agents. iption periods typically cover calendar years. In a typical joumal subscription sale, there is a written agreement between us and ow
| gr as y because our enforceable rights under the agreements are subject to an annual confirmation and negotiation process with the customer.

that cover multiple years. , we typically account for these

£ bli oath eimetional intell

n joumal subscripu'ons, there are g ly two p a | property license with a stand-ready promise to provide access to new content for one year, which mcludes online hosung of the content, and :
| 1) p perpetual license for access to hlstoncz\l journal content, which also includes online hosting of the content. The ion price ists of fixed ideration. Joumal sub 1on revenue is generally collected ir
dvance when the annual llcense is granted, and no significant financing component exists.

‘he total ion price is all d to each perfi bligation based on its relative standalone selling price. We allocate revenue to the stand-ready promise to provide access to new content for one year based on its observable standalon:
elling price which is generally the contractually stated price and the revenue for new content is recognized over one year as we have a i stand-ready obligation to provide the right of access to additional intellectual property. The altocatios
f revenue to the perpetual licenses for access to historical journal content is done using the expected cost plus a margin approach as permitted by the dard. Revenue is gnized at the point in time when access to historical content i:
aitially granted.

Inder the Open Access business model, we have a signed with the that i £ ble rights. The Open Access business model in a typical model includes an over-time single per bligation that bines a promist
> host the customer’s content on our open access platform, and a promise to provide an Article Publication Charge (APC) at a discount to eligible users who are defined in the contract, in exchange for an upfront payment. Enforceable right t
ayment occurs over time as we fulfill our obli to provide a di 1o eligible users, as defined, on future APCs. Therefore, the upfront payment is recorded as a contract liability and revenue is recognized over time.

‘omprehensive agreements (read and publish), sometimes referred to as tr are the i ive new model that blends journat subscnpnon and open access offerings. Essentially, for a single fee, a national or regional consortiun
f libraries pays for and receives full read access to our joumal portfolic and the ablllly to publish under an open access Like subscrip prehensive deals involve recurring revenue under multiyear contracts, Unlik
ubscriptions, they also allow for further upside depending on how much publishing volume we Comprehensive models | the ition to open access while maintaining subscription access.

q 1

a January 2019, Wiley a ar in support of Open Access, a countrywide partnership agreement with Projekt DEAL, a representative of nearly 700 academic institutions in G . This three-y

rovides all Projekt DEAL institutions with access to read Wiley's academic journals back to the year l997 and resem'chers at Projekt DEAL msnmhons can publish articles open access in Wiley's journals. The partnership will bener suppor
astitutions and researchers in advancing open science, driving discovery, and developing and di X . Projekt DEAL includ te perfc bligati which include a stand-ready promise to provide access to nev
ontent, perpetual license for access to historical ;oumal content and accepting articles to be hosted on our open access platform We are compensated primarily through a fee per article published and a consolidated access fee. The consideration for
‘rojekt DEAL consists of fixed and variable id Weall d the total ideration to the fixed and variable components based on its relative standalone selling prices for each performance obligation.

Jicensing, Reprints, Backfiles and Other

Vithin licensing, the revenue derived from these contracts is primarily comprised of ad: payments, includi ini guarantees and sales- or usage-based royalty ag Our intell | property is idered to be fi
atellectual property. Due to the stand-ready promise to provide updates during the subscription period, which is generally an annual period, revenue for the mini is ized on a straight-line basis over the term of the agreement
‘or our sales-or usage-based royalty agr we recognize revenue in the period of usage based on the amounts earned. We record revenue under these arrangements for the amounts due and not yet reported to us based on estimates of the sale:
r usage of these customers and pursuant to the terms of the contracts. We also have certain licenses whereby we receive a fundable mi g against a vol based royalty throughout the term of the agreement. We recogniz
olume-based royalty income only when lativ idi ds the

\eprints contracts generally contain a single performance obligation which is the delivery of printed articles. Revenue is recognized at the time of delivery of the printed articles.
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‘or Backfiles, the performance obligation is the granting of a functional intell | property license. Revenue is recognized at the time the functional intellectual property license is granted.
p

Jther includes our Article Select offering, whereby we have a single perfc bligation to our to give access to an article through the purchase of a token. The customer redeems the token for access to the article for a 24-hour period
‘he customer purchases the tokens with an upfront cash pay R is ized when access to the article is provided.

tesearch Platforms Services

tesearch Platforms’ services typically include a single performance obligation for the impl ion and hosting subscription services. The transaction price is fixed which may include price escalators that are fixed increases per year, anc
1erefore, revenue is ized upon the initiation of the subscription period and recognized on a straight-line basis over the time of the | period. The duration of these is g Ily multiyear ranging from 2-5 years,

\cademic & Professional Learning

demic & Professional Leaming provid ducation Publishing and Professional Learning prod and services includi ientific, professional, and education print and digital books, digital , and test preparation services, &
‘braries, corporati d professionals, and t s, as well as leaming, devel and services for busi and professionals. C ities served include busi finance, ing, workplace 1
leadersh:p, hnol behavioral health, engt / archi , science and medicine, and education. Products are developed for worldwide distribution through multiple channels, including chain and online booksellers, libraries

olleges and uni i direct to web snes distributor netwnrks and other online applications. Publishing centers include Australia, Germany, India, the UK, and the US. Total Academic & Professional Learning revenu
vas $644.5 million in dle ycar ended Apnil 30, 2021.

Ve disaggregated by type of products provided. Academic & Professional Leamning products are Education Publishing and Professional Leamning. Academic & Professional Leaming are mainly ized at a point in time.

“ducation Publishing Products

iducation Publishing products revenue was $363.9 million in the year ended April 30, 2021. Education Publishi d approxi ly 63% of its revenue from with its from Education (print and digital) Publishing

vhich is recognized at a point in time, and 24% from Digital Courseware which is recognized over time, The rem:under ofns revenues were from Test Preparation and Certification and Licensing and Other, which has a mix of revenue recognized a
point in time and over time.

‘ducation Publishing and Professional Publishing (included within Profe I Learning below)

Jur performance obligations as it relates to Education and Professional Publishing are primarily book products delivered in both print and digital form which could include a single or multiple perfc bligations based on the number of print o
igital books purchased which are rep d by an [ ional Standard Book Number (ISBN’s), with each ISBN representing a performance obligation. Each ISBN has an observable stand-alone selling price since Wiley sells the book:
eparately.

"his revenue stream also includes variable id as it relates to discounts and returns for both print and digital books. Discounts are identifiable by perfi bligation and therefore are applied at the point of sale by performance
bligation. The process that we use to determine our sales retumns and the related reserve provision charged against revenue is based on applying an estimated return rate to current year retumnable print book sales. This rate is based upon an analysi:
f actual historical retum experience in the various markets and geographic regions in which we do business. We collect, maintain, and analyze significant amounts of sales returns data for large vol of h This allows uw

> make reasonable estimates of the amount of future retums. All available data is utilized to identify the returns by market and to which fiscal year the sales retums apply. This enables management to track the retumns in detail and identify and reac

3 trends occurring in the marketplace, with the objective of being able to make the most informed judgments possible in setting reserve rates. Associated with the estimated sales return reserves, we also include a related increase to inventory an
2duction to accrued royalties as a result of the expected returns.

is it relates to print and digital books within the Education and Professional Publishing, revenue is ized at the point when control of product transfers, which for print is upon shipment or for digital when fulfillment of the products has beet
sndered.
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Jigital Courseware Products

‘ourseware customers purchase access codes to utilize the product. This could include a single or multiple p bligations based on the number of course ISBNs purchased. Revenue is recognized over time in the period from when the
ccess codes are activated over the applicabl term to which such product relates.

‘est Preparation and Certification Products

‘est Preparation and Certificati are g lly three-y This stream includ ltiple perfc bligations as it relates to the online and printed course ials, including such items as textbooks, ebooks, videc
:ctures, flashcards, study guides and test banks The transaction pnce is fixed; however, discounts are offered and remms of certain products are allowed. We allocate © each perfc bli based on its relative standalone selling
rice. This standalone selling price is generally based upon the observable selling prices where the product is sold sep ly to Depending on the performance obli is ized at the time the product is delivered an¢
ontrol has passed to the customer, or over time due to our stand-ready obligation to provide updates to the customer,

dcensing and Other

tevenue derived from our licensing contracts is primarily prised of ady pay and sales- or usage-based Ities. R for adv payments is recognized at the point in time that the functional intellectual property license i:

rranted. For sales- or usage- based royalties, we record revenue under these arrangements for the amounts due and not yet reponed to us based on estimates of the sales or usage of these customers and pursuant to the terms of the contracts.

Yofessional Learning Products

’

o ccional Publichi
P

| Learning prod was $280.7 million in the year ended April 30, 2021. Professional Learning (print and digital) prod: approxi ly 48% of revenue from with its from Ps
nd Licensing and Other, both of which are described above, and both are mainly recognized at a point in time. Approxi ly 52% of Professional Leaming prod revenue is from with its from Corp Training an¢
‘orporate Learning, which is recognized mainly over time.

‘orporate Training

‘orporate Training through our authorized distributor network includi ltiple perfi bligati This includes a performance obligation that includes an annual membership which includes the right to purchase products and services
ccess to the platform, support and training, This performance obligation is recognized over time since we have an abligation to stand-ready for the customer’s use of the services. In addition, there are performance obligations for the assessment:
nd related products or services which are recognized at a point in time when the assessment, product or service is provided or delivered. The transaction price is allocated to each performance obligation based on its observable standalone selling

rice which is generally the contractually stated price for the performance obligation related to the annual membership, and for the other performance obligations based on its relative observable selling price when sold separately.

a addition, as it relates to Corp Training ’ d rights for situations where we have received a nonrefundabte payment for a to receive an and the is not expected to ise such right, we wil
ize such “breakage” as in proportion to the pattem of rights ised by the which is lly one year.

lorporate Learning

‘he ion price ists of fixed ideration that is d ined at the beginning of each year and received at the same time. Within Corporate Leamning there are multiple performance obligati which includes the I to leaming

ontent and the leaming application. R is ized over time as we have a continuous obligation to provide the right of access to the intell | property which includes the licenses and leaming applications.

‘ducation Services

iducation Services revenue was $281.6 million in the year ended April 30, 2021 and the majority is recognized over time. We disaggregated revenue by type of services provided, which are Education Services OPM and mthree.
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Sducation Services OPM

iducation Services OPM engages in the comprehensive management of online degree programs for universities and has grown to include a broad array of tech enabled service offerings that address our partner specific pain points, Increasingly, thi:
acludes delivering full stack career credentialing education that ads specific careers with in-demand skills.

iducation Services OPM include market h, marketing, student recrui 11 support, p i i suppon. demi servu:os to design courses, faculty support, and access to the Engage Leaming Management System, whict
acilitates the online educati p Graduate degree prog include Busi Ad ion, Finance, A i Ith C i and others. As of April 30 2021, the Education Services OPM business hac
6 university parmers under contract. We are also extending the core OPM business as well as delivering a broader array of essential umvelslty and career credentialing services that the market is d ding and which | ge our core Wiley skill:
nd assets. This full stack ed includes teacher professional develop and [T skills training, through which we develop and deliver professional credits and job placement through our corp In addition, Education Service:

)PM derives revenue from unbundled service oﬁ’enngs Education Services OPM revenue is primarily derived from prenegotiated contracts with institutions that provide for a share of tuition generated from students who enroll in a program. Tht

uration of Education Services OPM contracts are generally multiyear agreements ranging from a period of 7-10 years, with some having optional renewal periods. These optional renewal periods are not a materiat right and are not considered :
eparate performance obligation.

iducation Services OPM includes a single performance obligation for the services provided because of the integrated technology and services our institutional clients need to attract, enroll, educate and support students Consideration is variabl¢
ince it is based on the number of stud: lled in a p We begin to gnize revenue at the start of the delivery of the class within a semester overtime, which is also when the variable id is tved. Ed
-ervices OPM revenue was $227.7 million in the year ended April 30, 2021.

athree

athree is a talent placement provider that finds, trains and places job-ready technology talent in roles with leading i 1dwide. mthree’s with includes a bligation for the services provided, which i:

2cognized at the point in time the services are provided to its customers. mthree’s revenue was $53.9 million in the year ended April 30, 2021.

lecounts Receivable, net and Contract Liability Balances

Vhen ideration is received, or such ideration is ditionally due, from a customer prior to transferring goods or services to the customer under the terms of a contract, a consract liability is recorded. Contract liabilities are recognized a:
2venue when, or as, control of the products or services are ferred to the and all ition criteria have been met.
“he following table provides inft ion about ivable, net and ligbilities from contracts with customers.
Increase/
April 30, 2021 April 30, 2020 (Decrease)

talances from contracts with customers:

{:grrmmn Paceivante hat. o kbl - - ‘ - RGP i o O I - §o 0
Contract liabilities (V)

T Gt liabilties (moled in Ol

520214
T It ralies) A )R- i e e T § e iR 1 0,500 S = 14549="¢ g X 5 &

1) The sales return reserve recorded in Contract liabilities is $38.0 million and $32.8 million as of April 30, 2021 and April 30, 2020, respectively. See Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Recently Issued, and Recently Adoptec
Accounting Standards™ for further deuwils of the sales retum reserve.

‘or the year ended Apnl 30, 2021, we esti that we ized as revenue ially all of the current contract liability balance at April 30, 2020,
‘he increase in contract liabilities excluding the sales retum reserve as of April 30, 2021 was primarily driven by renewals ofjouma! bscription agr hensive ag open access, and test preparation and certification offerings
nd, to a lesser extent, the impact of foreign exchange, partially offset by revenue eamed on journal subscription p i open access and test preparation and certification offerings.
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temaining Performance Obligations included in Contract Liability

\s of April 30, 2021, the aggregate amount of the ion price all d to the ining perfe bligations is approxi ty $565.0 million, which included the sales retumn reserve of $38.0 million. Excluding the sales return reserve, w
xpect that approximately $507.4 million will be recognized in the next twelve months with the remaining $19.6 million to be recognized thereafter.

\ssets Recognized for the Costs to Fulfill a Contract

‘osts to fulfill a contract are directly related to a contract that will be used to satisfy a performance obligation in the future and are expected to be recovered. These costs are amortized on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to thi
ustomer of the goods or services to which the asset relates. These types of costs are incurred in the following product types, (1) Research Plaforms services, which includ specific impl ion costs per the terms of the contract anc
2) Education Services, which includes customer specific costs to develop courses per the terms of the contract.

Jur assets associated with incremental costs to fulfill a contract were $12.1 million and $11.5 million at April 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and are included within Other non-current assets on our Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
Ve recorded amortization expense of $5.1 million, $4.2 million, and $2.6 million in the years ended April 30, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively, related to these assets within Cost of sales on the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss).

.ales and value-added taxes are excluded from revenues. Shipping and handling costs, which are primarily incurred within the Academic & Professional Leaming occur before the transfer of control of the related goods. Therefore, it
ccordance with the dard, it is not idered a promised service to the customer and would be considered a cost to fulfill our promise to transfer the goods. Costs incurred for third party shipping and handling are primarily reflected i1
Iperating and administrative exp on the Ci lidated S of Income (Loss). We incurred $27.8 million, $28.8 miliion, and $32.7 million in shipping and handling costs in the years ended April 30, 2021, 2020, and 2019 respectively.

{ote 4 - Acquisitions

'ro forma financial information related to these acquisitions has not been provided as it is not material to our lidated results of op

7iscal Year 2021

lindawi

)n December 31, 2020, we completed the acquisition of 100% of the outstanding stock of Hindawi Limited (Hindawi). Hindawi is a scientifi h publisher and an i in open access publishing. Its results of operations are included it
ur Research Publishing & Platforms

"he preliminary fair value of the iderati ferred at the isition date was $300.1 million which inctuded $299.3 million of cash and $0.8 million related to the setd of a preexisti {ationship. We fi d the pay of the casl

onsideration primarily through borrowings under our Amended and Restated RCA {as defined below in Note 14, “Debt and Available Credit Facilities”) and using cash on hand. The fair value of the cash consideration transferred, net of $1.(
aillion of cash acquired was approximately $298.3 million.

Eahl 1

‘he Hindawi isition was d for using the acquisition method of ing. The preliminary excess purchase price over id net tangible and i assets acquired, and liabilities assumed has been recorded to Goodwill in ou
‘onsolidated Statements of Financial Position. Goodwill represents synergies and ies of scale d from the bination of services. We recorded the preliminary fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed on the acquisitio:

onl

ate. None of the goodwill will be deductible for tax p The ition related costs to acquire Hindawi were exp d when i d and were approxi ly $2.4 million for the year ended Apnl 30, 2021. Such costs were allocated to the
lesearch Publishing and Platforms segr and are reflected in Operating and administrative exp on the C lidated $ of Income (Loss) for the year ended April 30, 2021.

lindawi's and operating loss included in our Research P ing and Platforms seg| results for the year ended April 30, 2021 was $12.0 million and $2.1 million, respectively.

72




“he following table izes the preliminary ideration transferred to acquire Hindawi and the preliminary allocation of the purchase price among the assets acquired and liabiliti d
Preliminary Preliminary
Allocation as of Measurement Period Allocation as of
January 31, 2021 Adjustments April 30, 2021
‘otal cdnsideration transferred R - ) 5 suuse % - = 3 . 300,086 ,
Assets: ) S i T T ' v
Jurrent assets o L . L » 2,902 (90) 2812
‘echnology, property and equipment, net - o _ 844 . ~— 844
atangible assets, net L . . 194,400 500 194,900
Soodwill . T T T AL 5617 L 47388
Inerating lease | nght-of -use assets I ~ I _ - ) 3,716 — 46 3,762
ither non-current assets : ToTm L T (¥4 {1y [
‘otal assets $ 343,814 $ 5,961 $ 349,775
.abilities:
“Tietent inhiiirias . _ : I o . 3,657 G2 I 3,504
Yeferred incoms tax lisbilities . . ) . ) . o 36936 L s 37,031
Iperating lease liabilities T 3,035 13 3,15V
)ther long-term liabilities . — 5,914 5914
‘otal fiabiliies ~ : ) ’ 3 .70 9 SH6L 8 1,603
“he following table summarizes the identifiable intangible assets acquired and their weighted age useful life at the date of acquisition.
Estimated Weighted-Average
) Fair Value Useful Life (in Years)
‘onfent and publishing mghts _ 5 180,500 15
Yeveloped technology 5,000 6
‘radomartio i . 1,000 I
‘ustomer relationships 400 10
s . _ B - s 194,500
‘he allocation of the total ideration transferred to the assets acquired, including intangible assets and goodwil, and the liabilities assumed is preliminary, and could be revised as a result of additional information obtained due to the finalizatiot
f the third-party valuation report, leases and related commitments, tax related matters and contingencies and certain assets and liabilities, including receivables and payables, but such will be finalized within the period, whicl
Jill not exceed one year from the acquisition date. We are also in the process of aligning our accounting policies, which could result in changes related to fi ial P
“iscal Year 2020
athree
In January 1, 2020, we completed the acquisition of \00% of the outstanding stock of mthree. mthree is a rapidly growing talent p! provider that add the IT skills gap by finding, training and placing job-ready technology talent in role:
Jth leading corporations worldwide. Its results of op are included in our Education Services

“he fair value of the consideration transferred was $129.9 million (£98.5 million) which included $122.2 million of cash at the acquisition date, $6.4 million that was paid in cash after the acquisition date as part of the assumed liabilities, and $1.:

1illion of cash to be paid after the acquisition date. We fi d the pay of the cash ideration primarily through borrowings under our Amended and Restated RCA (as defined below in Note 14, “Debt and Available Credit Facilities™) anc
sing cash on hand. The fair value of the cash consideration transferred including those paid after the isition date in the year ended April 30, 2020, net of $2.2 million of cash acquired was approximately $126.4 million. The fair value
f the cash iderati ferred after the isition date, that was paid during the year ended April 30, 2021 was $1.2 million.
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\t the time of the acquisition, Wiley entered into agreements with certain emplayees of mthree who will remain employees after the isition. Cash pay will be made based on reaching certain revenue and EBITDA targets in each year ove
four-year period. Such payments are subject to inui ploy and would therefore be idered p i p for services provided to the acquisition. Such exp would be gnized when it b prababl
1at the targets will be achieved.

"he mthree acquisition was accounted for using the isition method of ing. The excess purchase price over identifiable net tangible and i ible assets acquired, and liabilities assumed has been recorded to Goodwill in our Consolidate
‘tatements of Financial Position. The fair value assessed for the majority of the tangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed equaled their carrying value. Goodwill represents synergies and ies of scale expected from the bination o
ervices. We recorded the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed on the acquisition date. None of the goodwill will be deductibte for tax purposes. The acquisition related costs to acquire mthree were expensed when incurred anc
vere approximately $1.3 million for the twelve months ended April 30, 2020. Such costs were primarily all d to the Education Services and were reflected in Operating and administrative exp on the Consolidated S o
ncome (Loss) in the year ended April 30, 2020.
athree’s i | revenue included in our Education Services results for the year ended April 30, 2021 was $32.6 million.
“he following table summarizes the consideration transferred to acquire mthree and the final allocation of the purchase price among the assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
Preliminary Allocation Measurement Final
as of April 30, 2020 Period Adjustments Allocation
“otal cash consideration at the acquisition date and cash to be paid ’ $ 122242 § 1280 $ 123,531
\ssets: . o
‘urrent assets . 8,750 473 9,223
‘echnology, property and equipment, net ’ 484 — 484
ntangible assets, net o . . 56,836 — 56,836
soodwill ) 82,561 - 82,561
)perating lease right-of-use assets 3,710 — 3,710
“otal assets T T 5 152,341 $ 473§ 152,814
dnbilities; . . B T . I - . e
.urrent liabilities . _ L . R 14,380 (816) 13,564
Jeterred income tax Liabilities . ) ! . = i ’ wer: = . 12,722
Iperating lease liabilities 2,692 — 2,692
Yther long-term liabilities T oo T 3Uy — R
‘otal liabilities $ 30,099 $ 816) $ 29,283
‘he following table summarizes the identifiable i ible assets acquired and their weighted age useful life at the date of acquisition.
Weighted-Average
Fair Value Useful Life (in Years)
sustomer rolationchips . . L X . ) 8 48,792 12
‘rademarks ) ’ 1o
‘ontent "
‘otal $

‘he allocation of the consideration transferred to the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed was final during the three months ended January 31, 2021.
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‘yante Inc,

)n July 1, 2019, we completed the acquisition of Zyante Inc. (zyBooks), a leading provider of computer science and STEM education courseware, The results of operations of zyBooks are included in our Academic & Professional Leamning segmen
ssults. The fair value of the consideration transferred at the acquisition date was $57.1 million which included $55.9 million of cash and $1.2 million of additional consideration to be paid after the acquisition date, inclusive of purchase price
dj which were finalized in the three months ended January 31, 2020. The fair value of the cash consideration transferred in the year ended April 30, 2020, including those paid after the isition date, net of $1.8 million of cast
cquired was approximately $54.7 million. The fair value of the cash consideration transferred after the acquisition date, that was paid during the year ended April 30, 2021 was $0.3 million.

‘he zyBooks acquisition was accounted for using the isition method of ing. The excess purchase price over identifiable net tangible and i ible assets acquired, and liabilities assumed has been recorded to Goodwill in ou
‘onsolidated Statements of Financial Position as of April 30, 2020. The fair value d for the majority of the tangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed equaled their cartying value. Goodwill represents synergies and economies of scals
xpected from the combination of services. Goodwill has been all d to the Academic & Professional Leamning None of the goodwill will be deductible for tax purposes.

yBooks i | revenue included in our Academic & Professional Learning segrn results for the year ended April 30, 2021 was $1.3 million.

e following table summarizes the consideration transferred to acquire zyBooks and the allocation of the purchase price among the assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

Final

Allocation
ol cash considerabion lranslerred . . - ST T T ' I SERRE LU
\sséts:
jwremtassers_ . o . . . — S . - 2,280
‘SUUSIaLY, Bropeily dind Cquipmnt, il A o rmermeme o 28
atangible assets, net 24,500
soodwill ) 34,903
‘otal assets 3 63,711
inbilities: ’ o .
lurrent liabiliies 2,581
Yeferred income tax liabilities 5,191

vial liabiliies

The following table summarizes the identifiable intangible assets acquired and their weighted-average useful life at the date of acquisition.

Weighted-Average
Fair Value Useful Life (in Years)

Jevelonsd technelosy . o . . S s 1n400 7!
‘ustomer relsti_on§hip_s B _ 6,800 N . 10
iontent i . ) A0 o
‘rademarks 2,900 10
“otal 3 24.300
‘he allocation of the iderati ferred to the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed was final as of April 30, 2020.
)ther Acquisitions in Fiscal Year 2020
‘he fair value of cash consideration transferred during the year ended April 30, 2020 for all other isitions was approxi 1y $48.5 million. The fair value of the cash iderati ferred after the isition dates, that was paid during the
ear ended April 30, 2021 was $0.1 million. These other isitions were d for using the isition method of ing as of their respective acquisition dates,
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)unng the year ended April 30, 2021, a revision of $11.7 million from goodwill to intangible assets was made to the allocation of the ideration transferred to the assets acquired and liabilities d for the Infi ics and Mad;

due to pletion of the third-party valuation. The excess purchase price over identifiable net tangible and i ibl assets quired, and llabllmes assumed of $17.3 rmllmn has been recorded to Goodwill on our Consolidated
+atements of Financial Position as of April 30, 2021, and $39.4 million of intangible assets subject to amortization have been ded, i L developed technology, content and trademarks that are being amortized over
stimated weighted average useful lives of 7, 8, 10, and 10 years, respectively. The fair value assessed for the majority of the tanglble assets ncq\ured and liabilities assumed equaled their carrying value. Goodwill represents synergies and economie:
f scale expected from the bination of services. Goodwill of $8.5 million has been all d to the Academic & Professional Leaming and $8.8 million has been allocated to the Research Publishing & Platforms segment. The
1cremental revenue for the year ended April 30, 2021 related to these ather acquisitions was approximately $13.5 million.
)n April 1, 2020, we completed the acquisition of Bio-Rad Laboratories Inc.’s Informatics prod including the pany’s sp py softy and spectral databases (Informatics). The resuits of Inf ics are included in our R t

blishi Plafc results,

)n March 2, 2020, we pleted the acquisition of Madgex Holdings Limited (Madgex), a market-leading provider of ad d job board software and career center services. The results of Madgex are included in our Research Publishing &

‘atforms segment results.

‘he allocation of the consideration transferred to the assets acquired and the liabilities d for Infc ics and Madgex was final as of April 30, 2021,

In May 31, 2019, we completed the acqmsmnn of cenam assets of Knewton, Inc. (Knewton). Knewton is a provider of affordable courseware and adaptive leaming technology. The results of Knewton are included in our Academic & Prof
.eamning segment results. The all of the id ferred to the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed for Knewton was final as of April 30, 2020.

Ve also completed in fiscal year 2020 the acquisition of two i ial busi which are included in our Research Publishing & Platfc onei ial busil included in our Academic & Professional Learning segn result:
nd one i ial busi in our Education Services business. The allocation of the ideration transferred to the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed for these other acquisitions was final as of October 31, 2020.

{ote S — Reconciliation of Weighted Average Shares Outstanding
v reconciliation of the shares used in the computation of earnings (loss) per share follows (shares in thousands):

For the Years Ended April 30,

2021 2020 2019

Veighted average shares di C 55,931 56,224 5_7!240]
sess: Unvested restricted shares ) Q1) (15) (48)

4 baslc emgg([p;g) per share N . N . I - - i 55,930 - C56,209 ! 57.|92J
Jilutive effect of unvested restricted stock units and other stock awards 531 — 648
‘hares used for diluted earnings (loss) per slpa_re Kk K R T . . . - - 56461 - e 56,209 o ) 57.3401
Antidilutive options to purchase Class A common shares, restricted shares, warrants to purchase Class A shares and i ly issuabl icted

stock which are excluded from the table above 982 1,677 958

a calculating diluted net loss per common share for the year ended April 30, 2020, our diluted weighted average number of shares di ludes the effect of unvested restricted stock units and other stock awards as the effect wa:
nti-dilutive. This occurs when a US GAAP net toss is reported and the effect of using dilutive shares is antidilutive,
‘he shares iated with perfor based stock awards are idered i ly issuable shares and will be included in the diluted weighted average number of common shares outstanding when they have met the performance condition:

nd when their effect is dilutive.
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{ote 6 - A tated Other Compreh Loss
‘hanges in A lated Other Compreh Loss by p net of tax, for the years ended April 30, 2021, 2020, and 2019 were as follows:
Foreign Unamortized
Currency Retirement Interest
Translati Costs Rate Swaps
falance at Apnil 30,2018 e : - s, (25157) 5 (191,026) 8. 230197
Other comprchensive ﬂus.,) income before reclassifications (60,534) (9,422) 1121
{Amoums 2y fro‘ﬁ litedother Srer G TR A — T S S R L e T B T T St T T T € 'll.l),, IR R \(1'7“)7
Total other comprehensive loss (60.534) (5,031) (3,593) (69.158)
ialance at Apil- 30, 2019 T T —-— " " b 3T e (GI200T 8 gz . (196,057)  §=F ) ek . (S0R 738
Olhvzr ¢ comprehancive logs befara reclassificatinns (28,596) (36,965) (5,988) (71,549)
ts reclassified from Accumulated other pret loss M " T =G re HGN02. T PRSTTINEN () R W l')U}
Total other comprehensive loss (28,596) (31,863) (6,300) (66,759)
{alance at Aprit 30; 2020 B Pt TS n  (340703y 8 T (2279200 X 874) (575,497
“Other r.omprshenslva income (loss) before m:lasﬁlfrnnnnt 82,762 (6,.273) 75,850
Amounts r d from Accumulated cther comprehensive 10ss i i M = - L e GO47 T o ) 2,8 3 1,7?“}}
Total other comprehensive income (loss) 82,762 (226) 2,171 84,707
talance at April 30, 2021 s (257.941) " § (228,146) " § (4,703)"'S (490,790)i
or the years ended April 30, 202[ 2020 and 2019, pretax actuarial losses included in Unamortized R Costs of ap ly $7.8 million, $6.4 million, and $5.5 million respectively, were amortized from Accunulated QOthe
prehensive Loss and d as pension and p i Xp in Operating and admini: ive exp and Other income on the Consolidated Statements of lncome (Loss).
Jur policy for releasing the income tax effects from lated other hensive (loss) income is to refease when the ponding pretax lated other prehensive (loss) income items are reclassified to eamings.
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{ote 7 - Restructuring and Refated Charges

tusiness Optimization Program

leginning in fiscal year 2020, we initiated a multiyear Busi Optimization Program (the Business Optimization Program) to drive efficiency improvement and operating savings.
e following tables ize the pretax restr ing charges related to this program:
For the Years Ended April 30,
Total Charges
2021 2020 Incurred to Date

“harges by S
[ Rescarch Publishing & Platforms - o = o~ ~ 5~ T el S kg T 21 J S 35645}

Academic & Professional Leaming 3,229 10,475 13,704
{ Eddcation Services 531 3,774 4,305

Corporate Expenses | X R 29,590 15,018 44,600
“oal Reswucturing and Reiated Uharges oo S - e - e, b . : o Fen o ad 3344077 § e rwAYZRI3 T T pbinz )
‘harges (Credits) by / ' m A Y e — - — )

Severance and termination benefits ) 3 1,531 § 26864 § 33,395
{Lifipairment of operaring lease ROU assets and property and equipm 14918 161 15079]

Acceleration of exp. related to operating lease ROU assets and property and equipment 3,378 —_ 3,378
{Faciliy relared charges - o ‘ — PSS ' 3,684 T 7670

Other activities (62) 1,802 1,740
‘otal Restructuring and Related Charges $ .. 3344978 328137 8 : 66,262 ]
a November 2020, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic and the Company’s ful ition to a virtual work environment, we increased use of virtual work for post-pandemic operati As a result, we expanded the scope o
1¢ Business Optimization Program to include the exit of certain leased office space beginning in the three months ended January 31, 2021, and the red of our occup at other facilities. We are reducing our real estate square footage

ccupancy by approximately 12%. These actions resulted in a pretax restructuring charge of $18.3 million in the three months ended January 31, 2021. This restructuring charge primarily reflects the following noncash charges:
4 &

*  impairment charges of $14.9 million recorded in our corporate category, which included the impai of operating lease ROU assets of $10.6 million related to certain leases that will be subleased, and the related property and equipmen
of $4.3 million described further below, and
* acceleration of expense of $3.4 million, which included the leration of rent exp iated with operating lease ROU assets of $2.9 million related to certain leases that wiil be abandoned or terminated and the related depreciatior

and amortization of property and equipment of $0.5 million.

Jue to the actions taken above, we tested the operating lease ROU assets and the related property and equipment for those being subleased for recoverability by comparing the carrying value of the asset group to an estimate of the futur

di d cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset group. Based on the results of the recov test, we d ined that the undi d cash flows of the asset groups were below the carrying values
‘herefore, there was an indication of impairment. We then determined the fair value of the asset groups by utilizing the present value of the estimated future cash flows attributable to the assets. The fair value of these operating lease ROU assets anc
1e property and equip i diately sub to the impairment was $7.5 million and is categorized as Level 3 within the FASB ASC Topic 820, “Fair Value M " fair value hi hy.

q

n addition, we also incurred ongoing facility-related costs associated with certain properties that resulted in additional restructuring charges of $3.7 million in the year ended April 30, 2021.

o

Jther Activities for the year ended Aprii 30, 2020 primarily relate to reserves and costs iated with the ion of certain offerings, and, to a lesser extent, a pension settl and the impai: of certain licenses.
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‘he following table summarizes the activity for the Business Optimization Program liability for the year ended Apnril 30, 2021:

Foreign
Translation &
Other
7 April 30,2020 Charges (Credits) Payments Adjustments April 30, 2021
and termination benefits s _ VIS Pt usn s S (18310) 05 - sa e S22 Sz, 7 11,465
)ther activities 430 (264) (262) 96 —
“otal . $ 7 sl T8 = w0267 8 T w wi (1857 Sit . T - IRTUS i 11465}
‘he restructuring liability for accrued severance and termination benefits is reflected in Accrued employ costs in the Consolidated $ of Financial Position as of April 30, 2021.
¢ ing and Reil Program

teginning in the year ended April 30, 2013, we |nmated a global program (the Restructuring and Remvestmem Program) to restructure and realign our cost base with current and anticipated future market conditions. We are targeting a majority o

1e expected cost savings achieved to imp and i while the inder will be rei d in high-growth digital business opportunities.
‘he following tables summarize the pretax restructuring (credits) charges related to this program:

For the Years Ended April 30,

Total Charges
2021 2020 2019 Incurred to Date

Credita) Chornsa hv ' Bogmont: —
| Research ¥ g & Flatforms - - Aainten T e e (135) T B Tt B e 4 e AT e 26.749]

Acgﬂm" & Prnfassinnal T paming 274 ) 1,139 43,108
| Eadesion Scrices e e . e e Wi e Fsero: w2 oot L1

(‘orpome Expenses } (278) (438) 95,662
‘otal Restructuring and Related (Credits) Charges §. - (TS vt (200) 8. -~ R z.na T . .léﬂ.lﬁll
Credits) Charges by Activity: ; e T BT T i

Ecveranoe and tormination benafits oo , $ (139 _$ (250)  $ 1,456 $ 115,870
[ Consulting and confract termination costs " e F Sy L T T " L ULL) P 20 B 20,004 )

Other agtivities ) — 215 1,136 32,429
‘otal Restructuring and Related (Credits) Charges $_ v e (39§t Tt (206)7 08 em o3l 8 em . 16R93]

)ther activities for the year ended April 30, 2020 include facility related costs. Other activities for the year ended April 30, 2019 reflect lease impairment related costs.

“he following table summarizes the activity for the Restructuring and Reinvestment Program liability for the year ended Apnil 30, 2021:

Foreign
Translation &
. April 30,2020 (Credlts) Payments Other Adjustments April 30, 2021

and Ermination benefits g T TESU Ty E T e (139)TN3ET ©@O”S, o e | 0TS 4 §
nher activities 230 = 207) 239 262
‘otal § - IS Come (139 TS N e e 1(1,095)T R8T Sy TS L. ~ m]
“he restructuring liability as of April 30, 2021 for accrued severance and termination benefits is reflected in Accrued employ costs in the C lidated S of Financial Position.
"he cestructuring liability as of April 30, 2021 for other activities are reflected in Other accrued liabilities in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and maialy relate to facility relocation and lease impai related costs.

Ve ly do not anticipate any further ial charges related to the R ing and Reil Program.

.
NDEX




{ote 8 - Inventories

nventories, net consisted of the following at April 30:

‘inished goods

Vork-in-process

‘aper and other materials

“otal inventories before estimated sales returns and LIFO reserve
aventory value of estimated sales retumns

AFO reserve o '

aventories, net

.ee Note 2, “S y of Signifi A ing Policies, R

{ote 9 — Product Development Assets

‘roduct devel assets, net isted of the following at April 30:

tuck composition ¢osts
-oftware costs

‘ontent development costs
roduct development assets, net

2021 2020
s 31,7064 § 36,014
2,060 1,398
331 331
34,095 37,743
10,886 8,686
(2,443) (2.815)
$ 42,538 $ 43,614
ly Issued and Recently Adopted Accounting Standards,” under the caption “Sales Return Reserves,” for a di ion of the I y value of d sales retums.
‘inished goods not recorded at LIFO have been recorded at the lower of cost or net realizable value, which resulted in a reduction of $14.0 million and $16.1 million as of April 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
2021 2020
) 3 20,474 § 18,744
8262 28,995
5.781 5,904
$ 49,517 $ 53,643

‘roduct development assets include $6.3 million and $4.9 million of work-in-process as of April 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. As of April 30, 2021 this is primarily for book composition costs and, to a lesser extent, software costs. As of Apri

0, 2020, this is primarily for book composition costs.

‘roduct development assets are net of accumulated amortization of $269.0 million and $244.1 million as of April 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

{ote 10 — Technology, Property and Equipment

ach

logy, property and equip net isted of the foll

iapitaliand wullware
“omputer hardware
fuildings and leasehold imp

, fixtures, and wareho
and and land inyproveincuts
Echnology, pioperty and equipment, gross
shsiiviulutod dupreciaiion ad anvid zalun
‘échnology, property and equipment, net

‘he following table details our depreciation and amortization expense for technology, property and equipment, net:

“apitalized software amotization expense

ing at April 30:

p. and

‘otal depreciation and

2021 2020
4 536878 5 471,844
50,714 26,640
99,636 99,230
12,674 44,104
3,836 3,498
733,550 303,110
(451,28%) (367,111)
5 282270 S 298,005

For the Years Ended April 30,

nn 3020 2019
69,184 3 55685 $ T 50,095
21,955 21,031 19,323
21,103 3 76716 % 89,418




‘echnology, property and equipment includes $0.6 million and $0.9 million of work-in-process as of April 30, 202] and 2020, respectively, for capitalized software.
‘he net book value of capitalized software costs was $202.8 million and $207.5 million as of April 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

{ote 11 — Goodwill and Intangible Assets

roodwill

‘he following table summarizes the activity in goodwill by segment as of April 30:

Foreign
Translation
2020 M Acquisitions @ Adjustment 2021
tesearch Publishing & Platforms $ 448130 8 2 136,789. $ 34,284 $ 6l9,203»j
wadenic & Professional Leaming 501,091 — 11,421 512,512
iducation Services - 167,569 N _ — T 3,036 5 e l72,625-]
‘otal $ 1,116,790 $ 136,789 M 50,761 s 1,304,340
1) The Education Services goodwill balance as of April 30, 2020 includes a lative pretax h goodwill impairment of $110.0 million.
) Refer to Note 4, “Acquisitions,” for more infc ion related to the acquisitions that occurred in the year ended April 30, 2021.

tnnual Goodwill Impairment Test as of February 1, 2021

Juring the fourth quarter of 2021, we completed step one of our annual goodwill impairment test for our reporting units. We concluded that the fair values of our reporting units were above their carrying values and, therefore, there was nc
adication of impairment.

Ve estimated the fair value of these reporting units using a weighting of fair values derived from an income and a market approach. Under the income approach, we determined the fair value of a reporting unit based on the present va!ue of estimatec

uture cash flows. Cash flow projections are based on our best esti of fc d ic and market conditions over the period mcludmg growth rates, expected changes in operating cash flows and cash expenditures. The discount rate usec

; based on a weighted average cost of capital adjusted for the relevant risk iated with the ch istics of the busi and the proj cash flows. The rnm'ket approach estimates fair value based on market multiples of current and forwarc

2-month revenue or EBITDA, as applicable, derived from parable publicly traded panies with similar operating and i h istics as the rep g unit.

\s noted above, the fair value determined as part of the annual goodwill impai test pleted in the fourth quarter exceeded the carrymg value for all of our reporting umts Therefore, there was no lmpamnent of goodwill. However if the fai

alue of these reporting units decrease in future periods, we ceuld potenually have an impairment. The future ofap al indi of impairment, such as a d in d net ges in p ding th:

npact of COVID-19 adverse eqully market conditions, a decline in current market mulhples a decline in our common stock price, a significant adverse change in legal factors or busmess climates, an adverse action or assessment by a regulator
isions made in resp to or ditions, or a more-likely-than-not expectation that a reporting unit or a signifi portion of a reporting unit will be sold or disposed of, could require a1

tenim nssessmem for some or nll of the reporting units before the next required annua.l assessment,

‘nnual Goodwill Impairment Test as of February I, 2020

\s of February 1, 2020, we completed our annual goodwill impairment test for our reporting units. We concluded that the fair values of our Research Publishing & Platforms and Academic & Professional Leaming reporting units were above thei
arrying values and, therefore, there was no indication of impairment.
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Juring our annual goodwill impairment test initiated on February 1, 2020 we identified indicators that the goodwill of the Education Services busi was impaired due to underperformance as pared with our acquisition case proj fo
svenue growth and operating cash flow. Subsequently, during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2020, we determined that our updated revenue and operating cash flow projections would be further impacted by anticipated near-term headwinds due tc
‘OVID-19, including adverse impacts on new student starts and student 1l Therefore, we updated the impai test as of March 31, 2020 to reflect this change in circumstances. As a result, we concluded that the carrying value wa:
bove the fair value which resulted in a pretax noncash goodwill impairment of $110.0 miltion. This charge is reflected in Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss).

rior to performing the goodwill impairment test for Education Services, we also evaluated the recoverability of long-lived assets of the reporting unit. The carrying value of the long-lived assets that were tested for impairment was $434.0 million
Vhen indicators of impairment are present, we test definite lived and long-lived assets for recoverability by comparing the carrying value of an asset group to an estimate of the furure undi d cash flows expected to result from the use anc
ventual disposition of the asset group. We considered the lower than expected revenue and forecasted operating cash flows over a sustained period of time, and downward revisions to our cash flow forecasts for this reporting unit to be indicators o:
ripairment for their long-lived assets. Based on the results of the recoverability test, we determined that the undiscounted cash flows of the asset group of the Education Services reporting unit exceeded the carrying value. Therefore, there was nc
mpairment.

ntangible Assets

ntangible assets, net as of April 30 were as follows:

2021 2020
Accumulated Accumulated Accumulated
Cost Amortization Net Cost Amortization Impairment Net

i efinite lives, ne -
iantent nnd prhlishing righi 3 (RS X:5I 2 | \U78as) % T 364229 S ' 806,862 $ (444,756)  $ — 3 . 362,106
‘ustomer refationships 384,462 (117,985) 266,477 377,652 (87,234) —_ 290,418
Yeveloped technology () 42,785 (7,824) 34,961 19,225 (3.273) (2.841) 13,111
trands and trademarks 45,630 (26,094) 19,536 42,877 (22,689) - 20,188
.avenants not to compete 1,250 (1,192) 58 1,675 (1,429) — 246
“otal @ 1,536,199 (650,938) 885,261 1,248,291 (559,381) (2,841) 686,069
irands and trademarks (1) 37,000 — 37.000 130,107 - (93,107) 37,000
‘ublighing rights 93,041 — 93,041 84,336 —_ — 84,336
‘otal 130,041 — 130,041 214,443 —_ (93,107) 121,336
‘otal intangible assets, net 3 1,666,240  § (650,938) 1015302 § 1462734  § (559.381) § (95,948) $ 807,405
1) The developed technology balance as of April 30, 2021 is presented net of accumulated impairments and write-offs of $2.8 million. The indefinite-lived brands and trad ks cost balance as of April 30, 2021 is net of accumulate

impairments of $93.1 million.

2) Refer to Note 4, “Acquisitions,” for more inf ion related to the acquisitions that occurred in 2021 and 2020.

tased on the current amount of intangible assets subject to amortization and assuming current foreign exchange rates, the estimated amortization expense for the following years are as follows:

‘iscal Year Amount

022 $ 82,401
023 76,125
024 71367
025 ) 635,76
026 ' ' 63,410
‘hereatter 526,194
otal $ 885,261
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tnnual Indefinite-Lived Intangibles Impairment Test as of February 1, 2021

Ve also review our indefinite-lived il ible assets for impai lly, which consists of brands and trademarks and certain acquired publishing rights. As of February 1, 2021, we completed our annual impairment test related to the
definite-lived i ible assets. We luded that the fair values of these indefinite-lived intangible assets were above their carrying values and, therefore, there was no indication of impairment.

“iscal Year 2020 Impairment

innual Indefinite-Lived ibles Impai) Test as of February 1, 2020

Juring the fourth quarter of 2020, we completed our annual impairment test related to the indefinite-lived i ible assets, We tuded that the fair values of these indefinite-lived intangible assets were above their carrying values and, therefore
1ere was no indication of impairment, except for the Blackwell indefinite-lived trad k

“or the year ended April 30, 2020, we recorded a pretax noncash impairment charge of $89.5 million for our Blackwell trademark, which was acquired in 2007 and carried as an indefinite-lived intangible asset primarily related to our Researct
'ublishing & Platforms segment. The impairment reflects our decision to simplify Wiley’s brand portfolio and unify our research journal content under one Wiley brand, which will sharply limit the use of the Blackwell trade name. This impairment
ssulted in writing off substantially all of the carrying value of the intangible trademark asset. This charge is reflected in Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss). The resulting noncast
mnpairment charge was entirely unrelated to COVID-19 or the expected future financial performance of the R h Publishing & Platfc

atangible Assets with Definite Lives

\s a result of our decision to discontinue the use of certain technology offerings within the R h Publishing & Pl we ded a pretax h impai charge of $2.8 million related to a certain developed technology
atangible. This charge was included in Impai of goodwill and i ible assets on the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss).

{ote 12 — Operating Leases

Ve have contractual obligations as a lessee with respect to offices, warehouses and distribution centers, biles, and office

Ve determine if an arrangement is a lease at inception of the contract in accordance with guidance detailed in the lease standard and we perform the lease classification test as of the lease commencement date. ROU assets represent our right to us:
n underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilit our obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Operating lease ROU assets and liabilites are ized at date based on the present value of leas:
ayments over the lease term.

“he present value of the lease payments is lated using an i | borrowmg rate, which was determined based on the rate of interest that we would have to pay to borrow an amount equal to the lease payments on a collateralized basis ove
similar term, We use an unsecured borrowing rate and risk-adjust that rate to acoll lized rate.
Inder the new leasing standard, leases that are more than one year in duration are capitalized and ded on the C lidated S of Financial Position. Some of our leases offer an option to extend the term of such leases. We utilize the
sasonably certain threshold cntena in determining which options we will exercise. Funhennore some of our lease payments are based on index rates with mini annual i These rep fixed pay and are captured in the futun
lease pay |
‘or operating leases, the ROU assets and liabilities as of April 30 are p d in our Consolidated $ of Financial Position as follows:
2021 2020
dperating Iéase ROU assets o $_ 121,430 75 - 142,716}
HKor-torm e POFION 01 ¢ sputing tease ftabili 22,440 21,810
‘)p_e_r;atjl"lg_l__. Tiabilities, non-current b i = o — id r N i D% 145,038 226 ronem 159,792 ]
Juring the year ended April 30, 2021, we added $6.1 million to the ROU assets and $5.7 million to the operating lease liabilities due to new leases, including due to acquisiti as well as modifications and to our g operating
2ases.
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\s a result of expanding the scope of the Business Optimization Program to include the exit of certain leased office space beginning in the third quarter of fiscal 2021, we incurred a pretax restructuring charge of $18.3 miilion in the three month:

nded January 31, 2021. This charge included impairment charges and ) of exp d with certain operating lease ROU assets. See Note 7, “Restructuring and Related Charges” for more information on this program and the
harges incurred.
Jur total net lease costs were as follows:
For the Years Ended April 30,

2021 2020
Yperating iéa s 2 s 26007]
/ariable leas RS6
‘hort-iérm fease cost — 86
.ublease income (691)
“otal net lease cost (1) - s s 29278
1) Total net lease cost does not include those costs included in Restructuring and related charges on our Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss). See Note 7, “Restructuring and Related Charges™ for more information on these programs.
Mther supplemental information includes the following:

* For the Years Ended April 30,

2021 2020
Veighted: 2 | lease term (years) 9 10
Veighted-average discount rate 5.89% 5.89%
:ash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities: . o
[ Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 3234_$ 28,243 ]
‘he table below reconciles the undiscounted cash flows for the first five years and total of the years to the operating lease liabilities ded in the C idated S of Financial Position as of April 30, 2021:

Operating Lease
'i;cal Year Liapitites
022 - = T - ~ ) ’ .~ T o $ 30,6741
028 ‘ 20903
(127 J—rs [EEEPNE i i 24,799]
025 23,235
026 20584]
‘hereafter 95,000
":@ future undiscounted Eu‘r‘\imu.m lease payments = 5 : b : il . _ 221,197 J
{1.75%" et intarast — 2 P o e x 25151
‘resent value of minimum léase payme : . " v " = 168,272
{LSET, CAront portiah L. RSN LB i g - 22440]
finuamieni union ) NTH ] u wm—— s 145,832 ]
*rior to the Adoption of ASC Topic 842
e foll hedule shows the p of net rent exp for operating leases for the year ended April 30:
. w1y
finimming real " (WA I . e v $_. " 29,066 ]
.ess: sublease rentals {71Y)
‘atal B < s 28,347 ]
—
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lent exp iated with operating leases that include scheduled rent increases and tenant incentives, such as rent holidays or leasehold imp il , were recorded on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

{ote 13 —Income Taxes

‘he provisions for income taxes were as follows:

For the Years Ended April 30,

2021 2020 2019

Zirrent Provision o B
US - Federal - B ’ s ©031) 3 LIS § 7,384
Intemational 43,269 37,494 52,518
State and local 1,35y 172 2,536
Total enrrent provision s 37997 § 33811 S 57,438

Yeferred (benefit) provision ' - X -
US - Federal . B $ (11,996) $ 8.476) ' § 335
Intemational ’ 1,175 asm? (7,630)
Stato and local 480 (4,118) (5,454)
Total deferred (benefit) ’ h o ) 3 (10.341) § (77618)  $ (12,749
Total provision s 27,656 11,195 § 44,689

aternational and United States pretax income (loss) were as follows:

For the Years Ended April 30,

2021 2020 2019
aternationat ’ o ) ' o g 202480 % 104185 & 04,376
Inited States (26,578) (167277 8,626
“otal s 175912 § (63,092) $ 212,952

Jur effective income tax rate as a percentage of pretax income differed from the US federal statutory rate as shown below:

For the Years Ended April 30,

. 2021 2020 2019

JS federal statutory rate ' T 2UN% 0% . _ 2L0%
‘ozt ol tugher tavas an nan-T1S intung . - . L1 4.8 B X
{ate income taxes, net of US federal tax benefit ’ . ) a4 3,3 Q3
J8 MOL carryback under CARFS Act ) . (8.0) —_ —
deferred tax (benefit) from US Tax Act -_ - 0.1
‘ax credits and retatéd henefits i 0.5) (1.1) (0.8)
mpairment of goodwill and intangibles ) ' — (42.3) -
Mher 1.3 (3.4) 11
iffective income tax rate 15.7%% (17.)% 21.0%

‘he effective tax rate was 15.7% for the year ended April 30, 2021, compared to a tax expense rate of 17.7% on a pretax loss for the year ended April 30, 2020. Our rate for the year ended April 30, 2021 benefitted by $14.0 million (8.0%) from th
*ARES Act and certain regulations issued in late July 2020, which enabled us to carry back certain US net operating losses (NOLs), reducing our tax for the year ended April 30, 2020 compared to prior estimates. This benefit was partially offset by
1) $3.5 million (2.0%) from an increase in the official UK statutory rate during our three months ended July 31, 2020, resulting in our taxes in non-US income increasing our effective income tax rate and (b) a $3.2 million (1.8%) increase in ou
tate tax expense included in our state income tax expense above, due to increasing our deferred tax liabilities in ion with our expanded pi in additional states Iting from COVID-19 and employees working in additional locations
‘he 17.7% tax expense rate on a pretax loss for the year ended April 30, 2020 was primarily due to the non-deductible impairment of goodwill.
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a connection with the CARES Act and certain regulations, we carried back our April 30, 2020 US NOL to our year ended April 30, 2015 and claimed a SZO 7 million refund. The refund plus interest was received in February 2021, The NOL wa:
ammied back to fiscal year 2015 when the US corporate tax rate was 35.0%. The carryback to a year with a higher rate, plus certain additional net p i luded in the carryback resulted in a $14.0 million tax benefit. The benefit wa:
artially offset by an increase in the UK statutory rate and an increase in our state tax expense. During the three months ended July 31, 2020, d\c UK officially enacted legislation that increased its statutory rate from 17% to 19%. This resulted in :
3.5 million h deferred tax exp from the of our applicable UK net deferred tax liabilities. During the year ended April 30, 2021, as a result of COVID-19, we adjusted our policies to permit employees to work from home
ssulting in an increased presence in many states. This resulted in a $3.2 million noncash deferred tax exp from the of our applicable US net deferred tax liabilities.

ing for U inty inI Taxes:
\s of April 30, 2021 and April 30, 2020, the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits were $9.1 million and $6.2 million, respectively, of which $0.7 million and $0.6 million represented accruais for interest and penalti ded as additional ta;
xpense in d with our ing policy. We ded net interest exp on reserves for unrecogmzed and recognized tax beneﬁts of $0.2 million within each of the years ended April 30, 2021 and 2020 As of April 30, 2021, and Apri
0, 2020, the total amounts of unrecogmzed tax benefits that would reduce our income tax provision, if recogni were i ly $7.4 million and $6.2 million, respectively. We do not expect any signifi h to the ized ta:
enefits within the next twelve months.

\ reconciliation of the unrecognized tax benefits included within the Other long-term liabilities line item on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position follows:

2021 2020

falance at May 1 - $ 6,194 S 7,659
\dditions for current year tax positi 3,626 694
{dditions for priaryear tax positions - e " I ; — 511 =1
‘eductions for prior year tax positions (162y (nyy)
‘Areign fransiatinn adjicront AP " 5 - —— " e 57 )
‘ayments nts and sertlements (215) (56)
feductions for lapse of statute of limitations ] o R o . G R (866) (l,433)‘£
salance at Apnl 30 ’ s 9,144 § 6,194

Ve file income tax retums in the US and various states and non-US tax jurisdictions. Our major taxing jurisdictions are the United States, United Kingdom and Germany. Except for one immaterial item, we are no longer subject to income ta:
xaminations for years prior to fiscal year 2014 in the major jurisdictions in which we are subject to tax. We received a tax audit notice from the Intemnal Revenue Service with respect to our lass for our year ended April 30, 2020 and the carrybac]
> the year ended April 30, 2015. We also received tax audit notices for our German entities for the fiscal years 2014-2017. The audit process in Gemmny has been delayed due to COVID-19. We have also add d inquiries in other jurisdiction:
/here we maintain a smaller presence.
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Jeferred Taxes:

Jeferred taxes result from y diffe in the

of revenue and expense for tax and financial reporting purposes.

Ve believe that it is more likely than not that the results of future operations will generate sufficient taxable income to realize the net deferred tax assets. The significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities at April 30 were as follows:

2021 2020
Tet operating losses ) B N 3 j 19433 § 17,966
teserve fur sules retwus and duubifil accounts L 3,838 2,638
rccrued employee compensation i o 32,835 20,114
‘oreign wil lelrial ||r|||h . . 5,129 31,487
)ther accrued expenses : oo e ' o v b ’ ’ 16.092 1,827
and pust-éinployment bencfits 30,039 37,927
Total | gross defened tax assets : T o i 3 107366  § 121950
Less valuation allowanse o (4.855) (23,287)
Total deferred tax assets o : 3 10251t ¢ 03,672
‘repaid expenses and other current assets ’ ) 3 “59) S (1,142)
Inremiued fureigu eamiogs . (2,485) (1,985)
ntangible and fixed assets T - (260,559) (205,382)
‘otal deferred tax liabilities $ (263,503) § (209,009)
Net deferred tax liabilities s (160.992) § (110,337)
Reported As N M - i - - . ) »
Deterfed 10% assets ] o s 1ot s 8,790
Deferred tax liabilities : o (172,903) (119,127)
Net Deferred Tax Liabilities 5 (160,992) § (110,337)
‘he increase in net deferred tax liabilities is primarily due to additional deferred tax liabilities relating to goodwill i ibl quired in recent isiti partially offset by ization of our deferred tax liabilities related to goodwil
uanglbles pnmanly from prior acquisiti Ouri in net deferred tax assets is primarily attributable to an increase in our accrued employee compensation and other expenses, partially offset by a decrease in our foreign and federa! credit
et of pplicabl il

, as well as a decrease in our retirement and post-employment benefits. During our year ended April 30, 2021, we expect to use substantially all of our foreign tax credits resulting in the release of relatec
W . We have luded that after val [t , it is more likely than not that we will realize substantially all of the net deferred tax assets at April 30, 2021. In assessing the need for a valuation allowance, we take intc

ccount related deferred tax liabilities and estimated future reversals of existing temporary differences, future taxable and tax pl to determine which deferred tax assets are more likely than not to be realized in the future
‘hanges to tax laws, statutory tax rates and future taxable eamnings can have an impact on our valuation allowances.

Ve have provided a $4.9 million valuation altowance based primarily on the uncertainty of utilizing the tax benefits related to our deferred tax assets for state and federal net operating losses and credits. As of April 30, 2021, we have apportionec
tate net operating loss carryforwards totaling approximately $115.0 million, with a tax effected value of $6.5 million net of federal benefits. Our state and federal NOLs and credits expire in various amounts over 5 to 19 years.

-ince April 30, 2018, we no longer intend to permanently reinvest eamings outside the US. We have recorded a $2.5 million liability related to the estimated taxes that would be incurred upon repatriating certain non-US eamings,
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{ote 14 — Debt and Available Credit Facilities

Jur total debt outstanding as of April 30 consisted of the amounts set forth in the following table:

) 2021 2020

‘hort-term portion of long-term debt W ) 5 12,500 $ 9,375
et loan A - Amended and Restated RCA @ ) ' 222,928 235,263
levolving cgedi! facility - Amended and Restated RCA 586,160 530,387
“otal loné-term deb, less current portion . 809,088 765,650
“otal debt ) s 821,588  § 775,025
1) Relates to our term loan A under the Amended and Restated RCA.

2} Amounts are shown net of unamortized issuance costs of $0.5 million as of April 30, 2021 and $0.7 million as of April 30, 2020.

he following table izes the scheduled annual ities for the next four years of our long-term debt, including the short-term portion of long-term debt. This schedule represents the principal portion amount of debt outstanding anc
1erefore excludes unamortized issuance costs.

‘iscal Year . . w... Amount

022 N i - . $ 12,500
[X] B . . 18.750
024 204,688
uzs T A
‘otal - $ 822,098
\mended and Restated RCA

)n May 30, 2019, we entered into a credit agreement that amended and restated our existing {ving credit agr (Amended and Restated RCA). The Amended and Restated RCA provides for senior unsecured credit facilities comprised of ¢

i) five year revolving credit facility in an aggregate principal amount up to $1.25 billion, and (ji) a five year term loan A facility consisting of $250 million.

Inder the terms of the Amended and Restated RCA, which can be drawn in multiple currencies, we have the option of borrowing at the following floating interest rates: (i) at a rate based on the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus ar
pplicable margin ranging from 0.98% to 1.50%, depending on cur lidated net leverage ratio, as defined, or (ii) at the lender’s base rate plus an applicable margin ranging from zero to 0.50%, depending on our lidated net leverag
atio. The lender’s base rate is defined as the highest of (i) the US federal funds effective rate plus a 0.50% margin, (ii) the Eurocurrency rate, as defined, plus a 1.00% margin, or (jii) the Bank of America prime lending rate. In addition, we pay

acility fee for the revolving credit facility ranging from 0.15% to 0.25% depending on our lidated net leverage ratio. We also have the option to request an increase in the revolving credit facility by an amount not to exceed $500 million, it
ainimum increments of $50 million, subject to the approval of the lenders.

‘he Amended and Restated RCA contains certain customary affirmative and negative , including a fi ial in the form of a lidated net ) ge ratio and lidated interest ge ratio, which we were in compliance
Jith as of April 30, 2021.

n the three months ended July 31, 2019, we incurred an immaterial loss on the write-off of unamortized deferred costs in ion with the refi ing of our lving credit at that time which is reflected in Other income on th
‘onsolidated Statements of Income (Loss) for the three months ended July 31, 2019.

n the three months ended July 31, 2019, we incurred $4.0 million of costs related to the A ded and R d RCA which Ited in total costs capitalized of $5.2 million. The amount related to the term loan A facility was $0.9 million

onsisting of $0.8 million of lender fees and recorded as a reduction to Long-Term Debt and $0.1 million of non-lender fees included in Other non-current assets on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. The amount related to the five
ear revolving credit facility was $4.3 million, a!l of which is included in Other non-current assets on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position.
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‘he amortization expense of the lender and non-lender fees is recognized over the five-year term of the Amended and Restated RCA. Total amortization expense for the years ended April 30, 2021 and 2020 was $1.1 million and $1.0 miilion
espectively and is included in Interest exp on our Ci lidated S of Income (Loss).

.ines of Credit
Ve have other lines of credit aggregating $1.0 million at various interest rates. There were no outstanding borrowings under these credit lines at April 30, 2021, and 2020.

Jur total available lines of credit as of April 30, 2021 were approximately $1.5 billion, of which approximately $0.7 billion was unused. The weighted average interest rates on total debt outstanding during the years ended Apnil 30, 2021 and 202(
vere 2.03% and 3.12%, respectively. As of Apnl 30, 2021, and 2020, the weighted average interest rates for total debt were 1.98% and 2,26%, respectively.

Jased on estimates of interest rates currently available to us for loans with similar terms and maturities, the fair value of our debt approximates its carrying value.
{ote 15 — Derivative Instruments and Activities
‘rom time to time, we enter into forward exchange and interest rate swap contracts as a hedge against foreign currency asset and liability commitments, changes in interest rates, and anticipated i xp , includi

pan:
urchases. All derivatives are recognized as assets or liabilities and measured at fair value. Derivatives that are not determined to be effective hedges are adjusted to fair value with a correspondi dj to ings. We do not use financia
astruments for trading or speculative purposes.

nterest Rate Contracts

\s of April 30, 2021, we had total debt outstanding of $821.6 million, net of unamortized issuance costs of $0.5 million of which $822.1 million are variable rate loans outstanding under the Amended and Restated RCA, which approximated fai:
alue.

\s of April 30, 202t and 2020, the interest rate swap we maintained were desi d as fully effective cash flow hedges as defined under FASB ASC Topic 815, “Derivatives and Hedging” (ASC Topic 815). As a result, there was nt
npact on our Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) from changes in the fair value of the interest rate swaps, as they were fully offset by changes in the interest expense on the underlying variable rate debt instruments. Under ASC Topic 815
enivative instruments that are designated as cash flow hedges have changes in their fair value recorded initially within A Jated other prehensive loss on the C: lidated S of Fi ial Position. As interest expense is recognize:
ased on the variable rate loan agreements, the corresponding deferred gain or loss on the interest rate swaps is reclassified from A lated other prehensive loss to Interest Exp on the C lidated Si of Income (Loss). It i:
1anagement’s intention that the notional amount of interest rate swaps be less than the variable rate loans outstanding during the life of the derivatives.

‘he following table summarizes our interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges:

Notional Amount

As of April 30,
fedged Ttem Date entered into Nature of Swap 2021 2020 Fixed Interest Rate Variable Interest Rate
i R - R - B T e e C Taonon Tt eTe e oo .. lamnnth T TROR reset every month for
umended and Restated RCA April 12,2021 Pay fixed/receive variable $_ - : 100___$ o 0 500% a3-year period ending April 15, 2024
L-month LIBOR reset every month for
vmended and ,Re_sgﬂe‘dVRCA February 26, 2020 Pay fixed/receive vaniable 100 100 1.150% a 3-year period endmg March 15, 2023
| . - e L T PERE . ) X 17 gnth LIBOR reset every month fot
umended and Restated RCA August 7, 2019 . Pay fixed/receive vaiable - e e VOO " 100 1 400%a 3-year period ending August 15, 302}
i-month LIBOR reset every mcnth ot
ymended and Restated RCA June 24, 2019 Pay fixed/receive variable 100 100 1.650% a 3-year period ending July 15, 2022
i i b Sd00 3 - T - 300 - - - - |
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)n April 4, 2016, we entered into a forward starting interest rate swap agreement which fixed a portion of the variable interest due on a variable rate debt renewal on May 16, 2016. Under the terms of the agreement, which expired on May 15, 2019
ve paid a fixed rate of 0.920% and received a variable rate of interest based on one-month LIBOR from the counterparty which was reset every month for a three-year period ending May 15, 2019. Prior to expiration, the notional amount of the
1terest rate swap was $350.0 million.

Ve record the fair value of our interest rate swaps on a recurring basis using Leve! 2 inputs of quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets. The fair value of the interest rate swaps as of April 30, 2021 and 2020 was a deferred los:
£ $5.6 million and $8.3 million, respectively. Based on the maturity dates of the contracts, the entire deferred loss as of April 30, 2021 and 2020 was recorded within Other long-term liabilities.

‘he pretax (losses) gains that were reclassifted from A lated other prehensive loss to Interest expense for the years ended April 30, 2021, 2020, and 2019 were $(3.7) million, $0.4 million, and $4.7 million, respectively. Based on the
mount in A lated other prehensive loss at April 30, 2021, approximately $3.2 million, net of tax, would be reclassified into net income in the next twetve months.

“oreign Currency Contracts

Ve may enter into forward exchange contracts to manage our exposure on certain foreign currency d inated assets and liabilities. The forward exch are marked to market through Foreign exchange transaction losses on ou

‘onsolidated Statements of Income (Loss) and carried at fair value on our C lidated S of Fi ial Position. Foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities are remeasured at spot rates in effect on the balance sheet date, with the
ffects of changes in spot rates reported in Foreign exchange transaction losses on our Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss).

Juring the year ended April 30, 2021, to manage foreign currency exposures on an intercompany loan, we entered into one forward exchange contract to sell €32 million and buy $38.8 million. This forward contract expired on April 15, 2021. We
id not designate this forwnrd exchange contract as a hedge under the applicable sections of ASC Topic 815 as the benefits of doing so were not material due to the short-term nature of the contract. The fair value changes in the forward exchang:
ontract sut ially mitigated the ch in the value of the applicable foreign currency denominated liability. The fair value of the open forward exchange contract was measured on a recurring basis using Level 2 inputs of quoted prices fo

imilar assets or llabdmes in active markets, For the year ended April 30, 2021, the loss recognized on this forward contract was $0.8 miliion and included in Foreign exch ion losses on our Consolidated Statement of Income (Loss).
\s of April 30, 2021 and 2020, we did not maintain any open forward exch In addition, we did not maintain any open forward contracts during the years ended April 30, 2020 and 2019.
{ote 16 - Ci i and C g
Ve are involved in routine litigation in the ordinary course of our busi A provision for litigation is accrued when infc ilable to us indi that it is prabable a liability has been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably
i d. Signifi Jjud, may be required to determine both the probabllny and estimates of loss. When the amount of the loss can only be estimated within a range, the most likely outcome within that range is accrued. If no amount withit

1€ range is a better estimate than any other amount, the minimum amount within the range is accrued ‘When uncertainties exist refated to the probable outcome of litigation and/or the amount or range of loss, we do not record a liability, but disclos:
acts related to the nature of the i and possible losses if iders the i ion to be ial. Reserves for legal defense costs are recognized when incurred. The accruals for loss contingencies and legal costs are reviewe:
sgularly and may be adjusted to reflect updated mfommnon on the status of litigation and advice of legal counsel. In the opinion of the ul lution of all pending litigation as of April 30, 2021, will not have a material effec
pon our lidated financial condition or results of operations.
{ote 17 — Retirement Plans
Ve have retirement plans that cover sub ially all employees. The plans g Ily provide for employee retirement between the ages 60 and 65, and benefits based on length of service and compensation, as defined.
Jur Board of Directors approved plan amendments that froze the following retirement plans:

*  Retirement Plan for the Employees of John Wiley & Sons, Canada was frozen effective December 31, 2015;

*  Retirement Plan for the Employees of John Wiley & Sons, Ltd., a UK plan was frozen effective April 30, 2015 and;

¢ US. Employees’ Reti Pian, Suppl ] Benefit Plan, and Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, were frozen effective June 30, 2013,
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Ve maintain the k | Executive Reti Plan for centain officers and senior management which provides for the payment of supp! | reti benefits after the termination of

ploy for 10 years or in a lifetime annuity
Inder certain c:rcumstancs including a change of control as defined, the pay of such could be [ d on a present value basis. Future nccmed benefits to this plan have been discontinued as noted above.
‘he components of net pension expense (income) for the defined benefit plans and the weighted average assumptions were as follows:

For the Years Ended April 30,
2021 2020 2019
us Non-US Us Non-US Us Non-US

fervice cost [ - 5. 139678, - e Ty~ v i8Sl Shm o w18 —.oa17]
aterest cogt 9,504 8,901 11,247 12,652 11,704 12,943
ixpected return on plan assets - (11,969)- T 26y T (14;038) -~ " (26:116) T e (17:472): gt s (25,551)
\mortization of prior service cost (154) 58 (154) 73 (154) 57
{mortization of net actuarial oss 3500 : 4316 3,403 3593 2,035 : 3,745 ]
‘urtailment/settlement toss —_ —_ —_ 291 P —_
Iet pension expense (income) $ ... . 82 §$ (12100 s, - (542" 5. (7.256) " § . 3~ s . (7.893)!
Jiscount rate —31% TR L0 T — O - LA AT Lty o N L e T W T 1
~ara nf rampEnvalin i atas N/A 3.0% N/A 3.0% N/A 3.0%
ixpected retum on plan assets 5.8% - I .77 ) OB = w o BAMTL e e GB%%n : 6.5%

a the year ended April 30, 2020, there was a settlement charge of $0.3 million related to the Retirement Plan for the Employees of John Wiley & Sons, Canada which is reflected in Restructuring and related charges in the Consolidated Statements
f Income (Loss).

he service cost component of net pension exp (i is reflected in Operating and administrative exp on our C lidated of Income (Loss). The other components of net pension expense (income) are reported separately
rom the service cost p and below Operating income (loss). Such amounts are reflected in Other income on our Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss).

‘he Recogmzed Net Actuarial Loss for each fiscal year is calculated using the “corridor method,” which reflects the amortization of the net loss at the beginning of the fiscal year in excess of 10% of the greater of the market value of plan assets 0.

1e projected benefit obligation. The jon period is based on the average expected life of plan participants for plans with all or almost all inactive participants and frozen plans, and on the average remaining working lifetime of active play
articipants for all other plans.

Ve recognize the overfunded or underfunded status of defined benefit p i plans, d as the difference between the fair value of plan assets and the projected benefit obligation, on the Consolidated $
‘osition. The change in the funded status of the plan is recognized in A lated other
tatements of Financial Position date.

of Financia
prehensive loss on the Consolidated S of Financial Position. Plan assets and obligations are measured at fair value as of our Consolidatec
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‘he following table sets forth the changes in and the status of our defined benefit plans’ assets and benefit obligations:

2021 2020
US Non-US US Noa-US

"HANGE IN PLAN ASSETS

“aii value of plan assets, begifining of year $ 2139468 445480 __$ 213628 __ S 408249}
\ctual return on pl:.m assets 34,560 27,971 11,645 48,602
implGyer contrib 5599 G 2,203 7 3,700 11,6861
smployee contributions — — — —
ettler = . X - = ] — — = (1,459)
\enetits paid (16,976) (11,921) (15,027) (9,162)
BT__ei; currency rate changes = - 50,153 = _ ~ (12,436)
‘air value, end of year $ 237,129 $ 523,886 $ 213,946 $ 445,480 '
"HANGE IN PROJECTED BENEFIT OBLIGATION : - - . - )
Ieneﬁl obllgauon. begmmng of year $ (318,967) § (534,303) § (285,197)  § (509.015)
‘ervice cost e A - = _—————— = "(1.398) —= (1,851)
aterest cost (9.504) (8,901) (11,247) (12,652)
{ctuarial gains (l0sses) 8,863 ; (17,739) (37.550) (36,287)
Ieneﬂ's paid 16,976 11,921 15,027 9,162
‘oreign currency rate chang = (59,046) — 15,176 1
-ettlements and other —_— {150) — 1,164
lenefit obligation, end of year — " - T o +8 i o= (302,632) 3 T (d098ia) "y " -~(318967)" S (534,303)
Jnderfunded status, end of year s (65.503)-'. $ (85,728) $ (105,021) $ (88,823)
\MOUNTS RECOGNIZED ON THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION - - . -

Joncurrent a:s;&s —_ 6 —_ —
lurrent pension liabiliry (3,576) (1,414) (4,990) (885)
loncurrent pension liability (61,927) (84,320) (100,031) (87,938)
1¢t amount ized in of financial posi s (65503) 8 (85.728)__$ ~(10502)" S . (88,823)
\MOUNTS RECOGNIZED IN ACCU'MULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS (BEFORE TAX) CONSIST OF

fet actiarial (6sses) o o | J— (213,958) 8§~ (131,569) S 181403y
‘rior service cost gains (losses) ~ (1,100) 2,254 {1,U31)
vial accunmuliied other cohipreniensive loss o s 213,257y - (129315) ¢ (182,454)
‘hange in Jated other ive loss $ (32,803) S (37.695) § (4,143)
NFORMATION FOR | PENSION PLANS WITH AN ACCUMUIATED BENEF]T OBLIGATION IN EXCESS OF - - T o 1" -':M P 1
PLAN ASSETS i - - - ‘ ]
\ccumulated benef( obligation $ N2 A2 < S66,008 ¢ A MT ) [LIELH]
it ol ol vl nvn t A T L e ARSI W Sa A L Yot Sepummmmtt TV X w"‘"'s" 13,946 ™S T 445,480 ]
NFORMATION FOR PEVSION PLANS WITH A PROJEC['ED BEVEFIT OBLIGATION IN EXCESS OF PLAN

ASSETS
Trjectrd henefit nhlifarian —r Ty TIU2652 TS T T 596 011 TS 318967 s 534,303]
‘air value of plan assets . $ 237,129 $ 513279 § 213,946 $ 445,430
VEIGHTED AVERAGE ASSUMPTIONS USED IN DETERMINING ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Jiscount rate 3.2% 1.9% 3.1% 1.6%
{te of compensation increase g NAT 3.0%~ NAT 3.0%
. lated benefit abli s (302,632) § (577,600) S (318967) § (497,489)
rctuarial gains in the US g in a d toourp d benefit obli for the year ended April 30, 2021 were ily due to an i in the di rate and updated census data. Actuarial losses in non-US countries resulting in ar

crease to our projected benefit obligation for the year ended April 30, 2021 were primarily due to an increase in the UK inflation rate offset by an increase in the discount rate.

rctuarial losses in the US and non-US countries resulting in an i d benefit obli

g in our proj
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'ension plan assets/investments:

“he investment guidelines for the defined benefit pension plans are established based upon an evaluation of market conditi plan liabilities, cash requirements for benefit payments, and tol for risk. [ idelines include the use o
ctively and passively managed securities. The investment objective is to ensure that funds are available to meet the plans benefit obllganons when they are due. The investment strategy is to invest in high quality and diversified equity and deb
ecurities to achieve our long—tenn expectation. The plans’ nsk ices provide guid to the i idelines for asset ion, credit rating and liquidity. Asset allocation favors a bal
ortfolio, with a global aggregated target allocation of app ly 50% equl!y securities and 50% fixed income securities and cash. Due to volatility in the market, the target allocation is not always desu'able and asset allocations will fluctuat
etween acceptable ranges of plus or minus 5%, We regularly review the i llocations and periodically rebal i to the target allocations. We ize our pension assets into three levels based upon the assumptions (inputs
sed to price the assets. Level | provides the most reliable measure of fair value, wh Level 3 {ly requires significant jud The three levels are defined as follows:

¢ Level |: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets.
®  Level 2: Observable inputs other than those included in Leve! 1. For example, quoted prices for similar assets in active markets or quoted prices for identical assets in inactive markets,
®  Level 3: Unobservable inputs reflecting ions about the inputs used in pricing the asset.

Ve did not maintain any level 3 assets during the years ended April 30, 2021 and 2020. In accordance with ASU 2015-07, “Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820), Disclosures for Investments in Certain Entities That Calculate Net Asset Value pe
‘hare (or Its Equivalent)”, certain investments that are measured at fair value using the net asset value (NAV) per share (or its equivalent) practical expedient do not have to be classified in the fair value hierarchy. The fair value amounts presentec
1 the following tables are intended to permit r iliation of the fair value hieraschy to the amounts presented for the total pension benefit plan assets.

‘he following tables set forth, by level within the fair value hierarchy, pension plan assets at their fair value as of April 30:

2021 2020
Level 1 Level 2 Total Level 1 Level 2 Total
IS Plan Assets
avesungmis measmed al HAV ..
Hobal eqully securities: Limited parmership P — T -6 121,560 R il 8 110 9651
‘wvad income securities: Commingled trust funds 115,560 102,981
‘Gtal assets at NAV ) e e Y TRV e S LD . teax $¢ e o 211,9461
lon-US Plan As Assets P - + Ll . o PG Pl T L - R T R I |
[US quitiés s et St T Al e it TR 1 P At Sepe: A=t f Tom k% 7 Mt S 1A T8 |
Non-US gqmuh —_ R 124,496 124,496 — 103,460 103,460
anced managed fuds = el Kt a0 103,71 T L .98 T T44.980]
Ived come secosiling: Commineled funds 1444 236,583 238,027 3,431 254,134 257 565
Yher: B il T R - Ci B —t S T Y - |
Reul esuigfother — 543 543 — 490 490
f Cashand cash"equivalents s = s30T T34 T = = 2,134
‘atal NonaT IS plan assets J 6,665 $ 517,221 $ 523,886 $ 5,565 $ 439,915 $ 445,480
‘_@Blah‘as‘sevs [ 6665 % - . 17221 % v Tz ew oz 5565 8 ~. . 12(\.015 [ mg,nﬁ]
d empl -

to the defined benefit pension plans in the year ended April 30, 2022 will be approximately $16.8 million, including $13.1 million of minimum amounts required for our non-US plans. From time to time, we ma)
Iecl to rnal\e volumary contributions to our defined benefit plans to improve their funded status.
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ienefit payments to retirees from all defined benefit plans are expected to be the following in the fiscal year indicated:

‘iseal Ye: Us Non-US Total

022 [ L : 15305 S : 122118 i 27,51¢
023 15.446 11,769 2721
02 ——— bl 15,593 12,606 28,19
025 15,024 14,817 29,84
026 AT CITR T 15,064 Gl —— 13,004 _~ 29,06
027 - 2031 75,870 33,009 158,87
jotal s . 152,302 $ . 148416 § 300,71
tetiree Health Benefits

Ve provide contributory fife insurance and health care benefits, subject to certain doflar limitations, for substantially all of our eligible retired US employees The retiree health benefit is no longer available for any employee who retires afte
Yecember 31, 2017. The cost of such benefits is expensed over the years the employee renders service and is not funded in ad . The { t- benefit obligation re d on the Ci lidated S of Financia
osition as of April 30, 2021 and 2020, was $1.5 and $1.4 million, respectively. Annual credits for these plans for the years ended April 30, 2021, 2020, and 20!9 were $(0.1) million, $(0.1) million and $(0.1) million, respectively.

defined Contribution Savings Plans

Ve have defined contribution savings plans. Qur ibution is based on employ ions and the level of our match. We may make discretionary ibutions to all employees as a group. The expense recorded for these plans wa:
pproximately $24.3 rmllmn $19.0 million, and $13.1 million in the years ended April 30, 2021, 2020, and 2019 respectively.

{ote 18 — Stock-Based Compensation

ull equity compensation plans have been approved by shareholders. Under the 2014 Key Employee Stock Plan, (the Plan), qualified employees are eligible to receive awards that may mclude stock options, performance-based stock awards, anc
ther restricted stock awards. Under the Pian, a maximum number of 6.5 million shares of our Class A stock may be issued. As of April 30, 2021, there were approximately 2,357,682 i ilable for future i under the Plan
Ve issue treasury shares to fund awards issued under the Plan.

‘tock Option Activity

Inder the terms of our stock option plan, the exercise price of stock options granted may not be less than 100% of the fair market value of the stock at the date of grant. Options are exercisable over a maximum period of ten years from the date o:
rant. For the years ended April 30, 2015 and prior, options generally vest 50% on the fourth and fifth anniversary date after the award is granted. For the year ended April 30, 2016, options vest 25% per year on April 30,

Ve did not grant any stock option awards since the year ended April 30, 2016. As of April 30, 2019, all outstanding options vested allowing the participant the right to exercise their awards, and there was no ized share-based
xpense remaining related to stock options.

“he fair value of the options granted in the year ended April 30, 2016 was $14.77 using the Black—SchoIes option-pricing mode!. The significant weighted average assumptions used in the fair value determination was the expected life whicl
spresented an estimate of the period of time stock options will be outstanding based on the h 1 ise beh of option p The nisk-free interest rate was based on the corresponding US Treasury yield curve in effect at the time o:
1e grant. The expected volatility was based on the historical volatility of our Common Stock price over the estimated life of the option, while the dividend yield was based on the expected dividend payments to be made by us.
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\ summary of the activity and status of our stock option plans follows:

2021 2020 2019
Weighted
Weighted Average Aggregate Weighted Weighted
Number Average Remaining Intrinsic Number Average Number Average
of Options Exercise Term Value of Options Exercise of Options Exercise
{in 000’s) Price (in years) (in millions) (in 000’s) Price {in 000’s) Price
Jutstaiding at béginning of year 2868 04477 - - — 37278 49.70 6118 43.38]
Jrated N - s - iy -3 - - $ § -
ixercised Raitiie S il (<) J R T~ : 3. VT S Y AT
ivpired ot forfeited (35) s 52.78 (10)" § 56.97
yutstanding at end of year 141§ SLTT . . 26TS D T =72 T g 49.70]
ixercisable at end of year i R 141 $ 51.17 2.6 $ 0.9 286 3 50.14 372§ 49.70
Tésted and expected to vest in the future at April - )
30 ¥l ___s 51.17 268 e 09 286 __ S _ 50.14 372__ 8 49.70
‘he intrinsic valtue is the diffe b our stock price and the option grant price. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended April 30, 2021, 2020, and 2019 was $0.2 million, $0.3 million, and $4.4 million
espectively, The total grant date fair value of stock options vested during the year ended April 30, 2019 was $4.8 million.
The following table izes i ion about stock options outstanding and exercisable at April 30, 2021:
Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Average Weighted Weighted
Number Remaining Average Number Average
of Options Term Exercise of Options Exercise
tange of Exercise Prices (in 000’s) (in years) Price {in 000's) Price
3953 e ¥ T — _— . AR gt st 3:1. L ' u'].ﬁ,s - e 39,53 - - - _3_4 _LS 39.5;
48.06 to $49,53 32 LLs 48.22 328 43.2;
55.9910 $59.70 . T NN R 3.6'8 % 5 o T 57.76 P P s - Y]
“otal/average 141 26 $ 51.17 141§ SL.1°
rfe Based and Other Restricted Stock Activity
Jnder the terms of our long-term incentive plans, performance-based restricted unit awards are payable in restricted shares of our Class A Common Stock upon the achi of certain three-year or less fi ial performance-based targets
Juring each three-year period or less, we adjust compensation expense based upon our best esti of exp d perfc For the years ended April 30, 2015 and prior, restricted performance shares vest 50% on the first and second anniversany
ate after the award is eamed. For the years ended April 30, 2016 and 2017, restricted performance shares vest 50% on June 30 following the end of the three-year performance cycle and 50% on April 30 of the following year. Beginning in the yea'

nded April 30, 2018, restricted performance share units vest 100% on June 30 following the end of the three year performance cycle.

Ve may also grant individual restricted unit awards payable in restricted shares of our Class A Common Stock to key employees in connection with their employment. For the years ended April 30, 2015 and prior, the restricted shares generally ves
0% at the end of the fourth and fifth years following the date of the grant. Starting with the year ended April 30, 2016 grants, restricted shares generally vest ratably 25% per year.

Inder certain circumstances relating to a change of control or termination, as defined, the restrictions would lapse, and shares would vest earlier.
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wetivity for performance-based and other restricted stock awards during the years ended April 30, was as follows (shares in thousands):

2021 2020 2019
Weighted
Average
Restricted Grant Date Restricted Restricted
Shares Value Shares Shares

[ = - —— -
lonvested shares at beginning of year 943 $ 49.74 756 861 J
jranted 706 $ 41.49 759 415
+hange in shares due to perfc g __§ 49.84 (70} (19
Tested and issued (362) s 48.48 (329), 357
‘orfeited: - ) - I (125" § 47.88 (173) (144)}
lonvested shares at end of year 1,280 $ 45.73 943 756

‘or the years ended April 30, 2021, 2020 and 2019, we gnized stock-based p

on a pretax basis, of $22.0 million, $20.0 million and $18.3 million, respectively.

\s of April 30, 2021, there was $36.3 million of ized share-based ion cost related to performance-based and other restricted stock awards, which is expected to be recognized over a period up to 4 years, or 2.2 years on a weighte«
verage basis.
‘omp. Xp for icted stock awards is measured using the closing market price of our Class A Common Stock at the date of grant. The total grant date value of shares vested during the years ended Apzil 30, 2021, 2020, and 2019 wa:
17.6 million, $17.5 million, and $19.6 million, respectively.

resident and CEQ New Hire Equity Awards

)n October 17, 2017, we announced Brian A. Napack as the new President and Chief Executive Officer of Wiley effective December 4, 2017 (the Commencement Date). Upon the Commencement Date, Mr. Napack also became a member of ou
toard of Directors (the Board). In ion with his appoi Wiley and Mr. Napack entered into an employment offer lenter (the Employmens Agreement).

‘he Employment Agr provides that beginning with the year ended April 30, 2018-2020 performance cycle, eligibility to participate in annual grants under our Executive Long-Term Incentive Program (ELTIP). Targeted long-term incentivi
or this cycle is equal to 300% of base salary, or $2.7 million. Sixty percent of the ELTIP value will be delivered in the form of target performance share units and forty percent in restricted share units. The grant date fair value for restricted shar
nits was $59.15 per share and included 20,611 restricted share units, which vest 25% each year starting on April 30, 2018 to April 30, 2021. In addition, there was a perft share unit award with a target of 30,916 units and a grant date fai
alue of $59.15. The performance metrics are based on cumulative EBITDA for the year ended April 30, 2018-2020 and cumulative normalized free cash flow for the year ended April 30, 2018-2020.

a addition, the Employment Agreement provides for a sign-on grant of restricted share units, with a grant value of $4.0 million, converted to shares using our Class A closing stock price as of the Commencement Date, and vesting in two equa
1staliments on the first and second anniversaries of the employment date. The grant date fair value for this award was $59.15 per share and included 67,625 units at the date of grant. Grants are subject to forfeiture in the case of voluntary
:rmination prior to vesting and accelerated vesting in the case of earlier termination of employment without Cause, due to death or Disability or Constructive Discharge, or upon a Change in Control (as such terms are defined in the Employmen
\greement).

Yirector Stock Awards

Jnder the terms of our 2018 Director Stock Plan (the Director Plan), each nonemployee director, other than the Chairman of the Board, receives an annual award of restricted shares of our Class A Common Stock equal in value to 100% of th
nnual director stock retainer fee, based on the stock price at the close of the New York Stock Exchange on the date of grant. Such restricted shares will vest on the earliest of (i) the day before the next Annual Meeting following the grant, (ii) the
onemployee director’s death or disability (as' determined by the Govemance Committee), or (iii) a change in control (as defined in the 2014 Key Employee Stock Plan). The granted shares may not be sold or transferred during the time thr
onemployee director remains a director. There were 28,360, 20,048, and 18,991 restricted shares awarded under the Director Plan for the years ended April 30, 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively.
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{ote 19 - Capital Stock and Changes in Capital Accounts

iach share of our Class B Common Stock is convertible into one share of Class A Common Stock. The holders of Class A stock are entitled to elect 30% of the entire Board of Directors and the holders of Class B stock are entitled to elect thi
smainder. On all other matters, each share of Class A stock is entitied to one tenth of one vote and each share of Class B stock is entitled to one vote.

‘hare Repurchases

Juring the year ended April 30, 2020, our Board of Di pp d an additional share repurchase program of $200 million of Class A or B Common Stock. As of April 30, 2021, we had authorization from ous Board of Directors to purchase uj
3 $200 million that was remaining under this program. No share repurchases were made under this program during the years ended April 30, 2021 and 2020.

‘he share repurchase program described above is in addition to the share repurchase program approved by our Board of Directors during the year ended April 30, 2017 of four million shares of Class A or B Common Stock. As of April 30, 2021, wt
ad authorization from our Board of Directors to purchase up to 497,197 additional shares that were remaining under this program.

‘he following table summarizes the shares repurchased of Class A and B Common Stock during the years ended April 30 (shares in thousands):

2021 2020 2019
‘hares repurchased — Class A 308 1,080 1,191
‘hares repurchased — Class B . 2 2 —
{verage price = Class A and Class B . hal it 093 s T 4305 S 5035
Yividends
The following table summarizes the cash dividends paid during the year ended April 30, 2021:
Nate of Declaration by Board of Directors Quarterly Cash Dividend Total Dividend Class of Common Stock Dividend Paid Date Shareholders of Record as of Date
: June 25, 2020 $0.3425 per common share $19.2 mitlion Class B July 22,2020 _ July'7,2026 " )
Class A and
Kaprambuer 13, 7020 ) $0.3425 per commnn share $19.2 million Class B October 21, 2020 October 6, 2020
1 : - e i ¢ P N T v
December 16, 2020 $0:3425 per common share $19:2 million Class B January 13, 2021 December 30, 2020
Class A and
March 24, 2021 $0.3425 per common share $19.1 million Class B April 21, 2021 April 6, 2021
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"hanges in Common Stock

*he following is a summary of changes during the years ended April 30, in shares of our common stock and common stock in treasury (shares in thousands).

“hanges in Common Stock A: 2021 2020 2019

{umber ofsharés, beginning of year 70,166 70,127 70,111
‘ommon stock class conversions 42 39 16
{umber of shares issued, end of year 70,208 70,166 70,127

hanges in Common Stock A in freasury:

{umber of shares held, beginning of year o i 21,405 22,634 ’ il,853
wirehase nf treasury charng o 308 1,080 1,192
lestricted shares issued under stock-based compensation plans - non-PSU Awards (268) (232) (205)
testricted shares issued under stock-based compensation plans - PSU Awards (88) (68) (1o0)
‘hares issued under the Director Plan to Directors (6) ©97) (€]
testricted shares, forfeited . - 1 ) .9
testricted shares issued from exercise of stock options . . . (60) (39) (229)
hhares withheld for taxes 129 122 130
Yther [0 A (U]
{umber of shares held, end of year 23,419 23,405 22,634
{umber of C n Stock A ding, end of year 46,789 46,761 47,493
“hanges in Common Stock B: 2021 - 2020 2019

{umber of shares, beginning of year 13,016 13,055 13,071
“ommon stock class conversions. (42) (39) (16)
{umber of shares issued, end of year 12,974 13,016 13,055
“hanges in Commen Stock B in treasury: . .

{umber ot shares held, beginning of year ) o 3920 3918 3918
+hares repurchaged 2 2 —
{umber of shares held, end of year 3,922 3,920 o 3918
{umber of C Stock B ding, end of year 9,052 ) 9,096 9,137
Varrants

a ion with the acquisition of The Learning House, Inc, (Learning House) on November 1, 2018, a portion of the fair value of the consideration transferred was $0.6 million of warrants. The warrants were classified as equity and allow the

older to purchase 400,000 shares of our Class A Common Stock at an exercise price of $90.00, subject to adjustments. The term of the warrants is three years, expiring on November 1, 2021. The fair value of the warrants was determined using the
tlack-Scholes option pricing mode!.
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{ote 20 ~ Segment Information

Ve report our inf ion in d: with the provisions of FASB ASC Topic 280, “Segment Reporting™. These segments reflect the way our chief operating decision maker eval our busi perfc and the
perations. The performance metric used by our chief operating decision maker to evaluate performance of our reportable segments is Adjusted Contribution to Profit. Qur reporting ists of three reportable segments, which are
sted below, as well as a Corporate category, which includes certain costs that are not allocated to the reportable segments:

.« R h Publichi Platfe
P

+  Academic & Professional Leaming
«  Education Services

.egment information is as follows:

For the Years Ended April 30,

2021 2020 2019

tevenue:

Research Publishing & Platforms s 1015349 ¢ 948839 S 939,217
Academic & Professional Leaming 644,537 650,789 703,303
Education Services ) 281,615 231,855 157,549

‘ol revenue $ 1,941,501 $ 1,831,483 $ 1,800,069

\djusted Cauntribution to Profit:

" Research Publishing & Platforms ' $ 273,023 265353 § 260,885
Academi¢ & ptoressions] Learning .. 91,676 84,646 147,404
Education Services 21,175 (3,842) (12.883)

‘otal adjusted contribution to profit $ 385,874 s 346,155 $ 395,406

1djusted corporate contribution to profit (167,053) (165,487) (168,299)

‘utal adjusted contributicn b jwafir s 218821 § 180,668 227,107

Yepreciation and Amorti
Research Publishing & Platform [ 83,866 § 69,495  § 60,889
Academic & Professional Leamning 71,997 69,807 68,126
Education Services 29,654 24,131 18,117

‘otal deprecianon and amortization o $ 185,517 $ 163,433 $ 147,132

‘orporate depreciation and amortization 14,672 11,681 14.023

‘otal depreciation and amortization $ 200,189 $ 175,127 $ 161,155

‘he following table shows a reconciliation of our lidated US GAAP O ing Income (Loss) to Non-GAAP Adjusted Contribution to Profit:

For the Years Ended April 30,
202t 2020 2019

JS GAAP Operating Income (Loss) o $ 185,511 § (54287 § 223,989

djustments:

‘estructuring and related charges m 33,310 32.607 3,118

mpairment of goodwill ) — 110,000 —

mpairment of Blackwell trade name m _ 89,507 —_
of developed technology i ible (1) — 2,841 —

ion-GAAP Adjusted Contribution to Profit $ 218,821 $ 180,668 $ 227,107

1) See Note 7, “Restructuring and Related Charges” and Note 11, “Goodwill and Intangible Assets” for these charges by segment.

.ee Note 3, “Revenue Recognition, Contracts with Customers,” for revenue from contracts with customers disaggregated by segment and product type for the years ended April 30, 2021, 2020, and 2019.
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‘he following tables shows assets all d by reportabl and by the corp gory as of April 30 as follows:

2021 2020 2019
lesearch Publishing & Platforms $ 1,692,366 1,225313 8 1,172,145 °
rcademic & Professional Leaming 946,760 924,924 959,601
iducation Services 472,814 486,316 440,516
Zprporate 334,499 532.241 376,504
‘otal $ 3,446,439 3 3,168,794 $ 2,948,766
"he following table shows product develop pending and additions to technology, property and equip by reportable and by the corporate category:

For the Years Ended April 30,

2021 2020 2019
tesearch Publishing & Platforms h s (24284) § - (16329) § (12,978)
\cademic & Professional Leaming . . [41,u97) (3%,229) (32,337)
iducation Services (3,449) (613) (3.160)
‘orporate _ (33,780) {60,030) {53,168)
‘atal $ (103,361) $ (115,201) § (101,593)
‘evenue from extemal customers is based on the | of the and technology, property and equipment, net by geographic area were as follows:

Revenue, net Technology, Property and Equipment, Net
. 2021 2020 2019 2021 2020 2019
Inited States $ 990,499 $ 944,075 932,927 $ 241,217 $ 261,296 $ 252,459
Inited Kingdom 145,806 174,567 150,242 19,436 18,076 18,331
*hina 92,305 58,870 55,024 567 492 688
apan 91,957 75,109 77,145 234 112 87
iermany 78,035 113,664 97,505 8,459 8.059 2433
‘anada 67,635 56,370 0 1,807 1,734 2,659
instratia 31,59 73,718 77,453 890 1,051 1,440
rance - - 45681 15,013 51,441 4329 1,358 403
<andinavia 39,836 29,682 30,971 112 223 229
)ther Countries 332,178 260,400 276,479 5,059 5,604 4,302
otzﬂ £ 1,941,301 3 1,831 ,383 1,800,069 $ 282,270 3 298,005 $ 289,021
N\
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{ote 21 — Suppl ¥y Quarterly Fi ial Information - Results By Quarter (Unaudited)

ymounts in millions, except per share data 2021 2020
{evenue, nét
‘irst quaster - - o = =3 - B3 _ - 4235]
econd quarter 4910 466.2

" hird quafier | G L L PRCLIAh
‘ourth quarter 536.3 474.7
“éar ended April 30, . ) - $ T s 18315}

A L — o h ) ‘
irass profit w T WE A g g e o o B
‘irst quarter $ 286.5 $ 2804
erand uaner : ' LR e T PR 1Y M. - 3228}
‘hird quarter 3253 313.2
'oTnhduaner s e T % e e . ,ﬂﬂl]
“ear ended Apill 30, 5 13162 $ 1,240.5
o - i Clea i B o (Y e iy ’
Iperating income {loss) . )
bt ¢ T T i)
econd quarter 69.9 63.4
“hird quarter i e T ——n —i1]
‘ourth quarter 512 (170.7)
“car ended April 30, g — $ . L1855 : s ... (54.3)
le T . et T e M a e
‘irst quarter ) $ 16.3 s 36
Feand Guaner i 2 T = LTI 44.7]
“hird quarter 222 354
‘Surth quarter AT - 1 et e - (158 M
“ear ended April 30, s 1483 § (74.3)
2021 2020
Basic Diluted Basic Diluted

‘arnings (loss) per share ‘T‘ .
it quarter $ 029" 0295 00a TS 0.061
.econd quarter 1.22 1.22 0.79 0.79
hird quarter 0.40 o, usy T - 063 e 063]
‘ourth quarter @ 0.74 0.73 (2.83) (2.83)
ear ended April 30, @ s 265 5 263 s (132) S - (1L3)
1) The sum of the quarterly eamings (loss) per share amounts may not agree to the respective annual due to di
2} In calculating diluted ings (loss) per share for the fourth quarter and year ended April 30, 2020, our diluted weighted average number of shares di ludes the effect of unvested restricted stock units and othe

stock awards as the effect was anti-dilutive. This accurs when a US GAAP net loss is reported and the effect of using dilutive shares is antidilutive.
{ote 22 — Subsequent Events

dvidend

In June 22, 2021, our Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend of $0.3450 per share, or approximately $19.3 million, on our Class A and Class B Common Stock. The dividend is payable on July 21, 2021 to shareholders of record on July
,2021.

JK Corporate Tax Rate

\s previously disclosed in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on March $, 2021, on March 3, 2021, in the UK Budget, the Ch llor of the Excheq d api d i in the UK corporate tax rate from 19% t

P
5%, effective April 2023, On June 10, 2021, the UK officially increased its corporate tax rate from 19% to 25% effective April 2023. We estimate that this statutory tax rate increase will result in a nonrecurring, noncash US GAAP deferred tax
xpense of approximately $20 million in our three months ended July 31, 2021.
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tem 9. Changes in and Disagreements with A onA ing and Fi ial Disclosure

lone

tem 9A. Controls and Procedures

)rsclosure Conlral: and Procedures: The Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, together with the Chief Accounting Officer and other bers of the Company’s have conducted an evaluation of the
pany’s di is and p d as defined in Rules 13a-15(¢} and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the Exchange Act) as of the end of the penod covered by this report. Based on this evaluation, the Chie

ixecutive Officer and Chief Flnanc:al Officer have luded that the Company’s discl ls and p d were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Comp in reports filed or submitted under the

ixch Act is (i) ded d and reported within the time periods specified by the Secunues and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms and (ii) lated and icated to the Company’s includi

s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Fi ial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisi quired disc!

4 S

danagement’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting: Ou.r M is responsible for establishing and maintaini deq intenal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchang:
rct. Under the supervision and with the participation of our fuding our Chief Execunve Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based upor
ae framewaork in Internal Contro! — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the C. ittee of S| g Organizations of the Treadway C ion. We have excluded from the scope of our assessment of intemal control over financial reporting
1e operations and related assets of Hindawi Limited (Hindawi), which we acquired during frscnl year 2021 At April 30, 2021 and for the period from acquisition through April 30, 2021, total assets and operating revenues subject to Hindawi's
1ternal control over financial reporting represented less than 1% of total assets, excluding goodwnll and intangible assets which are included within the scope of assessment, and less than 1% of total revenue included in the consolidated financia
tatements of the Company as of and for the year ended April 30, 2021. Based on their eval our luded that our internal control over financial reporting is effective as of April 30, 2021.

PMG LLP, an independ i d public ing firm, has audited the lidated fi ial included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and, as part of their audit, has issued their report, included herein, on the effectiveness o
ur intemal control over financial reporting.

“hanges in internal Control over Financial Reporting: During fiscal year 2021, we closed on the acquisition of Hindawi. We excluded Hindawi from the scope of management’s report on internal control over financial reporting for the year endec
\pril 30, 2021. We are in the process of integrating Hindawi to our overall internal control over financial reporting and will include them in scope for the year ending April 30, 2022. This process may result in additions or changes to our intema
ontrol over financial reporting.

Ve i to imp! dditional functionality and enh to our p d global ERP implementation. As with any new information system we implement, this application, along with the intemal controls over financia
sporting included in thls process, will require testing for effectiveness. In connection wn‘.h this ERP impl; ion, we are updating our internal ls over fi ial reporting, as necessary, to accommodate modifications to our busines:

and 8P d We do not believe that the ERP implementation will have an adverse effect on our intemal control over financial reporting.

ly discl

ixcept as described above, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2021 that have materially affected, or are bly likely to ially affect, our intemal control over financia
sporting.

tem 9B. Other Information

{one
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'ART Il

tem 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

‘or information with respect to Executive Officers of the C , see “Inf ion About Our E ive Officers” as set forth in Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

‘he name, age, and background of each of the directors nominated for election are contained under the caption “Election of Directors” in the Proxy Statement for our 2021 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (2021 Proxy Statement) and an
P d herein by

aformation on the audit ittee fi ial experts is ined in the 2021 Proxy Statement under the caption “Report of the Audit Committee” and is incorporated herein by reference.

aformation on the Audit C: ittee Charter is ined in the 2021 Proxy Statement under the caption “Committees of the Board of Directors and Certain Other Information conceming the Board.”

aformation with respect to the Company's Corp: Gi principles is publicly available on the Company’s Corporate Governance website at htps://www.wiley.com/e p g e.

tem 11. Executive Compensation

aformation on compensation of the directors and executive officers is contained in the 2021 Proxy S under the captions *“Di * Comp ion” and “E: ive Comp ion,” respectively, and is incorporated herein by reference.

tem 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

fi ion on the beneficial o hip reporting for the directors and executive officers is contained under the caption “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compli " within the “Beneficial Ov hip of Di and M d
ection of the 2021 Proxy S and is incorp d herein by refé . Infc ion on the beneficial hip reporting for all other shareholders that own 5% of more of the Company's Class A or Class B Common Stock is contained unde
1e caption “Voting Securities, Record Date, Principal Holders” in the 2021 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

‘he following table izes the Company s equity p ion plan infe ion as of April 30, 2021:
Number of Number of
Securities to Be Weighted Average Securities Remaining
Issued Upon Exercise Exercise Price of Available for Future
of Outstanding Options, Outstanding Options, Issuance Under Equity
Plan Category Warrants and Rights 1] Warrants and Rights Compensation Plans @
iquity compensation plans approved by shareholders e e oo L4924 & SLITO L 2357,682)
1)  This amount includes the following awards issued under the 2014 Key Employee Stock Plan:
* 140,973 shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding stock options with a weighted average exercise price of $51.17.
® 1,278,261 non-vested performance-based and other restricted stock awards. Since these awards have no exercise price, they are not included in the weighted average ise price calculati

2)  Per the terms of the 2014 Key Employee Stock Plan (Plan), a total of 6,500,000 shares shall be authorized for awards granted under the Plan, less one (1) share for every one (1) share that was subject to an option or stock appreciation righ
granted after April 30, 2014 under the 2009 Key Employee Stock Plan and 1.76 Shares for every one (1) share that was subject to an award other than an option or stock appreciation right granted after April 30, 2014 under the 2009 Key
Employee Stock Plan. Any shares that are subject to options or stock appreciation rights shall be counted against this limit as one (1) share for every one (1) share granted, and any shares that are subject to awards other than options or stocl
appreciation rights shall be counted against this limit as 1.76 Shares for every one (1) share granted. After the Effective Date of the Plan, no awards may be granted under the 2009 Key Employee Stock Plan.

hald

ull of the C ’s equity

p ion plans are app d by sh
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tem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

4

aformation on related party ions and the policies and p;
Jsk” section of the 2021 Proxy S and are i d herein by

for reviewing and approving related party transactions are contained under the caption “Transactions with Related Persons” within the “Board and Committee Oversight o

£

nformation on director independence is contained under the caption “Director Independence” within the “Board of Directors and Corporate Govemnance” section of the 2021 Proxy Statement.

tem 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

nformation required by this item is contained in the 2021 Proxy Statement under the caption “Report of the Audit C ittee” and is incorp d herein by refi
'ART IV
tem 15, Exhibits and Fi ial S Schedul

a) Documents filed as a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:
1) Financial Statements

.ee Index to C: lidated Financial S and Schedule of this Annual Report on Form 10-K in Part II Item 8,

2) Financial Statement Schedule

«ee Schedule I - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves - Years Ended April 30, 2021, 2020 and 2019 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The other schedules are omitted as they are not applicable, or the amounts involved are no
aaterial.

3) Exhibits

irticles of Incorporation and By-Laws

d Restated Certificate of Incorporation (i P d by refi to the Company’s Report on Form 10-K for the year ended April 30, 1992).

2 Certificate of Amendment of the Cectificate of Incorporation dated Ogtober 13, 1995 (incorp d by refi to the Company’s Report on Form 10-K for the year ended April 30, 1996).

3 P d by refé to the Company’s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended October 31, 1998),
4 ifica mendment of the Certificate of [ ion date: 999 (incorp d by ref to the Company's Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended October 31, 1999).
5 Amended and Restated By-Laws dated as of September 2007 (incorporated by reference to the Company's Report on Form 10-K for the year ended April 30, 2018).

astruments Defining the Rights of Security Holders, Including Indentures

.1 Description of Securities Registered under Section 12 of the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (incorp d by reft to the Company’s Report on Form 10-K/A (Amendment No. 1) for the year endec
April 30, 2020).

Aaterial Contracts
0.1
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0.13

0.14

0.15

0.16

0.17

0.18

0.20

Agree ated as of 14 betwe porated by refe to the Company’s Report or
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended July 31, 2014).

2018 Director Stock Plag (incorporated by reference to the Company's Report on Form 10-K for the year ended April 30, 2019).

2014 Executive Annual Incentive Plan (incorp d by to the Company's Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended October 31, 2014).

Amended 2014 Key Employee Stock Plag (i P d by refe to the Company’s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended October 31, 2014).

Def: Ci nsati irectors’ 2005 & After Compensation (incorporated by reference to the Report on Form 8-K, filed December 21, 2005).

Form of the Fiscal Year 2022 Executive Annual Incentive Plan.

Form of the Fiscal Year 2022 Executive Long Term Incentive Plan.

Form of the Fiscal Year 2021 Oualified Executive Annua! Incentive Plag (incorp d by refée to the Company's Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended July 31, 2020).

Form of the Fiscal Year 202) Fxecutive Long Term Incentive Plan (incorp d by refe to the Company's Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended January 31, 2021).

¢ al nit Gt gcutive Long-Term
(incorporated f to the Company's Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended January 31, 2021).

Form of the Fiscal Year 2020 Qualified E; ive Long Term [ ive Plap (incorp d by ref to the Company’s Report on Form 10-K for the year ended April 30, 2019).
Fomm of the Fiscal Year 2019 Oualified Executive Long Term Incentive Plan (incorp d by ref to the Company’s Report on Form 10-K for the year ended April 30, 2018).
P d by refe to the C 's Report on Form 10-K for the year ended April 30, 2003).
Senior Executive Non-competition and Non-Disclosure Agreement dated as of April 29, 2003 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Report on Form 10-K for the year ended April 30, 2003).
P d by refé to the Company’s Report on Form 8-K dated as of June 4, 2013).
endum to the E; 2 ree! effective 26, 2017, between John A, Krit he Company (i ated by refe to the Company’s Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended July 31

(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Apnl 30

d by ref tothe C

pany’s Report on Form 10-K for the year ended April 30, 2019).




0.21

0.22

0.24

‘ubsidiaries

1

pany (incorporated by reference to the Company's Report on Form 10-Q for the period endec

to the Company’s Report on Form 8-K filed on February 7, 2019).

ated by refe to the C ’s Report on Form 8-K filed or.

(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Report on Form 8-K filed or

P d by refé to the C. y’s Report on Form 10-Q for the

John Wiley & Sons, Inc. Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan as Amended and Restated effective as of January 1, 2014.

John Wiley & Sons, Inc. Suppl I Benefit Plan A ded and Restated as of January 1, 2014.

Deferred Compensation Plan of John Wiley & Sons, Inc. as Amended and Restated Effective as of January 1, 2016 includi d through D ber 31, 2016.

Amendment to the Deferred Compensation Plan of John Wiley & Sons, Inc. effective January 1, 2020.
Employees’ Retirement Plan of John Wiley & Sons, Inc. Amended and Restated June 30, 2013 with amendments through January 1, 2014,
Amendment to the Employees’ Retirement Plan of John Wiley & Sons, Inc. effective October 1, 2016.

A d to the Employees’ Reti Plan of John Wiley & Sons, Inc. (IRS model 436 provisions).

John Wiley & Sons, Inc. Employees’ Savings Plan Amended and Restated Effective July 1, 2013 including amendments through January 1, 2014,
Amendment to the John Wiley & Sons, Inc. Employees’ Savings Plan approved December 19, 2018.

Amendment to the John Wiley & Sons, Inc. Employees’ Savings Plan approved September 26, 2019.

Amendment to the John Wiley & Sons, inc. Employees’ Savings Plan effective January 1, 2020.

Amendment to the John Wiley & Sons, Inc. Employees’ Savings Plan effective September 1, 2020 and January 1, 2021.

List of Subsidiaries of the Company.

“onsent of Indep

d Public A ing Firm

3

Consent of KPMG LLP. _

“ertifications Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

L1*

NDEX

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
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1.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Zertifications Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

2.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
2.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
oline XBRL
OLINS* Inline XBRL 1 D (the i d does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document).
01.SCH* Inline XBRL T: y E: ion Schema D«
01.CAL* Inline XBRL T: y E: ion Calculation Linkbase D
O0L.DEF* Inline XBRL T; E ion Definition Linkbase Dx
0L.LAB* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
01.PRE* Infine XBRL T: E ion P ion Linkbase D
04 Cover Page I ive Data File (f d as inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).

Filed herewith
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tem 16. Form 10-K Summary
lot applicable.

2) Financial Statement Schedule

Schedule I
JOHN WILEY & SONS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED APRIL 30, 2021, 2020, AND 2019
(Dollars in thousands)
Balance at Cumulative Effect of Deductions
Beginning Change in Accounting Charged to From Reserves Balance at
Description * of Period Principle [ Expenses and Other® End of Period
‘ear Ended April 30, 2021 -

§ Allawance for caloo roruma (N - - - - = . $ 19642 $ — 8 36997__ 8 34440 S 22,199}
All for doubtful $ 18335 § 1776 § 6957  § 5594 $ 21,474
[Allowance for inventory ot nce s M 16,067___$ = .3 9236, __ % 11,3338 13,970]
Valuation allowance on deferred tax assets $ 23,287 $ —_ s 3,213 $ 21,643 $ 4,855
Tear Endéd April 30,2020 e 3
Allowance for sales retums ) $ 18,542 § $ 18829 $ 47729 $ 19,642
{"Aliowance for doubtful accounts 3 143077"% =5 5470 % 14427 18,335
All for i Y 1 $ 15,825 $ $ 8,699 $ 8,457 $ 16,067
LValu:mon allowance on deferred tax assets H 21179__ S =S 208§ =S 23,287]

’ear Ended April 30, 2019 .

[ Allowance for sales retums &) 3 18628 $ = s 37483 S 37565 S 18,542 |
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 10,107 $ —_ $ 5,779 § 1,099 0} 14,307
['Allowance for inventory absolescer - [ 3 18,193 $ _-_.3 7328 _$ 969 ___$ 15,825]
Valuation allowance on deferred tax assets s 88ll  § ] sl s (12317) s 21,179

1} See Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Recently Issued, and Recently Adopted Accounting Standards”™ of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Stmemenvs of this Form 10-K regardmg the adoption of ASU 2016-13
“Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326), Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments”. We adopted the new standard on May 1, 2020, with a lative effect adj to ings as of the beginning of tht
year of adoption.

2} Deductions From Reserves and Other for the years ended April 30, 2021, 2020, and 2019 include foreign exct lati dj Included in All for doubtful are wnnen off, less recoveries. lncluded in
All fori Yy \ are items d from i y. Included in Valuation all on deferred tax assets for the year ended April 30, 2019 are foreign tax credits d and val |1 needed in

with the Tax Act. Substantially all of those foreign tax credits are expected to be used during the year ended April 30, 2021 eliminating the need for that portion of our valuation allowance.
3 Allowance for sales retums represents anticipated retums net of a recovery of inventory and royalty costs. The provision is reported as a reduction of gross sales to arrive at revenue and the reserve balance is reported as an increase in Contrac
liabilities with a ding increase in [ ies, net and a reduction in Accrued royalties for the years ended April 30, 2021, 2020, and 2019.
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SIGNATURES
‘ursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Company has duly caused this report to be signed <;n its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

JOHN WILEY & SONS, INC.

(Company)

Jated: July 6, 2021 . By:/s/ Brian A. Napack

Brian A. Napack
President and Chief Executive Officer

‘ursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Company and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signatures Titles Dated
i/ Brian A, Napack President and Chief Executive Officer and July 6, 2021
‘rian A. Napack Director
3/ John A. Kritzmacher Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer July 6, 2021
ohn A Kritzmacher

\

/ Christopher F. Candi Senior Vice President, Global Corporate Controller and July 6, 2021
‘hristopher F. Canidi Chief Accounting Officer
3/ Jesse C. Wiley Chairman of the Board July 6, 2021
esse C. Wiley
3/ Mari J. Baker Director July 6, 2021
Aarni J. Baker
3/ George D. Bell Director July 6, 2021
seorge D. Bell
s/ Beth A. Bimbaum Director July 6, 2021
leth A. Bimbaum
3/ David C. Dobson Director . July 6, 2021
Javid C. Dobson
3/ Mariana Garavaglia Director July 6, 2021
Aariana Garavaglia
3/ Laurie A. Leshin Director July 6, 2021
.aurie A. Leshin
3/ Raymond W. McDantel, Jr. Director July 6, 2021

taymond W. McDaniel, Jr.

+/ William J. Pesce Director July 6, 2021
Villiam J. Pesce
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